
BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION 
MEETING AGENDA 

 
 
 
 
 

March 11-12, 2025 
 

East Helena High School, 227 Academy 
2760 Valley Dr 

East Helena, MT 
   

 
  



AGENDA 
 

  



Board of Public Education March 11-12, 2025  Page 1 
 

BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION 
MEETING AGENDA 

 
March 11-12, 2025 

East Helena High School, 227 Academy, 
2760 Valley Dr 

East Helena, MT 
 
Tuesday, March 11, 2025 
8:30 AM 

 
CALL TO ORDER 
 

A. Pledge of Allegiance 
B. Roll Call 
C. Statement of Public Participation 
D. Welcome Visitors 

    
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
This time will be provided for public comment on items not listed on the agenda. This meeting is open to the public both in 
person and electronically. For those wishing to give virtual public comment, please contact bpe@mt.gov to request the Zoom 
link for the meeting. Members of the public who have joined virtually on Zoom may “raise their hand” at the appropriate time 
to participate after being recognized by the Board Chair. Members of the public who wish to share written public comment 
with the Board members must submit written public comment to the Executive Director at bpe@mt.gov no later than two 
(2) business days before the start of the meeting. Any written public comment received after this deadline will be shared 
with the Board members after the meeting. All written public comment will be included as part of the official public record. 
 
Action may be taken on any item listed on the Board agenda. Per §2-3-103, MCA, the Board encourages public comment on 
any item prior to Board final action. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA – page #8 

(Items may be pulled from Consent Agenda upon request) 
A. January 23-24, 2025 and January 28, 2025 Meeting Minutes 
B. Financials 

    
ADOPT AGENDA 
 

 REPORTS – Dr. Tim Tharp (Items 1-6) 
    

Item 1   CHAIRPERSON REPORT – 15 Minutes, page #144 
   Dr. Tim Tharp 

• Welcome from Superintendent Dan Rispens, East Helena Public Schools 
• Welcome New Board Member 
• Committee Assignments 

      
Item 2   EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REPORT – 15 Minutes, page #146 
   McCall Flynn 
 
Item 3   STATE SUPERINTENDENT REPORT – 1 Hour, page #147 
   State Superintendent Susie Hedalen 

• Assessment Update 
• NAEP Overview 
• Federal Report 
• Accreditation Report 
• Content Standards Revision Update 
• Annual School Food Services Report 

mailto:bpe@mt.gov
mailto:bpe@mt.gov


Board of Public Education March 11-12, 2025  Page 2 
 

Item 4 COMMISSIONER OF HIGHER EDUCATION REPORT – 15 Minutes, page #209 
   Dr. Angela McLean 
 
Item 5   GOVERNOR’S OFFICE REPORT – 15 Minutes, page #210 
   Dylan Klapmeier    
    
Item 6   STUDENT REPRESENTATIVE REPORT – 15 Minutes, page #211 
   Gavin Mow 
 

 MACIE LIAISON – Julia Maxwell (Item 7) 
  
Item 7 MACIE REPORT –15 Minutes, page #212 
 Jordann Lankford Forster  
 

 CHARTER COMMITTEE – Dr. Ron Slinger (Items 8-10) 
 
Item 8  UPDATE ON COMMUNITY CHOICE SCHOOL COMMISSION – 15 Minutes, page #214 
  Trish Schreiber 
 
Item 9 ACTION ON THE BOZEMAN SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD OF TRUSTEES’ REQUEST 

FOR DISSOLUTION OF THE BOZEMAN ONLINE PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL – 10 
Minutes, page #215 

   Superintendent Casey Bertram, Bozeman School District 
 
Item 10 ACTION ON THE JEFFERSON COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD OF 

TRUSTEES’ REQUEST FOR DISSOLUTION OF THE JEFFERSON ACADEMY 
PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL – 10 Minutes, page #221 

   Superintendent Erik Wilkerson, Jefferson County School District 
 

 ACCREDITATION COMMITTEE – Madalyn Quinlan (Item 11) 
 

Item 11   JOINT ACCREDITATION PROPOSAL WORK SESSION – 1 Hour, page #225 
   Dr. Julie Murgel, OPI; Crystal Andrews, OPI; Daniel Sybrant, COGNIA 

 
*******************************************************LUNCH BREAK******************************************************* 

**Lunch will be provided for Board members** 
 

 BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION TOURS  
 
1:00 PM  EARLY LITERACY TARGETED INTERVENTION CLASSROOM TOUR 
 Eastgate Elementary School 
 4010 Gradestake St, East Helena, MT  
 
1:45 PM  EAST HELENA 227 ACADEMY MIDDLE SCHOOL TOUR 
 227 Academy, East Valley Middle School 
 400 Kalispell Ave N, East Helena, MT 
 
 2:15 PM EAST HELENA 227 ACADEMY HIGH SCHOOL TOUR AND ROUNDTABLE 

DISCUSSION 
 227 Academy, East Helena High School 
 2760 Valley Dr, East Helena, MT 
 
*******************************************TIME CERTAIN AT 3:15 PM******************************************** 
 

 LICENSURE COMMITTEE – Dr. Ron Slinger (Items 12-13) 
 
Item 12 ACTION ON INITIAL REVIEW OF BPE CASE #2025-01, REGER – 15 Minutes, page 

#227 
 Aislinn Brown 



Board of Public Education March 11-12, 2025  Page 3 
 

Item 13 ACTION ON CONTESTED CASE HEARING BPE CASE #2024-09, EVANS – 1 Hour, 
page #228 

   Aislinn Brown 
 
*****************************************************CLOSED SESSION***************************************************** 
 

 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE – Dr. Tim Tharp (Items 14-15) 
 
Item 14   DISCUSSION OF YELLOW KIDNEY SETTLEMENT – 30 Minutes, page #229 
   Aislinn Brown 
 
*******************************************************OPEN SESSION******************************************************* 
 
Item 15   ACTION ON YELLOW KIDNEY SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT – 5 Minutes, page #230 
   Dr. Tim Tharp 
 
Wednesday, March 12, 2025 
8:30 AM 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 

A. Pledge of Allegiance 
B. Roll Call 
C. Statement of Public Participation 
D. Welcome Visitors 

 
 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE – Dr. Tim Tharp (Item 16) 

 
Item 16 PRESENTATION ON ARITIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE IN EDUCATION – 30 Minutes, 

page #232 
   Dr. Jason Neiffer 
 

 MSDB LIAISON – Lisa Schmidt (Item 17) 
 
Item 17   MSDB REPORT – 30 Minutes, page #233 
   Paul Furthmyre 
 
   ACTION ITEMS: 

• Action on Out of State Travel Request 
• Action on Personnel Items 
• Action on 2nd Reading of MSDB 2025-2026 School Calendar 

 
 LICENSURE COMMITTEE – Dr. Ron Slinger (Items 18-20) 

 
Item 18 ACTION ON REGENERATED TEST REVIEW AND QUALIFYING SCORES – 15 

Minutes, page # 261 
 Crystal Andrews 
 
   ACTION ITEMS: 

• Social Studies  
• Family and Consumer Science 
• Technology Education 

 
Item 19 ACTION ON MONTANA STATE UNIVERSITY SPECIAL EDUCATION 

CERTIFICATION PROGRAM – 15 Minutes, page #268  
 Crystal Andrews  
 
 



Board of Public Education March 11-12, 2025  Page 4 
 

Item 20 REVIEW DRAFT COUNCIL FOR THE ACCREDITATION OF EDUCATOR 
PREPARATION MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING – 15 Minutes, page #272 

 Crystal Andrews 
 

 ACCREDITATION COMMITTEE – Madalyn Quinlan (Items 21-24) 
 
Item 21 ACTION ON THE CORRECTIVE NOTICE OF ADOPTION PERTAINING TO THE 

ADOPTION, AMENDMENT, AND REPEAL OF ARM, TITLE 10, CHAPTER 53, 
MATHEMATICS CONTENT STANDARDS, AND AUTHORIZE FILING OF THE NOTICE 
WITH THE SECRETARY OF STATE’S OFFICE FOR PUBLICATION IN THE 
MONTANA ADMINISTRATIVE REGISTER – 15 Minutes, page #283 

 Madalyn Quinlan 
 
Item 22 ACTION ON PROVISIONAL ACCREDITATION STATUS OPTION FOR PUBLIC 

CHARTER SCHOOLS – 15 Minutes, page #293 
 Christy Mock-Stutz, Crystal Andrews 
 
Item 23 ACTION ON THE ESTABLISHMENT OF PROCEDURES AND SCHEDULES FOR 

JOINT ACCREDITATION – 15 Minutes, page #307 
 Dr. Julie Murgel, Crystal Andrews 
 
Item 24 ACTION ON THE COGNIA JOINT ACCREDITATION MEMORANDUM OF 

UNDERSTANDING – 15 Minutes, page #313 
 Madalyn Quinlan 
 
FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS May 15-16, 2025, Great Falls, MT 
Student Representative Last Meeting & Recognition 
MACIE Update 
Action on K-12 Schools Payment Schedule 
Assessment Update 
Accreditation Update 
Action on CAEP MOU 
Federal Update 
Content Standards Revision Update 
Action on Accreditation Status of All Schools 
Executive Director Performance Evaluation 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
This time will be provided for public comment on items not listed on the agenda. This meeting is open to the public both in 
person and electronically. For those wishing to give virtual public comment, please contact bpe@mt.gov to request the Zoom 
link for the meeting. Members of the public who have joined virtually on Zoom may “raise their hand” at the appropriate time 
to participate after being recognized by the Board Chair. Members of the public who wish to share written public comment 
with the Board members must submit written public comment to the Executive Director at bpe@mt.gov no later than two 
(2) business days before the start of the meeting. Any written public comment received after this deadline will be shared 
with the Board members after the meeting. All written public comment will be included as part of the official public record. 
 
ADJOURN 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
The Montana Board of Public Education is a Professional Development Unit Provider. Attending a Board of Public Education 
Meeting either in person or via Zoom may qualify you to receive professional development units. Please complete the 
necessary information on the sign-in sheet if you are applying for professional development units.    
 
Agenda items are handled in the order listed on the approved agenda. Items may be rearranged unless listed “time certain”. 
Public comment is welcome on all items listed as “Action” and as noted at the beginning and end of each meeting. 
 
The Board of Public Education will make reasonable accommodations for known disabilities that may interfere with an 
individual’s ability to participate in the meeting. Individuals who require such accommodations should make requests to the 
Board of Public Education as soon as possible prior to the meeting start date. You may write to: Kris Stockton, PO Box 
200601, Helena MT, 59620, email at: kmstockton@mt.gov or phone at 406-444-0302. 
 

mailto:bpe@mt.gov
mailto:bpe@mt.gov
mailto:kmstockton@mt.gov


CALL TO ORDER 
 
 

A. Pledge of Allegiance  
B. Roll Call 
C. Statement of Public Participation 
D. Welcome Visitors 

 
  



CONSENT AGENDA 
 

Items may be pulled from Consent Agenda if 
requested 

 
 

A. January 23-24, 2025 and January 
28, 2025 Meeting Minutes 

B. Financials 
 

  



CONSENT AGENDA 
 
 

MINUTES 
 

  



 

Board of Public Education January 23-24, 2025  Page 1 
 

BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION 
MEETING MINUTES 

 
January 23-24, 2025 

Montana School Boards Association 
863 Great Northern Blvd 

Helena, MT 
 

 
Thursday, January 23, 2025 
8:30 AM 

 
CALL TO ORDER -00:00:15 
Chair Tharp called the meeting to order at 8:30 AM.  The Chair led the Board in the Pledge of Allegiance and Ms. 
Kris Stockton took Roll Call.  The Chair read the Statement of Public Participation and welcomed guests.  Guests 
in the audience introduced themselves to the Board. 
 
Board members: Dr. Tim Tharp, Chair; Dr. Ron Slinger, Vice Chair; Ms. Renee Rasmussen; Ms. Madalyn 
Quinlan; Ms. Jane Hamman; Ms. Lisa Schmidt; Ms. Julia Maxwell; Mr. Gavin Mow, Student Representative.  Ex 
Officio members: Dr. Angela McLean, Office of the Commissioner of Higher Education (OCHE); State 
Superintendent Susie Hedalen, Office of Public Instruction (OPI); Mr. Dylan Klapmeier, Governor’s Office. Staff: 
Ms. McCall Flynn, Executive Director; Ms. Kris Stockton, Administrative Specialist; Ms. Julie Balsam, Accounting 
Technician; Ms. Jenny Murnane Butcher, Program Officer. Guests: Superintendent Paul Furthmyre, Montana 
School for the Deaf and Blind (MSDB); Ms. Cedar Rose, OPI; Ms. Crystal Andrews, OPI; Ms. Marie Judisch, OPI; 
Ms. Carrie Kouba, OPI; Dr. Julie Murgel, OPI; Ms. Aislinn Brown, Board Legal Counsel; Mr. Brenton Craggs, 
Attorney, OPI; Ms. Trish Schreiber, Chair, Community Choice Schools Commission; Ms. Tyler Capece, OPI; Ms. 
Donell Rosenthal, OPI; Superintendent Chad Johnson, Livingston Public Schools (LPS); Superintendent Dan 
McGee, Liberty Elementary School District (LESD); Mr. David Hofer, Chair, Liberty Elementary School Board; Mr. 
Paul Wipf, Spokesperson, Liberty Elementary Public Charter School; Mr. Todd Hanson, 4 Poles Consulting; Ms. 
Emily Post, Livingston; Mr. Todd Wester, Curriculum Director, LPS; Ms. Ann Penn Cox, Director of Literacy 
Programs, LPS; Ms. Melissa Byington, Laurel Public Schools (Laurel PS); Mr. Lance Melton, Executive Director, 
Montana School Boards Association (MTSBA); Ms. Charla Wetsch, Curriculum Director, Laurel PS; 
Superintendent Matt Torix, Laurel PS; Dr. Lauren Davis, Montana State University (MSU); Dr. Leslie Rogers, 
MSU; Mr. Brad Moore, Lewistown Public Schools; Mr. Jason Sargent; Ms. Sandra Beal. 
    
PUBLIC COMMENT – 00:02:26 
No public comment. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA – 00:02:39 
 

Board member Hamman moved to adopt the Consent Agenda as presented.  Motion 
seconded by Board member Rasmussen. 
 
No discussion.  Motion passed unanimously. 

    
ADOPT AGENDA – 00:03:00 
 

Board member Quinlan moved to adopt the Agenda as presented.  Motion seconded by 
Board member Schmidt. 
 
No discussion.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 

*******************************Items are listed in the order in which they are presented****************************** 
 

 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE – Dr. Tim Tharp (Item 1) 
 

 



 

Board of Public Education January 23-24, 2025  Page 2 
 

Item 1   ELECTION OF VICE CHAIR – 00:03:17 
   McCall Flynn 
Ms. McCall Flynn noted the open position of Vice Chair and called for nominations. 
 
  Board member Rasmussen nominated Dr. Ron Slinger.  No other nominations were made. 
 
  No discussion.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 

 REPORTS – Dr. Tim Tharp (Items 2-6) 
    

Item 2   CHAIRPERSON REPORT – 00:04:21 
   Dr. Tim Tharp 
Chair Tharp reviewed meetings he has attended on behalf of the Board since the November meeting which 
include the Board’s Special Meeting on December 11th, and the MSDB Christmas program.  Chair Tharp 
announced his appointments to national committees, trainings he has given and that are upcoming for Mental 
Health training and welcomed Ms. Julia Maxwell to the Board. 
   
Item 3   EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REPORT – 00:08:16 
   McCall Flynn 
Ms. McCall Flynn thanked MTSBA staff for allowing the Board to use their facilities for the meeting.  Ms. Flynn 
gave an update on Legislative bills pertaining to the Board and detailed activities she has participated in related to 
the 2025 Legislative Session, and reviewed the agency bill Representative Bedey is carrying on behalf of the 
Board.  Ms. Flynn updated the Board on work staff has completed since the November meeting and noted two 
reports that are scheduled to be presented annually at the January meeting, but no data is yet available to report. 
Those reports include the Community Choice Schools Annual Report and the Early Literacy Screening Tools 
Report.  Ms. Flynn discussed work the Board and OPI have been engaged in related to the Fall Data report for 
the Public Charter Schools. 
 
Item 4   STATE SUPERINTENDENT REPORT – 00:17:42 
   State Superintendent Susie Hedalen 
Superintendent Hedalen introduced members of her Executive Team and gave an overview of funding requests 
the OPI has presented to the Legislature which include funding for a third year of math, additional FTE for 
improved customer service, and funding for the ACT as the high school assessment tool.  OPI staff members 
presented the following reports: 
 
Transportation Report:  Ms. Donell Rosenthal updated the Board with Fiscal Year 2024 data related to Pupil 
Transportation in Montana and discussed details from the report which included the number of certified bus 
drivers, routes, riders, and miles transported.  Also reviewed were the number of contracts to both and parents. 
Ms. Rosenthal and Superintendent Hedalen answered Board members’ questions regarding bus driver shortages. 
 
Assessment Report:  Ms. Cedar Rose provided an update on the results of the first MAST testing window and the 
status of the second MAST testing window currently in progress, challenges and successes schools have 
reported, and percentages of tests administered.  Ms. Rose answered Board members’ questions.  
 
Federal Report:  Ms. Carrie Kouba updated the Board on the High Risk Designation Timeline and the status of 
schools that receive Title 1 Part A, Part C, Part D, Part 3, Part 4, and Part 9 funds, the purpose of the funds, and 
how the distribution of funds are monitored by the OPI. Ms. Kouba and Superintendent Hedalen answered Board 
members’ questions. 
 
Accreditation Report:  Ms. Crystal Andrews presented an update of the Accreditation Platform that opened 
December 2, 2024, and reported that 100% of schools have been contacted to ensure that all districts were able 
to successfully access the system.  The next platform for Infinite Campus opens on February 3, 2025 for schools 
to add additional information or make corrections.  Five schools have completed all aspects and the OPI has 
received positive feedback about the Accreditation Data Collection process for the 2024-2025 school year.  Ms. 
Andrews reviewed training sessions the OPI has offered to districts related to the new Accreditation reporting 
process and answered Board members’ questions. Vice Chair Slinger complimented Ms. Andrews and the OPI on 
their work with the new system and for their response to suggestions from the field. 
 



 

Board of Public Education January 23-24, 2025  Page 3 
 

Content Standards Revision Update:  Ms. Marie Judisch discussed the status of the Content Standards Revisions 
underway and work both the Task Force and Negotiated Rulemaking Committee have completed as the revisions 
move through the process.  
 
Superintendent Hedalen congratulated Board member Slinger on his nomination as Vice Chair and noted the OPI 
will look into questions Board members have and bring information back at a future meeting. 
 
Item 5   GOVERNOR’S OFFICE REPORT – 01:39:48 
   Dylan Klapmeier 
Mr. Dylan Klapmeier welcomed Board member Maxwell to her first Board meeting and to Ms. Hannah Nieskens 
who will be at the March meeting.  Mr. Klapmeier gave an overview of each of their backgrounds and announced 
the Governor’s appointment of Superintendent Heather Hoyer from Great Falls Public Schools to the Board of 
Regents.  Mr. Klapmeier highlighted education bills the Governor’s Office is tracking in the Legislature, the 
Governor's Office support of Board member appointments that will be before the Senate for approval, and 
reviewed a letter from the Governor to the Board related to Public Charter Schools. 
 
Item 6  COMMISSIONER OF HIGHER EDUCATION REPORT – 01:56:44 
   Dr. Angela McLean 
Dr. McLean welcomed Board member Maxwell to the Board, congratulated newly appointed Vice Chair Slinger, 
and thanked Board member Hamman for her contributions to the Board during her tenure.  Dr. McLean noted the 
request from the Superintendent for additional funding to support a third year of math, reviewed the upcoming 
Section E hearings related to OCHE and the Montana University System, thanked all the Educator Preparation 
Programs across the state for their innovative work, and for the work of mental health programs on campuses.  
Dr. McLean encouraged all educators and parents to remind families of high school seniors to complete the Free 
Application for Federal Student Aid. 
    

 CHARTER COMMITTEE – Jane Hamman (Items 7-8) 
 
Item 7 UPDATE ON COMMUNITY CHOICE SCHOOL COMMISSION – 02:02:01 
 Trish Schreiber 
Ms. Trish Schreiber reviewed the December Commission meeting and announced that the Vice Chair and 
Treasurer of the Executive Committee will remain the same.  Chair Schreiber noted the Commission held a 
Special meeting and approved a new position for a Director of Planning for the Commission and that the hiring 
process is currently underway.  The Chair noted that oral arguments in the litigation has been delayed until 
February 28, 2025. 
 
Item 8 WORK SESSION ON THE APPROVAL AND DENIAL OF PUBLIC CHARTER 

SCHOOLS – 02:06:13 
 Jane Hamman  
Chair Tharp reviewed the process for the work session and noted that he will allow for public comment before the 
work session begins. 
 
Superintendent Dan McGee provided public comment on the application from Liberty Elementary for a Public 
Charter School. 
 
Mr. David Hofer provided public comment on the application from Liberty Elementary for a Public Charter School. 
 
Mr. Paul Wipf provided public comment on the application from Liberty Elementary for a Public Charter School. 
Mr. Todd Hanson provided public comment on the application from Liberty Elementary for a Public Charter 
School. 
 
Ms. Emily Post provided public comment on the application from Yellowstone Experience School (YES) for a 
Public Charter School. 
 
Superintendent Johnson provided public comment on the application from YES for a Public Charter School. 
 
Mr. Todd Wester provided public comment on the application from YES for a Public Charter School. 
 
Ms. Ann Penn Cox provided public comment on the application from YES for a Public Charter School. 



 

Board of Public Education January 23-24, 2025  Page 4 
 

Ms. Melissa Byington provided public comment on the application from Laurel Virtual Academy for a Public 
Charter School. 
 
Mr. Lance Melton gave public comment regarding HB 549(2023) and aspects of the law pertaining to the Public 
Charter School Act and reviewed the requirements in the law stating schools must comply with Title 20. 
 
Ms. Charla Wetsch provided public comment on the application from Laurel Virtual Academy for a Public Charter 
School. 
 
Superintendent Torix provided public comment on the application from Laurel Virtual Academy for a Public 
Charter School. 
 
Board Charter School Committee Chair Hamman stated the Board’s appreciation of the written public comment 
received over the past weeks and for those giving comment in person at the meeting.  Board Charter Committee 
Chair Hamman noted that Board members have reviewed and scored each application according to the rubric, 
and Ms. Flynn reviewed the process for the work session and what the Board will act on the following day. 
Members discussed the applications, where they score on the rubric, and if the applications have met the letter of 
the law and the intent of the Public Charter School Act. 
 

 LICENSURE COMMITTEE – Jane Hamman (Items 9-13) 
 
Item 9 INFORMATION ON PRAXIS REGENERATED TEST REVIEW AND QUALIFYING 

SCORES FOR SOCIAL STUDIES, INDUSTRIAL TECHNOLOGY, AND FAMILY AND 
CONSUMER SCIENCE – 04:39:28 

 Crystal Andrews 
Ms. Crystal Andrews reviewed the Praxis tests for Social Studies, Industrial Technology, and Family and 
Consumer Science, which are set to expire, and reviewed the new tests that will replace them.  Ms. Andrews 
highlighted what changed in the test, the review conducted by Educational Testing Services (ETS), and each 
test’s recommended qualifying score.  Ms. Andrews noted that the Praxis Review Panel agreed with the scores 
recommended by ETS with the exception of the score for Industrial Technology, and the panel has selected a 
different score for Industrial Technology.  Ms. Andrews noted that each recommendation has been sent to the 
Montana Council of Deans of Education for review and those recommendations will be brought to the Board at the 
March 2025 meeting.  Ms. Andrews answered Board members’ questions. 
 
Item 10 INFORMATION ON ANNUAL EDUCATOR LICENSURE REPORT – 04:49:50 
   Crystal Andrews 
Ms. Andrews reviewed the Annual Educator Licensure Report for the Board, reviewed changes in the report from 
last year, and answered Board members’ questions. 
 
Item 11 INFORMATION ON MONTANA STATE UNIVERSITY SPECIAL EDUCATION 

CERTIFICATION PROGRAM – 05:03:16 
   Crystal Andrews 
Ms. Crystal Andrews presented a request from MSU for the addition of a Special Education Certification Program 
in their Educator Preparation Program. Dr. Lauren Davis and Dr. Leslie Rogers presented the details of the new 
certificate program and answered Board members’ questions. 
 
Item 12 PRESENTATION ON ABCTE INTERIM REPORT FOR ALTERNATIVE 

CREDENTIALING – 05:13:22 
   Isabell Welch, ABCTE and Crystal Andrews 
Ms. Isabell Welch presented a report to the Board which reviewed enrollment in the Montana ABCTe Teacher 
Education program.  The report highlighted the endorsement areas where individuals have obtained certification, 
districts where teachers are employed, the results of a satisfaction survey completed by students and employers, 
and areas ABCTe has slated for improvement.  Ms. Welch answered Board members’ questions. 
 
Item 13 INFORMATION ON THE QUALITY EDUCATOR LOAN ASSISTANCE PROGRAM – 

05:34:43 
 Dr. Julie Murgel 
Dr. Julie Murgel reviewed the statute for the Quality Educator Loan Assistance Program and discussed the 
qualifications educators must meet to qualify for the payment and the amount educators may receive.  Dr. Murgel 



 

Board of Public Education January 23-24, 2025  Page 5 
 

noted the next application cycle will open February 5, 2025, and continue through April 15, 2025, reviewed the 
number of payments sent out in previous years, and noted that OPI hopes to improve communication to 
educators and districts in an effort to increase the number of payments.  Dr. Murgel answered Board members’ 
questions. 
 

 ACCREDITATION COMMITTEE – Madalyn Quinlan (Items 14-15) 
 
Item 14 ACTION ON THE NOTICE OF ADOPTION PERTAINING TO THE ADOPTION, 

AMENDMENT, AND REPEAL OF ARM, TITLE 10, CHAPTER 53, MATHEMATICS 
CONTENT STANDARDS, AND AUTHORIZE FILING OF THE NOTICE WITH THE 
SECRETARY OF STATE’S OFFICE FOR PUBLICATION IN THE MONTANA 
ADMINISTRATIVE REGISTER – 05:43:28 

   Madalyn Quinlan 
Ms. Flynn reviewed the new Administrative Rules format due to the conversion to a new system at the Secretary 
of State’s Office.  The new format pertains to Items 14 and 15. 
 
Board member Quinlan noted that no comments were received during the public comment period. 
 

Board member Quinlan moved to approve the Notice of Adoption, Amendment, and Repeal 
of ARM Title 10, Chapter 53, Mathematics Content Standards, and authorize filing of the 
notice with the Secretary of State’s Office for publication in the Montana Administrative 
Register.  Motion seconded by Board member Schmidt. 
 
No discussion.  Motion passed unanimously. 

 
Item 15 ACTION ON THE NOTICE OF ADOPTION PERTAINING TO THE ADOPTION AND 

REPEAL OF ARM, TITLE 10, CHAPTER 54, WORLD LANGUAGE CONTENT 
STANDARDS, AND AUTHORIZE FILING OF THE NOTICE WITH THE SECRETARY 
OF STATE’S OFFICE FOR PUBLICATION IN THE MONTANA ADMINISTRATIVE 
REGISTER – 05:49:29 

   Madalyn Quinlan 
Board member Quinlan noted that no comments were received during the public comment period. 
 

Board member Quinlan moved to approve the Notice of Adoption and Repeal of ARM Title 
10, Chapter 54, World Language Content Standards, and authorize filing of the notice with 
the Secretary of State’s Office for publication in the Montana Administrative Register.  
Motion seconded by Board member Rasmussen. 

 
  No discussion.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Ms. Flynn noted that the World Language Content Standards have been moved from Chapter 54 to Chapter 53. 
 

 LICENSURE COMMITTEE – Jane Hamman (Item 16) 
 
Item 16 ACTION ON CONTESTED CASE HEARING BPE CASE #2024-10, MAHERAS – 

06:14:39 
   Aislinn Brown 
Ms. Aislinn Brown opened the item and turned it over to Mr. Brenton Craggs.  Mr. Craggs announced that a 
stipulated agreement has been reached between the parties.  Ms. Bea Kaleva, Attorney for Mr. Maheras, noted 
that Mr. Maheras has completed the requirements of his sentence, the charges have been dropped from his 
record, and he will accept the letter of reprimand agreed to in the stipulated agreement.  Board members asked 
questions of Ms. Kaleva. 
 

Vice Chair Slinger moved to approve the stipulated agreement between the parties in BPE 
Case #2024-10, Maheras.  Motion seconded by Board member Hamman. 

 
  No discussion.  Motion passed with Board member Rasmussen dissenting. 
 
 



 

Board of Public Education January 23-24, 2025  Page 6 
 

 MSDB LIAISON – Lisa Schmidt (Item 18) 
 
Item 18   MSDB REPORT – 06:22:52 
   Paul Furthmyre 
Superintendent Furthmyre reviewed the action items on the agenda, updated the Board on the status of MSDB 
Legislative requests, and answered Board members’ questions. 
 

Board member Schmidt moved to approve the MSDB Personnel Action Items as listed in 
the agenda packet.  Motion seconded by Board member Hamman. 
 

  No discussion.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 

Board member Schmidt moved to approve the MSDB Out of State Travel Requests as 
listed in the agenda packet.  Motion seconded by Board member Quinlan. 

 
  No discussion.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 

Board member Schmidt moved to approve the Second Reading of MSDB Policies as listed 
in the agenda packet.  Motion seconded by Board member Rasmussen. 
 

  No further discussion.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 

 REPORTS – Dr. Tim Tharp (Item 17) 
 
Item 17   STUDENT REPRESENTATIVE REPORT – 06:46:49 
   Gavin Mow 
Mr. Gavin Mow updated the Board on his participation in the National Association of State Boards of Education 
Student Council and noted that the results of the Student Survey Report are not available yet due to the high 
number of responses received, but he will provide results at the March meeting.  Mr. Mow discussed the process 
for the selection of the next Student Representative to the Board and answered Board members’ questions. 
  
The Chair called for Executive Session and the Board entered Closed Session at 3:20 PM for the MSDB 
Superintendent Evaluation. 
 

 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE – Dr. Tim Tharp (Item 19) 
 
Item 19   MSDB SUPERINTENDENT EVALUATION – 06:51:02 
   Dr. Tim Tharp 
 
The Board came back to Open Session at  3:43 PM. 
 
RECESS 
The Board recessed for the day at 3:44 PM. 
 
Friday, January 24, 2025 
8:30 AM 
CALL TO ORDER – 00:00:12 
Chair Tharp called the meeting to order at 8:30 AM.  The Chair led the Board in the Pledge of Allegiance and Ms. 
Kris Stockton took Roll Call.  The Chair read the Statement of Public Participation and welcomed guests.  Deputy 
Superintendent Ron Whitmoyer, OPI, introduced himself to the Board. 
 
Board members: Dr. Tim Tharp, Chair; Dr. Ron Slinger, Vice Chair; Ms. Renee Rasmussen; Ms. Madalyn 
Quinlan; Ms. Jane Hamman; Ms. Lisa Schmidt; Ms. Julia Maxwell.  Ex Officio members: Dr. Angela McLean, 
OCHE; Deputy State Superintendent Ron Whitmoyer, OPI; Mr. Dylan Klapmeier, Governor’s Office. Staff: Ms. 
McCall Flynn, Executive Director; Ms. Kris Stockton, Administrative Specialist; Ms. Julie Balsam, Accounting 
Technician; Ms. Jenny Murnane Butcher, Program Officer. Guests: Superintendent Paul Furthmyre, MSDB; Dr. 
Julie Murgel, OPI; Ms. Krystal Smith, OPI; Ms. Jordann Lankford Forster, Chair, Montana Advisory Council on 
Indian Education (MACIE); Ms. April Grady, OPI; Mr. Todd Hanson, 4 Poles Consulting; Superintendent McGee, 



 

Board of Public Education January 23-24, 2025  Page 7 
 

LESD; Superintendent Johnson, LPS; Mr. Jason Sargent; Layer Barn; Mr. Frank Jobe; Ms. Sandra Beal; Ms. 
Aislinn Brown, Board Legal Counsel. 
 
 ******************************Items are listed in the order in which they are presented****************************** 
 

 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE – Dr. Tim Tharp (Items 20-22) 
 
Item 20 ACTION ON MSDB SUPERINTENDENT 2024-2025 – 00:03:49 
 Dr. Tim Tharp 
 
 Vice Chair Slinger moved to approve the Montana School for the Deaf and Blind 

Superintendent Contract.  Motion seconded by Board member Schmidt. 
 
 Superintendent Furthmyre thanked the Board for their support and stated he looks 

forward to continuing in his role at the MSDB. 
 
 Chair Tharp noted that an evaluation was held the previous day and that pending 

legislation, an amendment to the contract for the salary may need to be made in the future. 
 
 No further discussion.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Item 21 ACTION ON TRANSFORMATIONAL LEARNING GRANTS – 00:06:37 
   Krystal Smith 
Ms. Krystal Smith presented the Transformational Learning Grant applications and shared that the most recent 
application window closed January 13th, 2025.  Ms. Smith reviewed the qualifications for the grant and the 
applications received before answering Board members’ questions. 
   

Vice Chair Slinger moved to qualify the Transformational Learning Grant Applications as 
presented.  Motion seconded by Board member Schmidt. 
 
No discussion.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 

Ms. Smith presented the Annual Reports for the Transformational Learning Grant program and answered Board 
members’ questions. 

 
Vice Chair Slinger moved to approve the Transformational Learning Grant Annual Reports 
as presented.  Motion seconded by Board member Rasmussen. 
 
No discussion.  Motion passed unanimously. 

 
Item 22 ACTION ON ADVANCED OPPORTUNITY GRANTS  - 00:17:42 
   Krystal Smith 
Ms. Krystal Smith reviewed the purpose of and qualifications for the Advanced Opportunity Grant program before 
reviewing the applications received.   
 

Vice Chair Slinger moved to qualify the Advanced Opportunity Grant applications as 
presented.  Motion seconded by Board member Rasmussen. 

 
  No discussion.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Ms. Smith presented the Annual Reports for the Advanced Opportunity Grant program. 
 

Vice Chair Slinger moved to approve the Advanced Opportunity Grant Annual Reports as 
presented.  Motion seconded by Board member Hamman. 

 
  No discussion.  Motion passed unanimously. 
    

 MACIE LIAISON – Dr. Tim Tharp (Items 23-24) 
 



 

Board of Public Education January 23-24, 2025  Page 8 
 

Item 24   INFORMATION ON GOVERNOR’S BUDGET REQUEST – 00:39:58 
 April Grady 
Ms. April Grady reviewed the Present Law Adjustment package requested by OPI for operations related to MACIE 
and noted the request has been increased from the original proposal in the Governor’s budget. Mr. Klapmeier 
noted the request is supported by the Governor’s Office, and Ms. McCall Flynn noted that the funding will exist 
within the OPI budget if approved. Vice Chair Slinger stated his support of this request.  Ms. Grady stated that 
OPI has presented the request to the Section E Committee, but the Committee has not acted. 
 
Item 23 MACIE REPORT – 00:43:21 
 Jordann Lankford Forster 
Ms. Jordann Lankford Forster reviewed recent activities and meetings that MACIE has taken part in which 
included a meeting she attended with the ACLU regarding the Yellow Kidney lawsuit where the role of MACIE in 
Indian Education for All was explained.  Ms. Forster noted she has submitted the most recent version of the 
MACIE Goals, which has been updated on the Board website, and stated she hopes to continue the conversation 
with the Superintendent with regards to the MACIE funding structure.  Ms. Forster answered Board members’ 
questions.  
 

 CHARTER COMMITTEE – Jane Hamman (Item 25) 
 
Item 25 ACTION ON THE RESOLUTIONS TO APPROVE AND DENY PUBLIC CHARTER 

SCHOOLS – 01:03:47 
 Jane Hamman 
Chair Tharp noted that an hour has been designated for this item and that he will continue the discussion from the 
previous day regarding the application for the Liberty Charter School.   
 
  Vice Chair Slinger moved to deny the Liberty Charter Application. 
 

Board member Hamman made a substitute motion to support the Liberty Charter 
Application and hold a Special Meeting to discuss requesting an Attorney General 
Opinion.  Vice Chair Slinger did not accept the substitute motion. 

 
Board member Rasmussen made a substitute motion to accept the chart as presented 
with the blue to approve and the remainder to disapprove.  Substitute motion accepted by 
Vice Chair Slinger.  Motion seconded by Board member Maxwell. 

 
Ms. Flynn noted that the resolutions are written and must be approved in an open meeting.   

 
  Board member Rasmussen withdrew her substitute motion. 
 
Ms. Flynn displayed the Resolution to Approve for the Board and read the Resolution for the record. 
 

Vice Chair Slinger moved to approve the Resolution to Approve the five Public Charter 
School Applications.  Motion seconded by Board member Schmidt. 
 
Public comment from Mr. Todd Hanson regarding the Board’s statutory responsibilities in 
the Public Charter School Act and clarified components of the Liberty Charter School 
Application. 

 
  No further discussion.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Ms. Flynn displayed the Resolution to Deny for the Board and read the Resolution for the record. 
 

Board member Quinlan moved to approve the Resolution to Deny.  Motion seconded by 
Vice Chair Slinger. 

 
  Board member Maxwell stated her reasons for voting to approve the Resolution to Deny. 
   
  No further discussion.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 



 

Board of Public Education January 23-24, 2025  Page 9 
 

Chair Tharp noted that a Special Meeting will be held on Tuesday, January 28, 2025, and asked for Board 
member availability. 
 
After a review of Board member availability, the Chair stated that the Special Meeting would be scheduled for 
Tuesday, January 28, 2025, at 11:00 AM.  Members discussed possible changes to the Public Charter School Act 
and the role of the Board. 
 

 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE – Dr. Tim Tharp (Item 26) 
 
Item 26  RECOGNITION OF EXITING BOARD MEMBER – 01:45:38 
  Dr. Tim Tharp 
Chair Tharp recognized outgoing Board member Jane Hamman, whose term will end January 31, 2025.  The 
Chair complimented Board member Hamman on her tireless dedication and passion for her work in public 
education.  Board member Hamman expressed her gratitude and appreciation for serving on the Board and 
thanked the Board members for their service.  Board member Hamman reviewed the work of the 250th 
Commission of which she is a member.  Board members expressed their appreciation to Board member Hamman 
for her work. 
 
Ms. Flynn reviewed the March meeting which will be held on Tuesday March 11 and Wednesday March 12, 2025, 
in East Helena.   
 
Ms. Flynn reviewed the tours scheduled for the Helena Public Charter Schools. 
 
FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS – March 11-12, 2025 – East Helena, MT  
MACIE Update 
Action on MSDB School Calendar 
Action on Early Literacy Screening Tools (Odd Years) 
Assessment Update 
Federal Update 
Accreditation Report 
Annual School Food Services Report 
Review Draft CAEP MOU 
Content Standards Revision Update 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
No public comment. 
 
ADJOURN 
The meeting adjourned at 10:27 AM. 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
The Montana Board of Public Education is a Professional Development Unit Provider. Attending a Board of Public Education 
Meeting either in person or via Zoom may qualify you to receive professional development units. Please complete the 
necessary information on the sign-in sheet if you are applying for professional development units.    
 
Agenda items are handled in the order listed on the approved agenda. Items may be rearranged unless listed “time certain”. 
Public comment is welcome on all items listed as “Action” and as noted at the beginning and end of each meeting. 
 
The Board of Public Education will make reasonable accommodations for known disabilities that may interfere with an 
individual’s ability to participate in the meeting. Individuals who require such accommodations should make requests to the 
Board of Public Education as soon as possible prior to the meeting start date. You may write to: Kris Stockton, PO Box 
200601, Helena MT, 59620, email at: kmstockton@mt.gov or phone at 406-444-0302. 
 
 

mailto:kmstockton@mt.gov


 

1 
 

Public Comment 
Public Charter School Applications 

 
Laurel Virtual Academy 

1. Linda Risdon 
 
As a special education aide, I see the apathy in our schools, and many behavior issues as well.  This is in the 
general education students, and not so much in our SpEd kids. There is a lack of parental involvement with 
those students, which just carries through to their lack of interest.  These observances are noted daily.  If the 
Charter School can help with that, I believe it would be a good option. 
 

2. Rhonda Rosencranz 
 
I strongly support the Laurel Public Schools application to become a charter school.   We were part of a 
Charter school in UT.  Both my child and I felt like it was a wonderful learning environment.  

 
3. Joe Holzwarth 

Laurel, MT 
 
I am writing to you to express my opposition (at the current moment) to the Laurel Virtual Academy Charter 
School. I believe that technology has changed the way we need to evaluate teaching and how some kids can 
flourish in an online environment, but I believe there is some confusion as to how the charter school will 
operate.  I have compiled a list of questions/concerns that I have had a hard time finding an answer for:  
• Will the charter school operate outside of the local school district and local school board? If so, I am 

fully against the charter school.  I do not believe we need a separate school outside of the school district 
and that the online component should be operated within the district and follow the same criteria for 
success as our local schools.   

• What is the criteria for both students and educators that will be hired to administer the online 
academy?  Before I can support a charter school, the criteria for success needs to be evaluated.   Hiring 
teachers that do not meet the current standards and requirements that in person teachers are required to 
have would be detrimental to the potential success of online students - their standard for a thorough 
education should be the same.  

• The information gathered currently states that if successful, the charter school will be funded with a 
$400,000 grant.  Is this a one time grant?  Is it a yearly grant? Does the district need to reapply yearly or 
bi-annually to ensure funding? What grant program are the funds being pulled from? A mix of federal 
and state funding? Would it be taking a portion of local levies and applying it to the online 
academy?  What happens if the grant is no longer available?  If that funding isn't coming from a 
long term source, what is the long term plan to keep the charter school operational?  Will funds be 
pulled from other areas within the county/district to cover the deficit?   I would hate for the academy to 
get operational and have funding removed and collapse due to no long term objectives being established 
and shared with the community.   

 
While I commend the idea of developing strategies to embrace technology and build programs to help more 
students succeed in getting a formal education that cannot attend in a traditional/public setting, until more 
information is disseminated to the public to review, I cannot support the Laurel Virtual Academy at this 
time.  I also thoroughly believe that this should not be a separate entity, but should be a part of our local 
school district (that may be the case, but the information has been lacking and it has sounded like this is a 
separate entity outside the district).  We have the opportunity to develop a hybrid program within our local 
school district to allow kids to succeed in every situation. As a citizen of Laurel with children in the school 

Updated 1/24/2025



 

2 
 

district, I believe that building this hybrid is important, but it should be developed within the operation of 
the current school district and following their policies and procedures to ensure high levels of 
education.  However, there is a lot of missing information and uncertainties with the current proposed 
iteration that I cannot support. 
 
I firmly believe that the community of laurel does not need a separate charter school that operates 
separately from our local school district to meet these goals and objectives and the virtual portion should be 
incorporated into the local school district.   
 
Thank you for your time and your ability to look at developing new ways to reach kids and build their 
education - it's a commendable feat..  I look forward to learning more about this proposal and project.  If 
there needs to be any more clarification on my end, please don't hesitate to reach out to me at the below 
contact information.   
 

4. Ryane Holzwarth 
Laurel, MT 

 
I am writing this email to express my concerns with the online Charter School being proposed for Laurel 
School District.  I am opposing my views at this time due to lack of information in regards to how Laurel is 
going to sustain the program.  I also have the following questions: 
 
1. Even though I recognize the need for online teaching for students who are struggling in a classroom 

setting, has a study been conducted to see how many students this will benefit?  How has the school 
assisted these students in a classroom setting and have there been documentation presented to the 
parents?  Is the decision being based on student’s testimony alone? 

2. Is this opportunity being presented because of the decline in interest in the Public Education system due 
to lack of resources and funding for qualified teachers?  Who is going to be the oversight into the 
Charter School?  Is the school curriculum going to be in alignment with Laurel Public School? If not, 
what difference will this be compared to online home schools that are already in place? 

3. What is the long-term plan for funding with this Charter School if the grant funds no longer 
apply?  How will this look with the tax payers?  Will it be presented in another Mill Levy?  Will this 
take away from Public School funding where funding is already spread thin?  How is the public going to 
stay informed if this passes?  

 
Thank you for taking the time to look into my concerns.  As much as I am so appreciative of the concerns 
for all students and innovative ways to assist students in reaching their full potential in the education system, 
I do feel that more studies and a firm plan needs to be established within our local Public Schools before 
outside resources are looked into.  The public has the right to know the differences between Charter schools 
and Publicly funded schools and I would like to see the comparisons of successes and failures other states 
have seen with online Charter school models.  If the board can present resources to the public prior to a final 
decision along with another public comment after materials have been presented so that the public has been 
better informed.  

 
Libby Central Charter School  

1. Diane Rewerts 
 
I am writing to wholeheartedly express strong support for Libby School District's Charter School 
application.  Libby School District works diligently to meet the needs of students and will enhance student 



 

3 
 

learning and allow for more flexibility in designing programs that reach our most vulnerable students. Libby 
Schools continually work to be accountable to the public and strive for continuous improvement 

 
Liberty Elementary Charter School  

1. Sheri Larson 
Helena, MT 
 
I urge you to follow the public charter school evaluation criteria and listen to your counsel to deny the 
application for the Liberty Academy Charter School. There is no reason to approve if the school does not 
pass muster. Any areas of concern can be addressed and Liberty Academy should apply when ready to do 
the important job of educating Montana's youth. 
You are doing good work, and I thank you for it. 
 

Montana Connections Academy 
1. Diane Rewerts 

 
I am writing in strong opposition to consideration of funding for a for profit charter school.  Public dollars 
should be used for public schools and should not go to an out of state for profit entity. 

 
Yellowstone Experience School (YES) 

1. Meghaan Bauer 
Livingston, MT 

 
I am writing in support of the Yellowstone Experience School's charter application.  Our community is in 
dire need of options for students outside of the traditional classroom model or parochial school, as not all 
students excel in either of the aforementioned environments. 
 
As a prior local School Board member & parent, I do not feel that the presence of a charter school detracts 
from our existing public schools but, rather, provides students with the opportunity to attend the school that 
best aligns with their needs. 
 
Our teachers work hard to provide students with every available opportunity, and I feel that we can best 
support them by ensuring that their classroom is filled with students who benefit most from the teaching 
style being offered. I have no prior affiliation with YES, but I ask that you consider approving their 
application.   

 
2. Veronica Collins 

Livingston, MT 
 

I wanted to voice my support for the new charter school. I’ve struggled with the public school system in 
Livingston for years for my child with an IEP and would love to have other high school options. I think 
there are many families in the community that would like alternatives to the public school option based on 
conversations I’m having throughout the community. We are currently homeschooling for a couple of 
classes for one of our kids (the other is in full time attendance at the high school) and I feel that at some 
point out of a lack of options and decent support for our daughter’s learning disability, that we may go to 
full time homeschooling. It would be much better for us to have another option in the creation of this charter 
school. 

 
 



 

4 
 

3. Emily Jones 
Livingston, MT 
 
I am a Livingston resident in full support of our existing public schools. I have three children who are 
almost through the school system, and it has been everything they put into it. It has been a great experience.  
 
I believe Livingston has been a strong community because we share the schools and other great 
organizations and institutions. I would love to see the creativity and energy of Yellowstone Experience 
School support our whole district and everyone it. Add those resources to our schools instead of separating 
them and taking away from our schools. Schools can be, rightfully, slow to change, and most parents have 
ideas about new or different ways of approaching education. That can feel less than perfect, and we all want 
perfect for our children. Still, I think fracturing into different schools instead of working together may 
weaken all schools and leave some kids behind. Our schools have budget and staff issues already. How can 
we support another? 
 

4. Janet Lidow 
Livingston, MT 
 
I am writing to express my strong opposition to the proposed charter school, Yellowstone Experience 
School, in Park County. I am a resident of Livingston, MT within the Livingston Public School District 
boundary. The Livingston Public Schools offer solid educational experiences and many unique 
opportunities for their students (e.g., Farm to School and CSC programs). I have worked closely with the 
middle and high schools for the past 4 years through my nonprofit’s mental health program. I have been 
consistently impressed with the resources and supports LPS offer their students. It would be a big mistake to 
create a charter school when excellent options are already available. As a taxpayer, I want to ensure that my 
taxes support high quality education for the children in my community. That already exists. I do not think a 
charter school is needed in Park County. It will result in costing the local taxpayers more money and result 
in poorer educational outcomes for students. Please do NOT approve the Yellowstone Experience School. 
 
In general, I am opposed to charter schools because they do not have to meet the same standards that public 
schools. This is a disservice to children. Additionally, school districts in Montana are largely very small and 
have difficulty finding sufficient staff, particularly in rural regions. Adding charter schools will only 
increase the current qualified teacher shortage and fragment communities rather than improve the education 
and opportunities available to children.  
 

5. Satoshi Yamamoto 
Livingston, MT 
 
I'd like to state my opinion regarding the possibility of building a charter school within Livingston School 
District as a parent and a school employee.  
 
I personally see the point of building or organizing another school. It was only last year, 2023, that 
Washington School was closed down due to the financial reasons and the ever decreasing 
student enrollment. 
 
So why would anyone consider having another school in Livingston?? Totally nonsense.  
 
Another factor is that, due to ever increasing personal living costs - mostly renting a place to live in 
Montana, the school district has been having hard times to find and recruit teachers and staff.  



 

5 
 

 
I also know that the Livingston school district is hiring people every so often. Every now and then there is a 
shortage of bus drivers and there are many students/parents who can't sign them up.  
 
So, if the city or the state has some funds to build and organize a new school, why wouldn't they apply those 
funds to the already-existing school to improve equipment and facilities and to hire enough employees?? 
Please discuss and come up with what is right for current students, parents, and employees.  
 

6. Ahnnika Herne 
Livingston, MT 
 
I have a 9-year-old son in the public school system here in Livingston. I heard about this new school and 
was excited because I feel it is amazing. My son has had several issues since starting public school. He went 
to a Montessori school when he was younger, and we never had any problems. I feel the classrooms in 
public school are too large, there is not enough hands-on learning, and they are just not a good fit for us. 
However, we cannot afford private schools. I think this school would greatly help him overcome the 
horrible anxiety he experiences daily on the ride to school. I also think this school would reduce the 
bullying. Honestly, I would feel safer and better sending my son to Yes than to the other schools here. This 
school can do many great things for the community. I also like the real life curriculum, as an adult now I 
don't use have the stuff they teach in school.  
 

7. Yvonne Brutger 
Livingston, MT 
 
I am writing to ask that The Board NOT approve the application for the Yellowstone Experience School in 
Livingston MT. I reside in the school district and I am the founder and current Board Member of the 
Community School Collaborative (CSC), a nonprofit that has an Interagency Agreement with the Livingston 
School District. CSC provides innovative career exploration education at Sleeping Giant Middle School. In 
this capacity I have worked extensively with the school administration and students and have seen the work 
that is being done to address the educational needs of all students. I believe approving a charter school in 
Livingston will siphon off students from the current district schools, decrease funds available and 
undermine the education of the students that attend those schools. The money that would be needed to 
establish and support the YES Charter School would be better used by the Livingston School District to 
improve and expand their educational programming.  I also have a concern that students with significant 
behavioral issues or educational challenges will not be accepted at the YES. 
 

8. Joel Mowrey 
Livingston, MT 
 
I am writing in regards to the proposed charter school in Livingston (Yellowstone Experience School - 
YES). 
 
My quick response to YES is NO! 
 
Livingston Public Schools are already underfunded and cannot afford to have any existing funds shifted to 
another school of questionable value and quality. In my estimation, both the public schools and the charter 
school will mutually suffer the same fate and consequences: neither of them will have adequate funding to 
provide a quality education. 
 



 

6 
 

According to 20-6-805, MCA, "only approve charters whose promise of improved educational outcomes 
outweighs potential increased costs to state and local taxpayer." 
 
In the Livingston School district, we already have the foundation of a quality education but are 
severely limited by the lack of funding to enrich the experiences of all students.  "Promises of improved 
educational outcomes" are just that - promises.   
 
As a local citizen of Livingston and one who volunteers at the Sleeping Giant Middle School, I do not 
support the splitting of my tax dollars for a private school that does not currently exist and that appears to 
only enrich the pockets of the people forming the school. Why don't those individuals work with the local 
school and state government to pull all of our time and financial resources to support one school - the 
Livingston public school. Again, I strongly vote NO on the charter school! 
 

9. David and Alicia Herman 
Livingston, MT 
 
I am writing to express my strong support for establishing a public charter school in Livingston, Montana. 
The current state of education within our school district, particularly at the middle school level, is deeply 
concerning and fails to meet the basic educational needs of our children. 
 
The middle school has not met minimum accreditation standards for years, leaving students without 
consistent access to essential grade-level content. For instance, there is no yearlong science or history 
curriculum in place. My children, along with many others, have not had access to grade-level science 
instruction in two years.  
 
Currently, when teachers are absent, there are no substitutes available, and students are placed in the 
cafeteria under the supervision of office staff via security cameras. There is not even an adult present, let 
alone being provided any sort of meaningful instruction. Additionally, students are given an hour of 
"advisory" daily, which often amounts to little more than homework club, playing games on chromebooks 
or silent reading. This approach does not offer the structured, grade-level learning opportunities our students 
need to succeed. 
 
It is not surprising that our county now has more students being homeschooled or enrolled in private schools 
than attending public schools. This trend is a direct reflection of the district’s inability to provide a robust 
and effective education. Low academic standards, frequent teacher resignations, behavioral disruptions, and 
a lack of enrichment opportunities have left families with few viable options. 
 
While there has been some improvement in addressing behavioral issues with new administration at the 
middle school, the educational deficits remain staggering. Students who need advanced learning 
opportunities or those seeking to meet or exceed grade-level standards are particularly underserved. 
 
Parents and students deserve a choice. A public charter school could provide the structured, rigorous, and 
innovative education that so many families in our community are seeking. It would offer an alternative for 
families who have lost confidence in the current system and could serve as a catalyst for improving public 
education standards across our county. 
 
However, I must express a concern about oversight. Livingston Schools have consistently failed to meet 
minimum accreditation standards, and the local school board appears unaware of its supervisory 
responsibilities. Additionally, the board lacks educational professionals among its members. Entrusting 



 

7 
 

charter and public school oversight to local boards in Montana has exacerbated inequities in education 
quality across communities. There appears to be insufficient oversight from the Board of Public Education 
(BPE) and the Office of Public Instruction (OPI), which further compounds these issues. 
 
We urge the Board to consider the establishment of a public charter school in Livingston. Our children 
deserve access to quality education that meets minimum accreditation standards, provides opportunities to 
engage with grade-level content and high-quality instruction, and prepares them for academic and future 
success. 
 

10. Molly O’Neil 
Livingston, MT 
 
I am a resident within the Livingston Public School District. Please do NOT allow the charter school.  
 

11. Cheyenne and Joseph Mikkelsen 
Livingston, MT 
 
My husband, Joseph, and I have two young daughters and live in Livingston, MT.  I am writing to you to 
show our support of the Yellowstone Experience School. We are very excited and passionate about the 
prospect of this school coming to life. Livingston needs this for its current residents and for the growing 
population of our town. Our daughters would be students there, and I, personally, would loved to be 
involved in this type of educational system. Thank you very much for your time and consideration! 
 

12. Vicki Perry 
Livingston, MT 
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Livingston Education Foundation I would like to submit that it is 
not our intention to include the YES District, if approved, in our scope of work. 
 
The Livingston Education Foundation currently works with our community to support the Livingston 
School Districts 1&4. We partner with many organizations that are actively and innovatively teaching the 
youth in our schools. While we are in favor of looking outside the box and providing exceptional 
opportunities for the students in all of Park County, we feel that our current district and teachers are working 
to provide many of things proposed in the YES school application. 
 

13. Ashley Rogers 
Livingston, MT 
 
I wanted to share my overwhelming support for the Yellowstone Experience School (YES).  We are 
residence and home owners in Livingston. Adding a charter school and improving educational options could 
be a strong benefit to the community. 
 

14. Molly Flynn-Berman 
 

I’m writing this letter as the parent of three neurodiverse children to express my enthusiastic support for the 
establishment of the Yellowstone Experience School (YES) in Livingston. The unique educational 
opportunities this school promises to provide will be a transformative resource for families like mine and 
others in the area. 
 



 

8 
 

For neurodivergent children, finding an educational environment that fosters their individual strengths, 
accommodates their needs, and nurtures their potential can be challenging—especially in rural areas where 
specialized services are often limited. YES is poised to bridge this gap by offering an inclusive, innovative, 
and adaptable learning model tailored to diverse learners. 
 
What particularly excites me about YES is its commitment to smaller class sizes, personalized learning 
plans, and access to trained educators who understand the unique needs of neurodivergent students. These 
features are crucial for my children’s success. My children thrive in environments where there is 
understanding and flexibility—qualities that traditional schools, due to larger student populations and 
constrained resources, may struggle to provide consistently. 
 
Moreover, the school’s focus on experiential learning and social-emotional development aligns perfectly 
with the kind of support my children require to build confidence, develop critical life skills, and achieve 
academic success. This approach not only benefits neurodivergent students, but creates a learning culture 
where every child can excel. 
 
As a parent, I’ve seen the profound impact that the right educational setting can have on a child’s growth 
and well-being. All three of my children have attended schools run by Leslie Kennedy and Emily Post. The 
growth we witnessed from them while they were in the care of these dedicated educators was deeply 
transformative, both for them and for us as a family. YES, the brainchild of these women in partnership with 
Baily Goodwine, represents an opportunity to provide children with diverse learning needs a chance to 
thrive academically, socially, and emotionally. It also offers parents in our community peace of mind, 
knowing that their children are in an environment where they are valued and supported. I have the deepest 
confidence and trust in Emily, Leslie, and Baily to not only meet the expectations of our community, but to 
exceed them. 
 
I urge you to approve the establishment of the Yellowstone Experience School and support its mission to 
serve as a beacon of hope and opportunity for families in our area. This school has the potential to set a new 
standard for inclusive education in rural communities and to change the trajectory of countless lives—
including my children’s. 

 
15. Ashlie Sarah Slunaker 

Livingston, MT 
 
I am currently a reading/math intervention teacher in Livingston Public Schools.  I have many misgivings 
about the charter school that is being proposed in Livingston by Emily Post.   
 
Ms. Post was previously the director/owner of Eduactio, a private elementary school here in Livingston, 
MT.  Since its inception, we have had MANY students transfer into our school from Educatio, and ALL 
have been SIGNIFICANTLY behind their peers in not only reading by math as well.   
 
This year, specifically, I am working with a 2nd grader who did not know a SINGLE letter of the alphabet, 
yet Ms. Post assured his parents that it was not crucial that he learn to read as a 2nd grade student.  He was 
never evaluated for a learning disability, although he has been flagged by EVERY scientifically based 
academic screener we have in place at Winans school.  He has not responded to intervention and upon 
testing, was discovered to be a dyslexic student with double deficits in math and reading.  This has 
happened not only this year but also the two years previous.   
 



 

9 
 

Should Ms. Post be allowed to open a charter school, I worry that students with disabilities will be handed 
over to our public school and overtax our systems.  She has proven time and time again to not know what 
students with disabilities need or deserve in order to learn.  I am disgusted by her philosophy of letting 
students fail while simultaneously charging parents an exorbitant price for her supposed educational 
expertise.  A school with her as a leader will certainly be a failure.   
 

16. Nickie Nelson 
Livingston, MT 
 
I am writing to share my thoughts about the Yellowstone Experience School as an educator and concerned 
citizen of Livingston. I have been a teacher for 20+ years both in California and Montana. I currently work 
at Winans Primary School and teach first grade. 
 
While I do feel there is a need for an education option for families and children who don't thrive in the 
traditional school model, especially in grades 6-12, I am deeply concerned about the person who is 
spearheading this project. Emily Post (owner of Educatio) has made a name for herself as a person who has 
provided low quality education experiences that have resulted in dramatic lags in proficiency.  
 
I have am friends with two families who attended Educatio and in both cases, the students were up to 2 
years behind in grade level proficiency in math and reading skills.  I was asked to tutor one of these students 
and gave her a standardized assessment for first grade which she did not pass as a 3rd grader. This is 
alarming. Her handwriting skills, writing and math skills, and overall education appeared to have been 
lacking in all areas. 
 
In addition, it was shared with me that the staff who worked for Emily Post were also not paid the wages 
they were earned as Ms. Post had mismanaged her funds and was forced to close her doors and shut the 
school down. This left the families in her attendance in a difficult position. They had no school to attend and 
were very behind academically. 
 
The concept of Yellowstone Experience School (YES), as a "magnet" type school such as a project-based 
learning option, would benefit our community as an alternative choice for children who would prosper in a 
different academic setting. However, the management of that school and design would require a skilled and 
proven leader, which Emily Post is not.  
 
The YES charter school would pull resources and funding from Livingston's public schools that are already 
facing difficulties due to budget cuts. Opening YES would offer a subpar experience by a leader who has 
produced results that are far from desirable. I truly believe this would be a mistake and a gross misuse of 
funds that are needed by our public schools in Livingston.  
 

17. Crystal Cropper 
Livingston, MT 
 
I wanted to share our experience with Educatio last year (2023/2024) and hopefully help stress the 
importance and need for such schools in our rural community.  
 
While we only had one year to experience the wonderful services that Educatio provided, it was one of the 
best years we had had educationally in the 4 years we had lived in Montana. Being the "new kid" is not an 
easy thing for children to endure here in this rural setting, where many of the children have grown up with 
each other and have been in the same classroom together since kindergarten. Educatio provided a safe and 



 

10 
 

caring environment that is imperative for children's self esteem and healthy development. Educatio and their 
staff were also there for us during one of the most difficult years of our life. The safe and caring 
environment of this school was exactly what we needed after a very unexpected personal loss. The 
individualized education that my child recieved during this year helped tremendously and the real life 
experiences they offered the students are not something you often see offered in a public school setting (I 
am sure, due some of the restraints that are often put on public schools). The experiences these students 
were given were truly impactful. From real world experience such as learning about the city and state they 
live in, to banking, ordering and purchasing their own lunches at local restaurants, coming up with their own 
fundraising ideas and implementing them, to an amazing informational trip to Washington DC; the 
opportunities were huge and not something you typically see in a larger school setting. My child is thriving 
in the school he is in now (academically and socially) and a part of the credit for this goes to Educatio and 
its educators for setting the students up for sucess. Had the option to continue at Educatio been available this 
year, we would have done so.  
 
In my time working in education as a district testing coordinator and other various roles here in Montana I 
have noticed the rural setting in this area limits different educational opportunities, especially for grades 7-
12. This area is, unfortunately, lacking in offering different opportunities for educational needs and the 
addition of a school such as Yellowstone Experience School would greatly bridge those gaps and offer 
students and their families an additional option in their educational needs, especially if they are noticing that 
those needs are not being met with the current options in this area.  
 
Over the years educational needs of students have changed significantly and are continuing to change 
constantly and I can only see the addition of such a school as a benefit to the community for years to come.  
 

18. Tara Livermore 
Livingston, MT 
 
I am an MTSS Coordinator in Livingston and I am writing a public comment about the Yellowstone 
Experience School (YES) that is being considered as a public charter school in our district.   
 
In our district, there have been multiple privately funded schools that seem to be a promise for families of a 
more project-based approach.  These schools tend to last a very short time for whatever reason.  In the event 
of these schools shutting down, these students are pushed back into our public school system.   
 
Educatio, previously owned and operated by Emily Post, was a school that looked like a fun, exciting place 
for students to learn.  But when the school closed due to poor financial management, these students were 
sent to our public school system and it was very apparent that these students had little academics being 
taught to them. During initial screening at Winans, students from Educatio were grade levels below in 
benchmark testing in Literacy and Math. I also have friends in the community that feel like their children 
that attended Educatio were cheated out of an educational opportunity and paid for it financially and at the 
expense of their child's learning.  
 
Aside from Academics, students with challenging behaviors seem to have little to no support within our 
private schools and Educatio alike.  In the 2024-2025 academic school year, we have had three students that 
have had to leave their private school and sent our direction because the behaviors are too overwhelming for 
their schools.  They do not have the resources like we have diligently worked hard to obtain over the course 
of the last ten years.  Currently, at our school, we have many moving parts including an ABA certified 
behavior specialist working with students, contracted mental health provider services that supply our school 



 

11 
 

with therapy for students exhibiting challenging behaviors and paraeducators that are able to follow through 
with intervention plans for students with these behavioral needs. 
 
Livingston School District has a great product for students attending public school.  We provide specialist 
classes, like Library, PE, Music and Guidance.  Our special education services include specialized academic 
instruction from highly trained teachers and behavioral staff.  Within that, we provide speech, physical and 
occupational therapy.  Students who are challenged academically, but do not meet special education criteria 
have support through our MTSS intervention model.  Students in our schools, district-wide have access to 
individual behavioral therapy and family support. Parents and students have access to our partnership with 
the parent liaison program that gives resources assisting with basic family needs.  Students have access to 
nurses to assist with their healthcare needs.  Livingston's Farm to School program has given students healthy 
meals and opportunities to grow their own foods and learn about sustainability.  The list can go on.  There 
are so many great things happening in our schools that haven't always been in place and that is because we 
have worked so hard as a state, district and community to provide for our families and their children.  I 
worry that charter schools, like YES,  will pull from these resources that are already challenging to fund and 
staff. 
 

19. Kris King 
Livingston, MT 
 
I am a tax payer within the Livingston Public School District giving public comment on the application of 
the Yellowstone Experience School (YES) public charter school. I have been paying into public school 
districts for over four decades despite having no children. This does not mean that I do not feel strongly 
about the importance of a public school education. I belive that Charter Schools take funds away from 
public schools, are less acccountable and more vulnerable to individual or extreme belief agendas. The 
recent attacks on public school teacher curriculum, attempts to ban books and other extreme parental 
interference has some guard rails with school boards, teacher unions (I hope!) and public support of those 
under attack. I am not confident these guard rails would be in place at a charter school and would further 
undermine the overstretched public school budget.  
 

20. Michele Boyd 
Livingston, MT 
 
I am a resident of Livingston as well as a retired teacher from the Livingston Public School System. 
Currently, I am a youth services librarian and a tutor. I am NOT in favor of the Yellowstone Experience 
School (YES) proposal for many reasons.  A few of the key ones I will address here. 
 
1. The women who have written this proposal are not licensed educators who know what it takes to run an 

accredited school and meet the educational needs of the children of Livingston. 
 
2. They state the possibility of using Washington School as a learning site.  This school was closed because 

it needs many updates and repairs which are very expensive and the expenses were not within the school 
district budget to fix.  This building would not be suitable for K-12 students as everything in the 
building is suitable for young children, not young adults such as high school students.  There is only one 
bathroom for boys and one for girls.  Not a good situation for students  ranging in ages 5-18. 

 
3. They state over and over throughout their proposal of having a small teacher to student ratio.  That 

would not be the case with 40 K-3 students in one classroom, which isn't even legal, nor are the 
classrooms large enough for that many students.  Our public schools keep class sizes within accredited 



 

12 
 

standards plus many if not most, of our primary classrooms have a second adult in the room to assist 
with students 

 
4. They talk about contracting with the Park County Coop for special services.  Quite honestly, they need 

at least one person if not 2 on site to help with special services whether that be speech, OT, 504 plans, or 
learning disabilities. 

 
5. The proposed calendar is not conducive to consistent learning when they are constantly taking a full 

week off each month.  Young children need consistency in their learning if they are going to make gains 
in reading, writing, and math skills , which are essential for the lower elementary students. 

 
I could go on and on but I will stop here for now.  I appreciate you taking the time to read my email and 
consider my comments that the YES proposal is not in the best interest of our children and community. 
 

21. Joe Kmetz 
Livingston, MT 
 
I am a resident of Livingston with a daughter at Winans. I am writing to let you know that I am against the 
Yellowstone Experience School and I feel the board should not approve their application. I would much 
rather see our taxpayer money spent on our existing schools, teachers and resources already in place. 
 

22. Rae Stevenson 
Livingston, MT 
 
I would like to speak out against the YES charter.  I was born and raised in Livingston and its public school 
through Winans, Sleeping Giant and Park High which prepared me well for medical school and am now a 
physician in town.  I was also raised by a teacher.  I have been very concerned that our Montana teachers are 
short staffed and underpaid.  There is nothing more equalizing or liberating than access to a high quality 
public school system.   I plan to raise my boys in the Livingston Public School system.  I know how hard 
teachers work and they deserve to be well compensated and fully staffed. 
 
I really appreciate all that you do.  We need to be certain that our core public education and amazing 
teachers are well funded and well supported before investing tax dollars in another school system. 
 

23. Jennifer Sestrich 
Livingston, MT 
 
I am a resident of Livingston and reside in the Livingston school district.  My three children have attended 
the Livingston schools for the past 12 years.  I am against approval of the YES charter school as I fear this 
will detour funding for our already financially strapped school district.  In addition, I feel that without 
standards for the charter school, when these students resume into the public school system, the lack of 
standards will create even more of a discrepancy in student competency which ends up affecting all the 
students in the class when the teachers end up trying to catch students up academically or fill in gaps that 
might have been missed.  Approval of a public charter school in Livingston will have a negative effect on 
our students. 
 
 
 
 



 

13 
 

24. Piper Kmetz 
Livingston, MT 
 
I have a 7-year-old daughter who attends Winans Elementary. I am against the Charter School because I fear 
that it will take kids, funds and resources away from the public school system. We live in a small 
community and I strongly believe we need to pull TOGETHER to raise our Livingston children rather than 
divide apart. I fear that a charter school will further segregate children in this community economically as 
well. There are obviously people who are very passionate about education and children in Livingston and I 
think we would be best served to pour those passionate resources into the public school system we already 
have in operation. Together we can be stronger and I fear that divided we will just be separate, disjointed 
and not as cohesive as an educational community. I would love to see resources pooled into the existing 
educational structures we have and not re-invent the wheel to further segregate our community.  
 

25. Madeleine Doak 
Livingston, MT 
 
I am a Livingston resident within the public school district and a mother of 3 children who have been or are 
currently enrolled at Park High. 
 
I am against the YES proposal. Our district is already struggling to find teachers to fill all the necessary 
positions and funding is spread thin. Another school is not necessary for our current population and would 
add to the difficulty of finding teachers and funding for the schools that already exist in our district. We 
need to focus on improving the existing schools and increasing pay for teachers rather than diluting 
resources by adding another school. 
 

26. Rachael Jones 
Livingston, MT 
 
As a long-time Livingston resident, parent and executive director of a school-based nonprofit, I do not 
support this charter school application. 
 
The proposal lacks much-needed school support, risks diverting resources from the existing public schools 
and does not clearly show how it will achieve better outcomes without adding financial strain to taxpayers. 
That said, I believe the school district has an opportunity to explore the positive elements of the application, 
such as innovative educational approaches, and use them to enhance its own offerings and strengthen 
community relations. I hope our community can build on what’s already working in our schools while 
creating areas for improvement collaboratively. 
 
I urge the Board to prioritize strengthening our current public schools and leveraging this moment to foster 
growth and innovation within the district. 
 

27. Ben Hahn 
Livingston, MT 
 
As Dean of Students at Winans Primary School and resident within our Livingston school district, I, Ben 
Hahn, am incredibly proud to be a part of the Livingston Public School District. Our district is not just a hub 
of academic excellence but also a community that thrives on collaboration, innovation, and the unwavering 
commitment of its educators and staff. Each day, I witness the remarkable efforts of our teachers and 
support staff who create an environment where every child feels valued, supported, and encouraged to reach 



 

14 
 

their full potential. The shared dedication to student success defines our schools and propels our district 
forward. 
 
At Winans Primary School, I have had the privilege of seeing extraordinary growth in our students 
firsthand. From mastering foundational skills to developing a love for learning, our students inspire me with 
their curiosity, resilience, and enthusiasm. This growth is a direct result of the exceptional educators who 
invest time, creativity, and care into their teaching. They make learning meaningful and ensure every 
student is set up for success, creating a foundation that will serve them well throughout their academic 
journey and beyond. 
 
This commitment to excellence extends beyond our classrooms. Recently, our teachers made us proud by 
participating in a national literacy summit, where they not only learned from leading experts but also 
showcased their own innovative practices. Hosting workshops and sharing research that gained national 
attention underscores the caliber of educators we have in our district. It is moments like these that highlight 
how Livingston Public Schools not only meets but exceeds the standard for educational leadership. 
Together, we are building a brighter future for every student who walks through our doors. 
 
With all of this in mind, I am opposed to the establishment of the proposed YES Public Charter School, as 
our community simply does not require such an institution. Our current public schools are already meeting 
the needs of our students with strong academic programming and a deep understanding of the unique 
challenges and opportunities in our area. The introduction of a charter school risks diverting critical funding 
and resources from our existing schools, which have a proven track record of success. Furthermore, serious 
concerns must be raised about the ability of the YES founders to manage and sustain a school effectively, 
given their questionable track record in education. Without demonstrated competence and a clear, evidence-
based justification for this school, I believe this initiative could do more harm than good for the families and 
students in our community. 
 

28. Genevieve Reid 
Livingston, MT 
 
We are long time residents of Livingston and have had a child in the public schools here since 2006, our last 
will graduate in 2033(!!!). That’s a lot of personal experience with the Livingston public school system with 
different kids, with different needs, different teachers, superintendents, principals etc. and 99%of our 
experiences have been positive. Teachers and administrators have been creative and responsive to children’s 
needs and have worked to find solutions to institutional and individual problems.  
 
Opening a charter school here, that offers no new solutions, is a distraction of attention and a dilution of 
limited resources with no clear need or benefit. Please do not approve this application for a new school in 
our community. 
 

29. Ann Fuer 
Livingston, MT 
 
I had the good fortune of hosting the Forest School, the first iteration of the YES school, on my four acres in 
Livingston, Montana. Instead of being in a classroom, these children had formal lessons under a huge 
willow tree and by a creek. In free time, they discovered the secret lives of animals, birds, fish, insects, and 
reptiles. They fed chickens and red worms. First came their observation, then exploration, then 
understanding, then imagination and invention. There were answers and questions from the teacher. They 
learned to be considerate of their peers and the natural environment. They learned a deep understanding of 



 

15 
 

how the world of Nature works; when the wind blows how does it affect the trees and creek water. They 
could see and feel how movement generates more movement. By being still they could be watchful; 
observation leads to inventions and in this busy world we need new solutions to how we can adapt to 
changing weather patterns and earth upheavals.  
 
The currency of the future world will be in the relationships of trust between Nature and Humanity. The 
need for alternative education is a priority.  
 

30. Lindsay Counts 
Livingston, MT 
 
I am a resident of Livingston, MT. My two children attend schools within the Livingston Public Schools 
District. 
 
I do not support the implementation of YES Public Charter School at this time. Our financial resources for 
our public schools are stretched thin as it is without the addition of another school which seeks public 
funding. I would prefer we focus those resources on our current schools. 
 

31. Quinten Counts 
Livingston, MT 
 
I am a resident of Livingston, MT. My two children attend schools within the Livingston Public Schools 
District. I do not support the implementation of YES Public Charter School at this time.  
 

32. Baily Goodwine 
Livingston, MT 
 
I am writing to express my enthusiastic support for the Yellowstone Experience School (YES) and its 
mission to provide an innovative, community-centered education option for families in Livingston and the 
surrounding areas. As someone deeply connected to our community, I believe YES will address an 
important need for diverse and high-quality educational opportunities in Park County. 
 
The Yellowstone Experience School offers a unique blend of rigorous academics, experiential learning, and 
character development. Its focus on cultivating critical thinking, environmental stewardship, and a love of 
lifelong learning is perfectly aligned with the values and needs of our community. By integrating Montana’s 
rich cultural and natural heritage into its curriculum, YES will empower students to become engaged 
citizens and thoughtful leaders who are deeply rooted in their environment and history. 
 
Livingston is a vibrant community, but like many rural areas, we face challenges in meeting the diverse 
educational needs of our families. YES will complement existing public school options by providing an 
alternative model tailored to hands-on learning and individual growth. This school will not only attract and 
retain families seeking innovative education for their children but will also strengthen our local economy 
and build a foundation for a more resilient and connected community. 
 
The team behind YES is composed of passionate educators and community leaders dedicated to fostering an 
inclusive and collaborative environment. Their commitment to transparency, accountability, and high 
standards of academic excellence ensures that this school will be an asset to our region. 
 



 

16 
 

I urge the State Board of Education to approve the Yellowstone Experience School’s charter application. 
This school represents a forward-thinking approach to education that will benefit students, families, and the 
broader Livingston community for generations to come. 
 
Thank you for your time and consideration. Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions or 
require further insight into the community’s need for YES. 
 

33. Chelsey Murphy 
Livingston, MT 
 
I am a Livingston Montana resident, mother, and educator. I specialize in Early Childhood Education and 
hold a Montessori Teaching Certificate. 
 
As an educator, I fully believe that there is not one approach to education that fits the needs of all. This can 
be due to family values, beliefs, child personalities, and a proper and appropriate approach to educational 
engagement.  
 
That being said, I do not feel that YES would be beneficial to our community at this time. One of the 
leading reasons for this is due to the foundation of people putting forth this proposal. The YES model has 
been adapted from a previously failed private school that was based on a project based curriculum. I LOVE 
this idea. However, many students, including my own child, experienced a highly inappropriate approach to 
learning and communication which drastically affected their reading scores while in the facility.  
 
I have spoken to the founding board as well as the head of the project. I am also on the sounding board and 
have received the same feedback in this position.There has been no clear communication regarding their 
approach to education, curriculum, or standards they will set during the teacher hiring process. As a matter 
of fact, they are refusing to address community concerns as a whole for clarification and understanding. 
 
If this Charter School was to be approved it would affect the community, schools, and students as a whole. 
Without appropriate planning and realistic understanding of what YES would be is concerning. Especially 
when it will directly affect our schools and the employment of the teachers we already have in place for our 
students. I wonder if this proposal would be most successful as a private entity.  
 

34. Bob Westermann 
Livingston, MT 
 
Please note I am a resident, property owner, and tax payer within the boundaries of Livingston Public 
School District.  
 
I believe in the power of quality public education as currently provided by Livingston Public Schools. I have 
personally witnessed excellent academic and social growth by my two grandson’s who have attended 
Livingston Schools for 8 and 6 years respectively.  Consolidation of Livingston’s limited financial resources 
into one educational model is the BEST path forward.  Funding a second option (YES) will harm the current 
schools and launch an educational model in Livingston that has demonstrated, over time, very limited 
academic success. 
 
Please act in our children’s best interests and deny the establishment of Yellowstone Experience 
School.  Thank you for your time and consideration of my comments above. 
 



 

17 
 

35. Marshall Swearingen 
Livingston, MT 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to comment about the application for the proposed Yellowstone Experience 
School (YES) public charter school. I reside within the city of Livingston and have a six-year-old attending 
kindergarten at our public Winans Primary School.  
  
In brief, although I sympathize with the goals of the YES organizers, I'm concerned about the impact to our 
Livingston public school system and encourage you to deny this application.  
  
Prior to my son attending Winans, he went to a private Montessori daycare/school for almost five years. 
That school offers programs for children up through age 14. We were very happy with the care and 
education that our son received there, and view it as a good option if he needs a different educational 
environment in the future. The proposed YES curriculum seems to have a lot of overlap with Montessori in 
terms of project-based learning and giving individual attention and flexibility to students who may struggle 
with traditional curriculum. The Montessori school tuition was sometimes a challenge for us, although in the 
last couple years they have worked to connect parents with the financial support services available through 
the state.  
  
Livingston has multiple Montessori schools and also the Educatio project-based private school. These are 
schools that have been established and maintained with private funding and tuition. I think it's great that we 
have these options for our kids. But I'm opposed to using our limited tax dollars to help fund a private 
charter school.  
  
My son at Winans is already feeling the effects of the budget crunch in our school district. As you may 
know, kindergarten until recently had its own space at Washington school. Because of deferred maintenance 
and the fixed costs of operating in multiple locations (this is my understanding of the issue), Washington 
closed and kindergarten is now packed into Winans along with first and second grade. If we're struggling to 
fund our basic school infrastructure, how can we add and support an additional charter school within the 
district? This seems like a basic and obvious rationale for denying this application.  
  
Our highest priority should be ensuring that our Livingston public schools have the resources they need to 
provide quality education to all our kids. Thank you for your consideration. 
 

36. Jared White 
Livingston, MT 
 
I’m writing to share my concerns about the proposed charter school, Yellowstone Experience School (YES), 
in Livingston. As someone who is currently raising a 4-year old and 6-year old with the help of our public 
schools, I worry about what this might mean for our community. 
 
Our public schools are already stretched thin, and funding YES would take even more resources away. 
Public schools rely on stable budgets to keep good teachers, run important programs, and give every kid a 
fair shot. If funding is pulled, it could hurt the schools most families in our community count on. 
 
There’s also the issue of accountability. YES wouldn’t answer to our local school board, which means it 
wouldn’t reflect the needs of Livingston families. That’s a big deal for a small town like ours. 
 



 

18 
 

Lastly, charter schools like YES can create divisions. While it might attract some families, it risks leaving 
behind kids who need the most support, making our schools more unequal. 
 
Instead of starting something new, I believe we should focus on making the schools we already have 
stronger. I ask the Board to reject this application and keep public education a priority for all our kids. 
Thank you for your time. 

 
37. Kim Pfost 

Livingston, MT 
 
Please note I am a resident,  property owner, and tax payer within the boundaries of Livingston Public 
School District. 
  
I believe in the power of quality public education as currently provided by Livingston Public Schools. I have 
personally witnessed excellent academic and social growth by the many children of Livingston I associate 
with.  Consolidation of Livingston’s limited financial resources into one educational model is the BEST 
path forward.  Funding a second option (YES) will harm the current schools and launch an educational 
model in Livingston that has demonstrated, over time, very limited academic success. Please act in our 
children’s best interests and deny the establishment of Yellowstone Experience School.  
 

38. Brogan Ballard 
Livingston, MT 
 
I am a Livingston resident, a father, and a Special Education teacher in Livingston.  Thank you all for your 
hard work and dedication to education in Montana. I am reaching out to please urge you to vote no on the 
Yellowstone Experience School charter school application. 
 
The YES Charter school is not in a place to start a public charter school at this time. Their application is 
incomplete and it would be unreasonable to expect them to be ready to open with their current staffing and 
location challenges. 
 
The Livingston school board voted against the charter school because they do not see a viable way for the 
school to run successfully and feel it would take funding and resources away from the Livingston School 
District. 
 
Lastly, this school would put additional, non-required, financial burdens on the residents of Livingston 
through additional levies/resource distribution. 
 
It seems that all approved Charter schools in Montana have been under the umbrella of their home district 
and has ENHANCED the home district. The Yellowstone Experience School does not enhance our current 
district, students, or community. Thanks for all your hard work. 
 

39. Shanna Webb 
Livingston, MT 

 
As a member of the Livingston community, local scout leader, and parent of a third grader at the public 
school, I would like to express my opinion against the formation of a charter school. I believe this to be an 
unnecessary addition to Livingston. Currently there are several alternative elementary schools in Park 
County available to our residents.  



 

19 
 

 
A charter school would take more from our children than it would contribute. In addition to much needed tax 
money being syphoned away from the public school our special services staff and support staff would be 
stretched to the limits of their patience. 
 
I think it would be shortsighted not to consider the quality of life of our skillful and trained professionals. 
Many of our teachers have their own children in the public system. Can we afford to lose any of these 
people?  
  
Instead I would encourage parents who have a strong desire to ensure a quality education to become a bigger 
part of our parent and school community. It is likely they are unaware of what is available to them and their 
child. 
 

40. KJ and Barth Schretenthaler 
Livingston, MT 
 
We are long-time residents of Livingston, MT and have a 17 y.o. son in the public school system here.  We 
are writing this email to express our opposition to the MT BOE approving the pending application from 
YES to become a public charter school in Livingston.   We do not feel there is a need for this in our 
community, as several of their proposed programs are already offered in our school district.  They are also 
proposing more administrative positions than teachers, creating added financial burden.  Our public schools 
are not perfect, but they serve EVERYONE, including those with special needs. Our family and many 
others in our community are very pleased with Livingston Public Schools' teachers, administration and 
curriculum and don't want to see them lose students or funding by approving this poorly-planned public 
charter school. Our schools are already underfunded, which has worsened with decreased enrollment #'s 
during the pandemic.  Therefore, we strongly encourage you to deny this application.  
 

41. Julie Williams 
Livingston, MT 
 
I want to register my concerns about the Yellowstone Experience School (YES) charter application. I am 
writing as a resident of Park County as well as a parent to express my concerns with this charter application 
and the inaccuracies within it.  
 
First, the charter application claims that the local school district building (Washington elementary) they 
hope to use was shut down due to low enrollment on the district. This is a flat out lie. The building was shut 
down due to much needed repairs that the school district could not fund with the current budget. There is a 
high probability this building will need to be repaired and reopened in the next few years due to the increase 
in births in Park county from 2021-today. The classrooms that were in Washington are all currently housed 
in Winans elementary, where they are stretched to capacity. The application was disingenuous in their 
phrasing around this building, and I feel it’s important that the state know the full details of the situation.  
 
Second, Emily Post, the person spearheading the efforts to get YES going, is the former head of the failed 
Educatio private school in town. This school could not retain qualified staff and failed the students who 
were enrolled, many of whom were far behind their public school peers by the time the school failed 
completely. I believe in having options as a parent. But I do not believe that public funds should go to 
support a model that has already been tested and failed miserably. If the model that YES proposes was 
working well, it would not have left students unprepared and parents reeling with the collapse of Educatio.   
 



 

20 
 

Third, as a lifelong educator and someone who currently works with people with disabilities, the lack of 
plan for students with disabilities is appalling. This is not something to be pieced together as an 
afterthought, unless you consider students with disabilities as second class citizens who aren’t your concern. 
My concern is that is what YES is doing due to their lack of planning and care on this matter.  
 
My child recently started school in Livingston and the local schools are doing amazing things with a budget 
that does not meet their needs. The thought of taking away money from my child’s education to fund 
something that has already been tried and failed makes me nauseous. The impact of YES becoming “a 
district within a district” as they have proposed would have a negative effect on this community.  
 
Please listen to the people living here who will be impacted, and vote no on this charter application. Thank 
you for your time and consideration.  
 

42. Shayla McKnight 
Livingston, MT 
 
My name is Shayla McKnight and I live in Livingston, MT. I am writing to express my concerns regarding 
the proposed Yellowstone Experience School (YES) and its application for charter status. While I 
understand that the intention behind YES is to offer an alternative educational model, I believe there are 
several issues that should be carefully considered before moving forward with this proposal. 
 
1. Questionable Educational Approach: YES emphasizes a mixed-methods pedagogy that includes 

Montessori, Project-Based Learning, and other alternative teaching strategies. While these methods can 
be effective for some students, there is limited evidence supporting their long-term success in public 
education, especially for a large and diverse group of students ranging from kindergarten to 12th grade. 
A one-size-fits-all approach to education may not adequately address the varied learning needs and 
academic challenges of all students, particularly those who struggle with untraditional teaching methods. 

2. Impact on Traditional Public Schools: With the YES School proposing to attract students away from 
existing public schools, the potential for decreased enrollment in local districts is concerning. The loss 
of students could exacerbate funding issues already facing traditional public schools in Park County, 
reducing the resources available for students who remain in those schools. This could lead to a further 
division in education quality between students in public and charter schools. 

3. Limited Accountability and Oversight: The success of a school with such an unconventional structure 
is highly dependent on the quality and effectiveness of its teachers. However, there is little information 
on how YES will ensure accountability for teaching performance, student outcomes, or curriculum 
delivery. With a curriculum that involves mixed-age groups and varied educational approaches, it is 
unclear how student progress will be effectively measured or maintained, particularly for those who may 
struggle in an individualized, less structured environment. 

4. Potential Equity Concerns: While YES’s mission includes promoting equity by providing an 
alternative for students whose needs may not be met in traditional schools, there is no clear plan for 
ensuring that the school remains accessible to all students, especially those from underserved 
communities. The enrollment model, which begins with a small number of students and gradually 
increases, may also limit access for some families, particularly those in lower-income areas who may 
not be able to take advantage of a year-round, 8 a.m. to 5 p.m. schedule. 

5. Financial Sustainability: The proposal mentions the expansion of public funding for YES, but it 
remains unclear how the school will manage such significant growth while maintaining high standards 
of education and ensuring financial sustainability. The projected increase in student numbers from 130 
to 390 over five years raises concerns about whether YES can truly provide the individualized education 



 

21 
 

it promises, or whether the focus may shift to increasing enrollment numbers rather than prioritizing 
educational quality. 

 
In light of these concerns, I urge the Board to take a cautious approach in reviewing the YES School’s 
application. While the desire for alternative educational options is understandable, it is crucial that any new 
school adheres to standards that ensure both quality education and equitable access for all students. I believe 
more comprehensive oversight and clearer plans for accountability are needed before approving this charter 
school. 
 

43. Heather Jurvakainen 
Livingston, MT 
 
This letter is in opposition to the proposed YES charter school in Livingston, Montana. Our public school 
district is already strapped financially, and this charter school would only take more money and needed 
resources away, further stressing our system. Also, Livingston school district is known for its high number 
of students on free and reduced lunches. Charter schools are known for cherry-picking students, while 
skirting laws and regulations. Our community has no need for this charter program and we need to stay 
focused on improving our current public school district. 
 
I have been a Park County resident for nearly 20 years with 2 children in the public school system. There 
are other options in our area for parents who would like an alternative. Thank you for your time. 
 

44. Meredith Herzog 
 
I am writing to express my strong opposition to the proposed creation of a charter school that would operate 
in the Livingston Public School District. As a resident of Montana, I am deeply concerned about the impact 
this decision would have on our already limited public education system, particularly in a small district with 
only four schools.  
 
Livingston Public Schools play the primary role in fostering community cohesion and providing equitable 
access to education for all students. Diverting public funding to a charter school threatens the stability and 
resources of these schools, which are already operating under limited budgets. Charter schools draw funding 
directly from public school districts, leaving fewer resources for existing schools to meet the needs of their 
students. This is especially concerning in a small district, where every dollar is critical for maintaining staff, 
programs, and facilities.  
 
Charter schools often lack the infrastructure and resources necessary to adequately support students who are 
behind academically, despite frequently attracting this population. Unlike public schools, which are 
equipped with specialized staff such as interventionists, special education teachers, and counselors, many 
charter schools allocate resources toward marketing and administrative costs rather than robust student 
support services. Charter schools often do not employ licensed and credentialed teachers. Additionally, 
charter schools may struggle to provide individualized education plans (IEPs) or implement evidence-based 
interventions for students requiring additional assistance. This results in a situation where students who 
most need academic support are underserved, leaving them further behind and exacerbating existing 
educational inequities.  
 
The creation of a charter school also poses significant questions about transparency and accountability. 
Public schools are subject to oversight by elected school boards and adhere to state education standards. 



 

22 
 

Charter schools, however, often lack the same level of accountability, raising concerns about the equitable 
use of taxpayer funds and the quality of education being delivered.  
 
Rather than diverting resources and attention to a new charter school, I urge the Board to focus on 
strengthening our existing public schools. Our efforts should be directed toward supporting these schools 
through increased funding, expanded programs, and enhanced professional development for educators—not 
fragmenting our community and educational system further.  
 
I respectfully request that the Montana Board of Public Education reject the proposal to create a charter 
school. It is imperative that we prioritize the well-being and success of all students in our community by 
supporting the existing schools and infrastructure.  
 
Thank you for your time and attention to this matter. I trust that you will carefully consider the potential 
consequences of this decision and act in the best interest of our students and schools.  
 

General Comments 
1. Mary Stegner Hall 

 
I'm not sure why Montana tax payers should be expected to pay for other parents' choice to send their 
children to private charter schools. Our granddaughter who lived in Arizona attended a charter school in 
Maricopa arizona.... 



Montana Board of Education 

12-20-24 

Greetings to all: 

 I am writing to urge you to support the Liberty Academy Charter School Application. 

I have been a neighbor, friend, and done business with many of the colonies most all of my 
life. I know them very well and appreciate their unique lifestyle and educational needs.  

 The charter school will be a good fit for them. It can be tailored to their needs and 
lifestyle. They are very committed to education and a life skills approach to life. Their 
agrarian lifestyle along with great business skills will help keep them competitive.  

 I have always admired their ability to memorize from a very young age. This serves 
them very well as they grow up and move into leadership positions. This model serves them 
well in their ability to compete and survive in a very competitive environment. Their 
success helps provide a more stable property tax base in our rural counties. This is very 
important in our rural less populated counties.  

 I urge you to give them your approval and support.  

                                                                                                 Bruce “Butch” Gillespie 

               Senate District 9 

 



To: Montana Board of Public Education  
From: Senator Josh Kassmier  
Topic Liberty Elementary Public Charter School  
Date 12/8/2024 
 
Dear Montana Board of Pubic Education  
 
 I am writing to express my enthusiastic support for Liberty Elementary 
School's application for charter status. As a dedicated advocate for 
educational excellence in our community, I have witnessed firsthand the 
remarkable impact Liberty Elementary has on its students and the 
surrounding neighborhood. 
        Liberty Elementary stands out as a beacon of academic achievement and 
innovation. The school's commitment to fostering a nurturing and inclusive 
environment for all students is evident in its diverse curriculum, dedicated 
staff. By emphasizing individualized learning and critical thinking, the school 
provides its students with the tools necessary to thrive in an increasingly 
complex world. The implementation of project-based learning initiatives has 
not only enhanced student engagement but also cultivated essential life skills, 
such as collaboration, creativity, and problem-solving. 
         The curriculum at Liberty Elementary provides their students unique 
opportunities to explore their interests and develop their talents. These 
programs not only enhance academic performance but also encourage 
students to pursue their passions, ultimately contributing to well-rounded, 
confident individuals prepared for future challenges. 
          As Liberty Elementary seeks to achieve charter status, I am confident 
that the school will continue to uphold its mission of educational excellence 
and community service. Charter status will enable Liberty to expand its 
programs, attract dedicated educators, and further enhance the learning 
experiences of its students. 
        In conclusion, I wholeheartedly endorse Liberty Elementary School's 
application for charter status. The school’s unwavering commitment to 
academic achievement and holistic student development makes it an 
invaluable asset to our community. I look forward to seeing the positive 
impact that charter status will bring to Liberty Elementary and the students it 
serves. 
 



Sincerely, 
Senator Josh Kassmier 
 



 ATTORNEYS: ADMINISTRATOR: Phone: 406-761-3000 
Lindsay M. Morse Scott A. Rubino Fax: 406-453-2313 
Ron A. Nelson   
Amber L. Stenson   

   
114 3rd Street South, Great Falls, MT 59401 

2020 Charlotte St., Ste 8, Bozeman, MT 59718 
 
 

 

December 23, 2024 

Via E-Mail 

Montana Board of Public Education 
46 North Last Chance Gulch 
Helena, MT 59601 

Re: Liberty Elementary School District No. 10 - Liberty Academy Charter School 
Our File No. 240253 

Dear Members of the Montana Board of Public Education: 

I have been asked to represent Liberty Elementary School District No. 10 (“Liberty 
School District”) with respect to its pending Charter School Application for Liberty 
Academy Charter School (“Liberty Academy”).  It is my understanding that Chair Tharp 
raised some issues and concerns regarding jurisdictional authority of the Board of 
Public Education with respect to the Liberty Academy application at the December 11th 
meeting. 

Chair Tharp’s comments appear to raise two fundamental issues regarding the scope of 
HB 549 and the Board’s authority with respect to the specifics of the Liberty Academy 
application: 

1. May a Charter School enroll students who reside outside of the Governing 
Board District. 

2. May a Charter School enroll and provide instructional services (on-site 
and web based or remotely) to students at physical locations using 
facilities located both within and outside the Governing District? 

As stated below, we do not believe there is any statutory impediment to the Board’s 
authority to grant the Liberty Application.  The Board’s approval of Liberty’s application 
is consistent with the terms and provisions and does not violate HB 549 or any other 
statutory provision.  

On its face HB549 addresses the question regarding enrollment of students in the 
Liberty Academy Charter School who reside outside the Governing District.  Section 
8(1)(a) requires a Charter School to admit “any student residing in the state.”  
Consistent with this language and correct understanding of HB549, at least three (3) 
charter school applications approved by the Board in 2023 clearly state in their 
applications regarding student recruitment and enrollment that each school intends to 



Board of Public Education 
December 30, 2024 
Page 2 

 

comply with that provision.  As stated in the 2024 Liberty Academy proposal, it is 
likewise the intent of the applicant to comply with State Law as outlined and articulated 
in HB 549 by providing enrollment to students both from within and outside the Liberty 
District who are residents of the State of Montana. 

In addition to this initial citation, there are also additional sections and language 
contained in HB 549 which support the Legislature’s intent to provide statewide open 
enrollment opportunities for students.  HB549 clearly states and contemplates that all 
charter school student enrollment would include students residing outside school 
districts of residence.  In particular, the following provisions of HB549 cannot be read to 
limit Charter School enrollment to only those students residing in the Governing District.  
Rather, these provisions clearly contemplate provision of educational and instructional 
programing to students anywhere in Montana and residing outside the Governing 
District’s. 

Section. 8(2)(a) states that the "public charter schools shall give enrollment preference 
to students who are residents of the located school district".  If the Legislature did not 
expect or intend for student enrollment in charter school programs to include both “in 
district” and "out-of-district" students, Section 8(2)(a) has no meaning or significance.  
Why would there be any need for a local district student enrollment preference all 
students must be from the Governing District?  As a general principle of statutory 
construction, each provision must be interpreted to have meaning.  Multi-District student 
enrollment is the only interpretation that gives Section 8(2)(a) any meaning.   

Section 12.(3) also elaborates on the expectation that students residing outside the 
district of attendance would be recognized differently than the students of residence for 
purposes of calculating funding wherein it states "students attending a public charter 
school governed by a local school board who are NOT residents of the located school 
district generate funding in the same manner as other nonresident students attending a 
school of the located district under an out-of-district attendance agreement pursuant to 
Title 20 chapter 5, part 3". 

In addition to the citations above taken directly from the legislation, it would also appear 
that by and through their previous actions in approving three (3) specific applications 
submitted during the 2023 cycle that the Board of Public Education has already 
addressed and resolved this first concern when it sanctioned similar student recruitment 
and enrollment structures to those being proposed by both the Liberty Academy and the 
Montana Connections Academy (2024). Excerpts taken directly from the applications 
submitted in 2023 and 2024 include the following. 

Bozeman Charter School (2023) 

3. Describe plans and timelines for student recruitment and enrollment, including 
lottery procedures. 



Board of Public Education 
December 30, 2024 
Page 3 

 

“The BoCS is currently operational and available to students in-district as well as 
out-of-district”. 

Kalispell Flathead -PACE (2023) 

“Recruitment for the 2024-25 school year takes place during the high school 
registration process. This process begins in January of 2024, when current 
students at Flathead High School learn about course offerings and pathways. 
The Flathead PACE Academy Registration Handbook information will be 
provided alongside the traditional Flathead High School Registration Handbook 
information. We offer recruitment opportunities for students outside of FHS”. 

Missoula CONNECT Academy (2023) 

“The Application Process The annual application process will be open each 
spring for Montana residents in grades 6-12”.  

Montana Connections Academy-Park City (2024) 

“2. Identify the targeted student population and the community the public charter 
school proposes to serve. 2. Targeted Student Population & Community Targeted 
Student Population. MTCA will serve students throughout the state who are 
eligible to enroll under Montana law, including general education students, 
students with learning or cognitive disabilities, at-risk students, accelerated 
students, and English learners. It is anticipated that the school may also serve 
highly mobile students and will help these students be successful during the time 
period that a full-time online school is needed. MTCA will provide an alternative 
learning environment for students who are not thriving in traditional school 
settings.” 

It is important to note that each of the above applicants, whose charter school proposals 
were either approved by the MT BPE in 2023 for implementation during the 2024-2025 
school year, or those cited herein who have submitted applications during the current 
proposal cycle (2025-2026), clearly indicate their intent to provide opportunities for open 
enrollment to students from outside the Governing District. 

As to Chair Tharp’s second concern, review of the applicable Montana Statutes which 
guide, govern and inform the process, includes reference to a statutory mechanism 
outlined in MCA 20-3-363 wherein educational services may be provided to these 
resident students by an adjacent school district though the use of a Multidistrict 
Agreement. Under this legal structure, a located school district who is responsible for 
providing educational services to students who are recognized residents of the district, 
may receive direct educational services that are not being provided by the district of 
residence, but rather through agreement by a district of attendance. Liberty Elementary 
School District has in the past provided services to students residing outside the Liberty 
District using this process. Beginning in 2023, due to the introduction of very 



Board of Public Education 
December 30, 2024 
Page 4 

 

complicated and confusing legislative changes in the Multidistrict Agreement Structure 
(HB 214), Liberty District has, despite repeated attempts, been unable to reach 
agreement with one or more resident school districts for the continued operation of 
these sites. 

(MCA 20-3-363) This statute presupposes using a Multidistrict Agreement structure 
reached between two or more districts to allow for example, school district "B" to 
provide educational services to students who have been attending classes at a 
“SCHOOL” located within school district "A's" boundaries. Through this agreement, 
each participating district recognizes the delivery of services at a “SCHOOL” site 
currently maintained by the district of residence. Authorization is provided through the 
Multidistrict Agreement for educational services to continue at the resident school 
location. 

Unfortunately, five (5) of the colony communities identified in the Liberty Academy 
Charter School Application as likely to seek enrollment for their children in the Liberty 
Academy, have been left without reasonable and viable access to onsite educational 
services, although they have a history of nearly three decades of continuous onsite 
educational services. In some instances, these colony communities have been without 
access to a local public education system for nearly two years for their children due to 
the failure of their district of residence to either reach agreement with an adjacent 
School District for the continued delivery of onsite educational services, or to agree to 
meet their primary obligations to provide culturally rooted, ELL or ESL focused onsite 
personalized educational services at each of the colony locations. Having no viable 
alternative for the receipt of appropriate educational services, each of these colony 
communities has reluctantly been compelled to implement the equivalent of a private or 
de facto homeschool structure to ensure that their children continue to receive some 
semblance of a structured educational experience.   

It appears that the underlying question to be answered remains, what is the distinction 
between what is provided for in statute, and what is being proposed by the Liberty 
Academy Charter School in its application for the operation of off-site remotely located 
instructional facilities? First and foremost, the applicant is not intending to operate any 
additional “schools” as part of its operational plan as defined in Montana Code 
Annotated (MCA 20-6-501), but rather to incorporate the use of appropriate “remote 
instructional facilities” for the delivery of remote classroom instruction (MCA 20-7-118) to 
students enrolled in the Liberty School District and receiving instructional programing at 
any one of the facilities which make up the proposed Liberty Academy Charter School 
campus. 

It is the position of the Liberty Elementary School District Board of Trustees that MCA 
20-3-363 is NOT applicable to the operational structure outlined in the Liberty Academy 
Charter School application as, again, it is not the intent of the Academy to incorporate 
the use of recognized SCHOOLS which are geographically located within another 
school district, as schools within the charter program, but rather, and most importantly, 
the distinction is that the Liberty Academy Charter School will offer students enrolled in 



Board of Public Education 
December 30, 2024 
Page 5 

 

Liberty District an opportunity to attend classes and receive a combination of both on-
site and web-based instruction offered through the Liberty Academy, at any one of the 
remote instructional facilities managed as part of the Liberty Academy Campus. Please 
Note: the remote instructional facilities identified by and through the Liberty Academy 
Charter School structure are owned and operated entirely by the individual Hutterite 
colonies at no expense to the public (state, county or located school district) and 
therefore are not schools as identified and defined in MCA 20-6-501. 

Furthermore, the Liberty district's assertion that these sites are intended solely to be 
recognized as remote facilities for instructional purposes within the district as opposed 
to "schools" located outside the District's boundaries is further supported by the 
language contained in MCA 20-6-501 which identifies the definition of various schools, 
and states, "as used in this title, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, the term 
"school" means an institution for the teaching of children that is established and 
maintained under the laws of the state of Montana at public expense". It logically 
follows that as no public money was used in the building, operation or the maintenance 
or of these remote instructional facilities, that they are NOT subject to the definition of a 
school and are therefore not subject to any authority or control by a public school district 
wherein they may be geographically located. As such, there appears to be no statutory 
prohibition on identifying them as remote instructional facilities recognized as part of the 
Liberty Academy campus, nor as incorporating them into the operational structure of the 
Liberty Academy Charter School.  In conclusion, the inference to MCA 20-3-363 by 
Board member Tharp is NOT applicable to the Liberty Academy Charter School student 
enrollment and operational plan as the district will NOT be providing student instruction 
at "schools" located outside their district boundaries, but rather as indicated in the 
application, will be utilizing the availability of remotely located instructional facilities as 
an extension of the existing Liberty District and Liberty Academy Campus. 

This interpretation and application of the appropriate statutes is further supported by the 
very language outlined Section 11(5)(f) of HB 549 which states the following: 

"The governing board of a public charter school district has all the powers necessary for 
carrying out the terms of its charter contract, including the following powers: 

(f) to acquire real property, for use as its facility or facilities, from public or private 
sources;" 

Additional MCA Citations which are potentially applicable to the discussion of what state 
laws authorize student instruction at "remote" classroom locations include the following: 

MCA 20-7-118. Remote instruction. (1) A school district may provide remote 
instruction, including the provision of services through electronic means. A district shall 
comply with any rules adopted by the board of public education that specify standards 
for remote instruction. The provision of remote instruction by a district is limited to 
pupils: 



Board of Public Education 
December 30, 2024 
Page 6 

 

(a) meeting the residency requirements for that district as provided in 1-1-215; 

(b) living in the district and eligible for educational services under the Individuals With 
Disabilities Education Act or under 29 U.S.C. 794; or 

(c) seeking remote instruction in the nearest district when the pupil's district of residence 
does not provide remote or in-person instruction in an equivalent course (Insert - 
Culturally rooted ELL or ESL Instruction) . A course is not equivalent if the course does 
not provide the same level of advantage on successful completion, including but not 
limited to dual credit, advanced placement, and career certification. 

(2) A school of a district providing remote instruction shall provide remote 
instruction to an out-of-district pupil under subsection (1)(c) unless, because of 
class size restrictions, the accreditation of the school would be adversely 
impacted by providing remote instruction to the pupil. 

(3) The superintendent of public instruction shall adopt rules for the administration and 
enforcement of this section. 

Charter schools represent an intentional transition to a different delivery form for 
educational services.  As with any new paradigm, there are questions that must be 
analyzed and answered as we progress.  The issues raised are worthy of consideration 
and need to be understood in the context of this transition.   Nonetheless, the 
Legislature has considered and addressed both issues.  The Board clearly has authority 
to grant Liberty Academy’s application.  The issues raised do not preclude or undercut 
Liberty’s application in any way. 

Front Range Law, PLLC 

By __________________________ 
 Ron A. Nelson 

c.  Client 
 Dylan Klapmeier 
 Todd Hanson 





Board of Public Education Members 
January 21, 2025 
Page 2 

I encourage the Board to support innovative applications like Liberty Elementary's that will 
expand educational opportunities for Montana's kids in furtherance of the laws passed by the 
Legislature. While there are several factors to examine when evaluating charter applications, it is 
the Board's responsibility to fairly consider and approve applications that demonstrate they will 
provide a unique and innovative educational experience that complies with the law. 

As outlined in 20-6-802 and 811, MCA, it will still be the role of local governing boards to 
ensure that charter schools follow all state and federal laws and the terms of their charter 
contract, as well as only enroll eligible students. Upon renewal, if the applicants have not 
complied with the law or violate the terms of their charter contract, the Board can revoke or not 
renew the charter per 20-6-810, MCA. 

Thank you for your consideration and service to Montana students, families, and schools. 



To: Montana Board of Public Education 
From: Dr. Gerry Nolan  
Topic: Liberty Elementary Public Charter School 
Date: 12/5/2024 
 
Dear Montana Board of Public Education  
 It is an honor for me to present this letter of support on behalf of the public 
charter school application being submitted to the Montana Board of Public 
Education by the Liberty Elementary School District # 10. It was my good fortune 
to serve as the superintendent of Liberty Elementary School in 2022 and 2023. I 
can attest to the commitment and professionalism of the Liberty Elementary 
School Board of Education. I can also attest to the total commitment to the 
children’s education by the parents and communities served by Liberty Elementary 
School. There are no better people anywhere. You will find them a joy to work 
with. In addition, Todd Hanson and the team at Four Poles Consulting provide 
quality educational services, direction, and counsel for the Liberty Elementary 
Board, community and students.  
 
 The proposed Liberty Charter Academy will provide an opportunity for the 
parents and children living in these communities to exercise their rights to choose a 
public school system which best provides opportunities for students to develop 
their full educational potential. As an advocate for public education systems that 
meet the needs of all our children, I am voicing my support and am encouraging 
the Board of Public Education to approve the Liberty Elementary School District – 
Public School Charter application.  
 
 Having served the Liberty Elementary School District and the six colony 
schools that it supports, I can assure you that this is one of those unique situations 
for which Public Charter Schools were made. Liberty Charter School will become 
the poster child for Charter Schools in Montana. As an advocate who loves our 
profession and has worked in public education for over forty years, I 
wholeheartedly support the Liberty Charter School application and initiative.  
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
Dr. Gerry Nolan  
Gerry J. Nolan  
PO Box 738 
West Glacier, Montana – 59936 
406.890.3691 
gnhermit@gmail.com  

mailto:gnhermit@gmail.com


Rebecca Ayler, M.A.T., M.Ed. 
1610 East Lewis Street  
Livingston, MT 59047 
becky.ayler@livingston.k12.mt.us 
January 12, 2025 

Board of Public Education 
 Montana Office of Public Instruction 
 1301 E. 6th Ave. 
 Helena, MT 59620 

Dear Members of the Board, 

I am writing to express my concerns regarding the proposed Yellowstone Experience School (YES) Charter in 
Livingston, Montana. As a member of the community, a public educator; I am the principal of Sleeping Giant 
Middle School (SGMS) and have taught and led at both Park High School and SGMS for over 10 years, and an 
advocate for quality education, I believe it is essential to carefully consider the implications of introducing a new 
charter school in our area. 

My experience as a public educator for 18 years both here in Livingston and in Denver, CO has given me a great 
insight and knowledge into how charter schools can help communities and provide unique opportunities, 
however, in the case of YES, it is my professional opinion that neither of these outcomes would come to fruition.  I 
have been in attendance for both of YES’s presentations to our local school board and when they presented to you 
all virtually.  I have read their proposal, and I have found extensive evidence as to why this charter should not 
receive approval to move forward.  Below I have outlined such evidence:  

1. Impact on Resources: Our district and community face challenges with funding and stretching the public 
dollar thin.  Just last year, our community voted down a technology levy in our high school district.  Should 
we introduce another district within our community those already highly sought-after dollars would 
become even more challenging to secure for our schools and students.  In addition, YES proposes 
purchasing one of our schools that we had to close in recent years.  One of the great misconceptions for 
the closure of that school is that it was due solely to declining enrollment.  This is not true – the condition 
of the building requires so much improvement that it would not be fiscally responsible to try to fix the 
problems. Also, to my knowledge, the building is not for sale yet. It is presumptuous for the YES charter to 
assume that they could just purchase the building without the support of our board and superintendent.  

2. Equity in Education: YES’s application and presentations were lacking in their identification of how they 
would support students with learning disabilities. As an administrator, this is one of the areas of education 
that requires most of my time. Many of our students with disabilities come from families in poverty and do 
not have the ability to support their students’ needs outside of school. They rely heavily on the school to 
support their students’ learning.  My concern is that YES would either not serve those students to the level 
of need they require, or that they would not admit students with disabilities, leading to huge inequities in 
our community. In addition, YES proposes paying teachers at higher rates but requiring more work time. As 
a graduate student in the doctoral program at Montana State University, my area of research is in 
Collective and Self Efficacy – based on my research and understanding of the practical day-to-day 
leadership of a school, we know that salary does not directly relate to the improvement of a school, but the 



collective efficacy of a staff and the self-efficacy of individuals is what has the greatest impact.  Working 
longer hours will not improve this regardless of the salary. 

3. Accountability Standards: It is important that all educational institutions, including charter schools, are 
held to the same high standards of accountability and transparency. My understanding from other states is 
that charter schools do not have to comply with the same level of standardized testing as public schools.  
Should this be the same for Montana charters, YES would not have to hold the same rigorous academic 
expectations that we in the public sector would have to.  In addition, we have evidence from experience 
and testing those students who attended the school previously owned by one of the leaders of YES 
(Educatio), came to our district after it closed and were at least 2 grade levels behind in reading and math 
abilities.  This is highly concerning.  Livingston Public Schools just completed two rounds of the literacy 
grant from OPI and we are now leaders in early childhood literacy in the state.  Our staff present at 
international conferences and provide a framework for literacy to other academic institutions.  

4. Community Input: While I understand that YES is taking feedback from the community, they have not 
taken a moment to ask if what they are proposing is being addressed in our public schools.  Based on the 
individuals who have spoken out in support for YES, it is my belief that they either 1) do not know the 
incredible work that we are accomplishing in our district, or 2) are disgruntled with our public schools from 
when they were students, or with a disciplinary issue with their own children and the public schools.  Our 
schools have changed and improved tremendously, even in the decade I have worked for LPS.  Our early 
childhood literacy programming is revolutionary and, as stated before, a model in the state.  We host 
partnerships and provide programming and classes for robust work-based learning at the middle and high 
school level which are being recognized throughout the state. This year at Sleeping Giant Middle School, 
we have begun a partnership and the work to integrate place-based learning with Ripple, an organization 
established by a former teacher, and in partnership with Montana Tech University.  We offer robust 
partnerships with Farm to School where students K-12 are learning sustainable and healthy food 
production and care.  We have so much to offer at LPS, that it would be such a shame to lose enrollment, 
potentially faculty, and funding to a school whose plan is lofty dream, at best.  

I appreciate your time and consideration of these matters as the board deliberates on the future of the 
Yellowstone Experience Charter School. I urge you to prioritize the needs of our existing public schools and the 
students they serve. 

Sincerely, 

Rebecca S. Ayler, M.A.T., M.Ed. 
Principal, Sleeping Giant Middle School 

 







Dear esteemed members of the Montana Board of Public Education,  
 
I am writing this letter to share my support for the creation of the Yellowstone Experience School (YES) in 
Livingston. This school will provide excellent opportunities for students and parents in our community.  
 
Project-based teaching environments create unique learning experiences for students, provide individual 
feedback and learning plans, and a space where students can be creative, invested in their learning, and 
gain fundamental skills and knowledge.  
 
As a previous teacher at a project-based learning school, run by Emily Post, I especially enjoyed the 
smaller classes, the ability to tailor lessons and curriculum to specific student needs, the willingness of 
the community to provide immersive learning opportunities for our students and a work environment that 
emphasized creativity and flexibility.  
 
Project-based education promotes critical thinking skills, team work, problem solving, communication, 
collaboration, and working within your community to solve problems close to home. Student growth is 
easily witnessed because of the close connection with teachers and the small class sizes. Continual 
check-ins and observations ensure student engagement and development.  
 
It was a pleasure to work with Emily Post, she values students, their education and strives to provide the 
best possible learning environment. Her passion for project-based learning is evident from the time she 
spends planning with her teachers, community outreach members and parents of her students. She 
continually strives to make each day full of valuable learning experiences.  
 
I encourage you to approve the establishment of the Yellowstone Experience School, and allow students 
in our community a chance for another meaningful, inclusive education experience.  
 
Thank you for your consideration, 
Kelsi Fisher  



315 South 8th ST
Livingston, MT 59047
January 8, 2025

Montana Board of Public Education
46 N Last Chance Gulch, Suite 2B
PO Box 200601
Helena, MT 59620

Esteemed Board Members:

I am writing to express my opinion regarding the proposed Yellowstone Experience
School (YES) charter school in Livingston. I am writing as a citizen and taxpayer who
lives within the Livingston School District (LSD), as a parent of a former student in the
LSD, and as a current employee, as a physical therapist, in the LSD. I am in opposition
to the proposed YES charter school based on concerns that I have regarding funding for
the school, redundancy in programming between the charter school and public school,
and lack of evidence of sustainability of the charter school.

Admittedly, I would have enjoyed having the option of a hands-on, experiential based
alternative public education for my son when he was attending middle and high school
in the LSD. At the time he was attending LSD, the district was just beginning to develop
these types of opportunities. Currently, there is a Work-Based Learning program
available at the high school which allows students to develop vocational skills and
achieve credentialing in areas that are applicable to real world jobs. It seems that
focusing resources on already existing programs within the LSD would be a better use
of taxpayer funds.

I did review the YES Public Charter Application and noted proposed areas that already
exist within the LSD. My husband is a vegetable farmer, and we have worked closely
with the Farm-to-School program that serves the LSD. The current Farm-to-School
program already has much of the infrastructure and connections necessary to assist
students who would like to participate in farming and learn more about an agricultural
lifestyle. Again, it would seem that assisting the LSD to diversify its offerings to the
students enrolled in the district would be a better use of time and resources.

I have several general concerns about the YES charter school. Washington School
owned by the LSD was closed partly due to the cost of facility maintenance. Reopening
it to a charter school does not seem like a sound fiscal decision. The LSD can barely



find enough teachers and paraeducators to fulfill staffing needs especially in special
education. How is YES going to find enough staff? There is currently a gap between
salary and cost of living in Livingston which affects everyone in education. If YES had
been a successfully running educational entity before its application as a charter school,
and all that it needed was state support so that it could better serve all students
regardless of ability to pay, then it seems like the LSD would have voted in favor of
incorporating it into the district. As it was, YES was not a functioning school nor did it
have a brick and mortar location of its own. At this point, it is my opinion that approving
the YES charter school would only remove funds from the current LSD causing a
decline in the educational services in Livingston instead of enhancing them.

Finally, it is my opinion that, instead of creating a separate entity that will draw funds
away from the economically challenged Livingston School District, the proponents of the
YES charter school should work with the district to enhance the experiential and
hands-on learning opportunities that already exist in the LSD. Thus, truly improving the
educational opportunities for all in Livingston. I envision too many negative impacts on
this community's educational system for me to support the YES charter school. Thank
you for your time and consideration.

Sincerely,

Caroline Rehder



December 13, 2024

To Whom It May Concern

It has come to our attention that a character assasination has been attempted on a

community member that has been crucial to our child’s education and growth. Four years ago

my husband and I were planning on homeschooling our child because we were completely

against entering our child into the public school system for numerous reasons. We became

aware of Educatio and were thoroughly aligned with the values of the school. We met with Emily

Post and soon realized that Educatio’s focus on building a child’s love of learning and creating

vast opportunities for growth and expansion while also prioritizing not only high quality

education, but also emotional health wellbeing, was aligned with our family.

Over the course of the three years that we were enrolled with Educatio, our child thrived

in the environment that Emily Post provided. We are certain she would have floundered in the

public school system and her passion would have been watered down to match the standards

required. Emily Post and Educatio provided a structured educational environment that

supported a child’s passion for learning and exploration. The way that Emily Post cultivated the

school was exceptionally child centered. My husband and I can only wish that we had this type

of education when we were younger.

During week two of our child’s first grade year, her teacher told us that she was already a

third of the way through the math book for first grade standards! Coincidentally, another of her

teacher’s explained that she was prepared to teach our child how to read and was surprised to

know that she can already read and thus is able to build her education on where she is

academically and emotionally, rather than being held back by classroom standards. Educatio

also provides opportunities for extra support when a concept is not understood, rather than

moving on to be aligned with standards. This level of dedication and opportunity for learning is

uncommon and should not be ignored.

It should also be noted that within our community resides not only bullying, but also

intense mental health needs for children, as we have suffered numerous heartbreak in our

community from the impact that bullying has had on young children and suicide. To have an

option like the school Emily Post created that focused on building self esteem and kindness as

part of its curriculum is insurmountable. The children got to know each other on a unique level

as they get to intermingle on a daily basis. Our child (who is currently 8 years old) has friends

who are 3 years old and friends who are 13 years old, all because of the vision of Emily Post.

This in and of itself is extraordinary.



Educatio values experiences. Our child has grown in all the ways we never imagined she

could in a school environment, but Educatio was not just any school. The specialness of the

vision and Emily Post’s dedication is unlike anything we encountered. We are forever grateful

for this school and desperately hope to see our child through her years with Educatio.

Charter status would grant this community the opportunity to continue providing the type

of education that is desperately needed. With a public charter option in Livingston, children and

families could thrive and continue to do what they do best-tailor the education specifically to

each child’s needs and interest. It should be noted that I have never encountered another adult

who not only respects children, but truly views them as people-with full opinions, and celebrates

each child in their unique way. It is because of Emily Post that we chose to homeschool our

child following the closure of Educatio.

This closure was exceptionally difficult, as we were around during the mutiny that the

teaching staff of the 2022-2023 school year attempted. It was after school ended that I received

a voicemail from Sara Driscoll, telling me that she was uncertain if Educatio would be continuing

for the following school year. I was informed that the teachers were unhappy and not continuing

their relationship with the school. I immediately called Emily Post to confirm. It needs to be

noted that Emily was traveling for a memorial service for a loved one and had no idea what was

happening. As soon as she was informed, she tried communicating for resolution. The teachers

had a list of demands that were given to Emily and required the demands be met before moving

forward, and as time constraints would not allow everything to be fulfilled by the board, they

walked. They not only left, but the impact that the teachers made on character assassinations of

Emily was devastating, as our entire experience exceeded our expectations with Educatio and

Emily Post.

Once we made the decision to homeschool, Emily Post chose to continue with providing

our child, and other children in the community, with ongoing educational support. Our child met

with Emily three times a week for two hours working on a business she had helped create with

Emily. All on Emily’s own time, she ensured that our child was honored and continued to

received care, guidance, and celebration, as well as education. Our child is currently above

grade level and this is all due to the education she received from Educatio and the continued

safe space that Emily provided.

Emily Post has demonstrated year after year a true commitment to providing not only

high quality education, but honoring each child’s individual needs. My child feels seen and heard

with Emily Post and at Educatio and I hope that she continues to be a part of the education in

this community, as the children in this community need the champion that Emily is. The other



issue I would like to speak to is the accusation that school was often cancelled. I can say with

confidence that the only time school was cancelled was when the teachers all lived in Bozeman

during the 2022-2023 school year, and the snow was so bad that they could not drive the pass.

School cancellations actually never occurred. Our family could always depend on Educatio to be

open and thriving.

Our family is in full support of this Charter status. We stand by the values of this school

and Emily Post and know that with Charter status, more children can have the amazing

opportunity our child has had and so many children in this community desperately need this

level of education as an option.

Alexandria Saunders, PHD and Kevin Saunders



January 12, 2025 

 

Dear Members of the Montana Board of Public Education, 

I am writing to express my opposition to the charter application for the Yellowstone Experience 
School (YES) in Livingston, Montana. I am a Livingston resident with three children in the Livingston 
public schools, grades 1, 5, and 8. I have significant concerns regarding the potential impact the 
adoption of this application would have on our existing schools and on the larger community. 

The Livingston public schools are already facing significant budget challenges. In recent years, our 
school district has been forced to make many difficult decisions due to budget shortfalls and 
declining enrollments. A beloved early childhood campus had to close, forcing the consolidation of 
pre-K and Kindergarten classes with the first and second grade school. As the parent of a 
Kindergartner, I can list many impacts this closure had on our family. One impact was that the 
afterschool program was consolidated into a third location across town, causing the youngest 
learners to take a bus at the end of their long day, and causing the waitlists for the afterschool 
program to grow.  In addition to the campus closure, our high school cannot afford to purchase 
computers for students, all schools have cut arts programming, and last year, multiple middle 
school teachers’ contracts were not renewed, leading to teachers instructing in subjects for which 
they have no specific training or expertise. Having a new charter school competing for funds, 
teachers, administrators, and parents will exacerbate our existing shortage of resources.  

I also have concerns about the governance structure of YES. The Livingston School Board voted 
unanimously not to adopt their petition. This means that, should YES be allowed, it would operate 
with little to no local oversight. I fear that disconnect would do a disservice to our community. In a 
small community such as ours, public schools are one place where we are often forced to come 
together and overcome our differences. Our country is becoming increasingly polarized, with 
people retreating to their own circles of like-minded friends and family instead of discussing 
differences of opinions with neighbors and community members. Our community has faced many 
tough issues recently, and school board members have done a remarkable job of listening to all 
perspectives and making decisions they feel are in the best interest of our students.  

I would like to note that I think the petitioners have good intentions with this application, and I am a 
supporter of the Montessori approach, especially individualized learning plans. If our school district 
were not facing declining enrollment and budget shortfalls, I would not be so strongly opposed to 
the formation of a new school option.  

For these reasons, I urge the Montana Board of Public Education to reject the YES charter 
application. I believe that our focus should remain on strengthening our existing public schools to 
ensure all students have access to a high-quality education. 

 

Sincerely, 
 

Grace Stephens 



Amy Zanoni, Ph.D.  
225 S 9th St Livingston, MT 59047 
amyzanoni@gmail.com  

January 19, 2025 

Montana Board of Public Education 
bpe@mt.gov 

Dear Members of the Montana Board of Public Education: 

I am writing to express my opposition to the charter application for the Yellowstone Experience 
School (YES) in Livingston, Montana. As a Livingston resident, taxpayer, and parent, I have 
significant concerns regarding the impact that the adoption of this proposal would have on 
Livingston public schools and educational disparities in our community.  

If established, YES would siphon funds from the public schools that serve the vast majority of 
our community’s children—at a time when declining enrollments, tight budgets, and high 
housing costs have already undermined our district’s ability to hire educators and make other 
financial decisions required to provide quality education. 

What’s more, YES would likely attract students from more educated, higher-income 
backgrounds and as a result, worsen educational inequalities in our community.  

I admire YES’s commitment to “individualized and meaningful learning opportunities.” All 
students deserve such an approach. With that in mind, I encourage the Board to oppose YES’s 
proposal. And I encourage the community members currently involved in YES to redirect their 
energies toward improving the quality of education offered in our existing public schools.   

Thank you for your time and consideration.  

Sincerely, 

Amy Zanoni 

 











Dr. Chris Pavlovich, PhD 
105 S. 8th Street  
Livingston, MT 59047  
cpavlovich@mtech.edu 
January 21, 2025 
 
Board of Public Education  
Montana Office of Public Instruction  
1301 E. 6th Ave.  
Helena, MT 59620 
 
Dear Members of the Board, 
 
I am writing to express my concerns regarding the proposed Yellowstone Experience 
School (YES) Charter in Livingston, Montana. As a member of the community, an 
educator, and former Livingston 5th grade teacher, I believe it is crucial to carefully 
consider the implications of introducing a new charter school in our area. 
 
My experience in public and higher education for 17 years, served in Livingston and in 
58 communities in Montana, has given me a deep understanding of school system 
structures and functions across the state. I do believe it’s possible for charter schools to 
support communities and provide unique opportunities. However, in the case of YES, it is 
my professional opinion that these goals, strategies for their implementation, or the 
implications have weighed for how they may support and complement public schools 
and the community. I was in attendance for YES’s first presentation to our local school 
board. I have read their proposal, and I am bringing evidence as to why this charter 
should not receive approval to move forward. Below I have outlined such evidence: 
 
Financial Implications and Resource Allocation  
Our district and community are currently navigating fiscal constraints, necessitating 
prudent resource allocation. The recent rejection of a technology levy in our high school 
district underscores the challenges in securing funding. Introducing a new charter district 
would further fragment our limited resources, exacerbating the existing difficulties in 
securing essential funds for our schools and students. Furthermore, the Yellowstone 
Experience School's proposal to purchase a previously closed school building raises 
concerns. The closure of this facility was not solely due to declining enrollment, but also 
the significant capital improvements required to address its deteriorated condition. It 
would be fiscally irresponsible to transfer ownership without thorough evaluation and 
approval from our board and superintendent. The Yellowstone Experience School 
charter's assumption that they can acquire the building without proper authorization and 
consideration of the associated costs is troubling and warrants careful examination. 

 
Educational Access 

mailto:cpavlovich@mtech.edu


The Yellowstone Experience School's (YES) application and presentations reveal a 
concerning lack of clarity regarding support services for students with disabilities. 
Providing adequate resources and accommodations for students with diverse needs 
is essential for ensuring access for all students in education. Students from low 
socio-economic backgrounds, who comprise a significant portion of our student 
population, often rely heavily on schools to provide critical support services. Their 
families may face significant barriers in accessing additional resources outside of 
school, making it imperative that our educational institutions prioritize providing 
comprehensive services that address the unique needs of these students. I am 
concerned that YES's proposed model may not adequately address the needs of 
students with disabilities, potentially exacerbating existing needs in our community. 
Furthermore, the proposed compensation structure, which offers higher salaries in 
exchange for extended work hours, may inadvertently create barriers to hiring and 
retaining teachers from diverse backgrounds, particularly those from low 
socio-economic backgrounds. It is essential that YES provides a comprehensive 
plan outlining how they will provide adequate support services for students with 
disabilities, as well as strategies for recruiting and retaining a diverse teaching staff. 
 
Accountability Standards  
Holding all educational institutions, including charter schools, to the same rigorous 
standards of accountability and transparency is crucial. My understanding is that 
charter schools may not be subject to the same level of standardized testing as 
public schools. If this exemption were to apply to Montana charters, such as the 
proposed Yellowstone Experience School (YES), it would create an uneven playing 
field for students and schools.  
 
Community Input  
While Yellowstone Experience School (YES) has solicited community feedback, they 
have not taken the opportunity to explore whether their proposed initiatives are 
already being addressed within our public schools. Unfortunately, supporters of YES 
seem to be either uninformed about the exceptional work being done in our district or 
hold outdated perceptions based on past experiences. In reality, our schools have 
undergone significant transformations and improvements over the past decade. 
Notably, our early childhood literacy program has become a state model, and our 
work-based learning initiatives at the middle and high school levels have garnered 
statewide recognition. 

At Sleeping Giant Middle School, we at Ripple have partnered with teachers and 
administration to launch deep, inquiry-based, place-based learning through the 
EcosySTEM framework. This collaboration, facilitated by Montana Tech University, 
empowers students to develop a deeper understanding of their local environment 
and its interconnected systems.  



It's also important to acknowledge the lasting legacy of Watershed Warriors in our 
school district. This program has inspired a generation of students to become 
stewards of their local environment, and its impact continues to be felt. All of this has 
been done with the support of the community, seeking resources for projects in a 
fiscally-responsible manner. It would be unfortunate to divert enrollment, faculty, and 
funding to a new charter school whose plan, while ambitious, lacks a clear 
understanding of our district's strengths and accomplishments. 

I appreciate your time and consideration of these matters as the board deliberates on 
the future of the Yellowstone Experience Charter School. I urge you to prioritize the 
needs of our existing public schools and the students they serve. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Chris Pavlovich, PhD 
Director of Program Services and Evaluation 
Ripple: The Center for Education and Ecosystem Studies 































































































 

Board of Public Education Special Meeting January 28, 2025  Page 1 
 

BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION 
MEETING MINUTES 

 
January 28, 2025 

Zoom 
 

Tuesday, January 28, 2025 
11:00 AM 

 
CALL TO ORDER – 00:00:01 
Chair Tharp called the meeting to order at 11:00 AM.  The Chair led the Board in the Pledge of Allegiance and 
Ms. Kris Stockton took Roll Call.  The Chair read the Statement of Public Participation and welcomed guests.  
Guests online introduced themselves to the Board.   
 
Board members: Dr. Tim Tharp, Chair; Dr. Ron Slinger, Vice Chair; Ms. Renee Rasmussen; Ms. Madalyn 
Quinlan; Ms. Jane Hamman; Ms. Lisa Schmidt; Ms. Julia Maxwell.  Ex Officio members: Superintendent Susie 
Hedalen, Office of Public Instruction, (OPI); Mr. Dylan Klapmeier, Governor’s Office. Staff: Ms. McCall Flynn, 
Executive Director; Ms. Kris Stockton, Administrative Specialist; Ms. Julie Balsam, Accounting Technician.  
Guests: Layer Barn; Mr. Todd Hanson, 4 Poles Consulting; Mr. Tim Hofer; Superintendent Dan McGee, Liberty 
School District; Ms. Jenine Synness, Business Clerk, Liberty School District; Ms. Aislinn Brown, Board Legal 
Counsel; Tyler Capece, Deputy Chief of Staff, OPI.  
 
ADOPT AGENDA – 00:03:19 
 

Board member Quinlan moved to adopt the agenda as presented.  Motion seconded by 
Board member Rasmussen. 

 
  No discussion.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 

 CHARTER COMMITTEE – Jane Hamman (Item 1) 
    

Item 1 ACTION ON REQUEST FOR CLARIFICATION OF THE PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 
ACT AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS – 00:03:50 

   Jane Hamman 
Chair Tharp reviewed the options before the Board which were to request an Attorney General’s Opinion or 
request legislation be passed to revise the Public Charter School Act.  Charter Committee Chair Hamman asked 
Board members for possible ideas for discussion.  Charter Committee Chair Hamman recommended requesting 
amendments be added to HB 250 regarding English Language Learners (ELL) and English as a Second 
Language (ESL) Students.  Committee Chair Hamman reviewed the proposed amendment to HB 250 that she 
drafted pertaining to ELL and ESL students.  Chair Tharp noted that the Board should determine what direction 
they want to take whether that is asking for legislation or asking for an Attorney General’s Opinion regarding 
remote instruction, which is his recommendation.  Vice Chair Slinger noted that a legislative fix would be his 
preference.  Board member Quinlan stated her agreement with Vice Chair Slinger to provide a clear statement of 
the problem for the Legislature to consider.  Committee Chair Hamman stated both routes should be addressed.  
Board member Schmidt shared her concerns of creating unintended consequences.  Board member Maxwell 
stated that requesting an Attorney General’s Opinion might allow the Board to have a clearer vision of what might 
need to be revised in the statute.  Board member Rasmussen stated her concern with legislative action and that 
seeking a legal opinion is her preference, and she suggested writing a memo to the Chairs of House Education 
and Senate Education stating the situation the Board is in due to the current statute.  Chair Hamman stated that 
under the current statute applications will continue to come in that will be caught in the same situation, and that an 
Attorney General’s Opinion will not fix that issue, only legislation can correct the problem.  Chair Tharp noted that 
both a letter from the Board to the Legislative Committees outlining the problem and a request for an Attorney 
General’s Opinion can both be done at this meeting. 
 

Board member Rasmussen moved under the direction of the Executive Committee to send 
a letter to the Legislative Education Committee’s outlining the current situation regarding 
remote instruction and cultural issues, and to further move to direct the Executive 



 

Board of Public Education Special Meeting January 28, 2025  Page 2 
 

Committee, Executive Director, and Board Legal Counsel to draft a letter to request an 
Attorney General’s opinion if there is no legislative correction.  Motion seconded by Board 
member Quinlan. 

 
  Vice Chair Slinger noted his approval of the motion on the floor. 
 
  Board members discussed procedural questions. 
 

Chair Tharp noted that legislators are aware of the issue and that it is important the Board 
stay in their lane regarding this issue. 
 
Board member Quinlan noted it is important to clearly state the issue for the legislature. 
 
Ms. Jenine Synness gave public comment supporting the Liberty Charter Application. 
 
Mr. Todd Hanson gave public comment supporting the Liberty Charter Application.  
 
Chair Tharp clarified the motion. 
 
No further discussion.  Motion passed unanimously.  

      
PUBLIC COMMENT – 00:48:13 
No additional public comment. 
 
Chair Tharp thanked Board member Hamman for her service. 
 
ADJOURN 
The meeting adjourned at 11:49 AM. 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
The Montana Board of Public Education is a Professional Development Unit Provider. Attending a Board of Public Education 
Meeting either in person or via Zoom may qualify you to receive professional development units. Please complete the 
necessary information on the sign-in sheet if you are applying for professional development units.    
 
Agenda items are handled in the order listed on the approved agenda. Items may be rearranged unless listed “time certain”. 
Public comment is welcome on all items listed as “Action” and as noted at the beginning and end of each meeting. 
 
The Board of Public Education will make reasonable accommodations for known disabilities that may interfere with an 
individual’s ability to participate in the meeting. Individuals who require such accommodations should make requests to the 
Board of Public Education as soon as possible prior to the meeting start date. You may write to: Kris Stockton, PO Box 
200601, Helena MT, 59620, email at: kmstockton@mt.gov or phone at 406-444-0302. 
 

 
 

mailto:kmstockton@mt.gov


 ATTORNEYS: ADMINISTRATOR: Phone: 406-761-3000 

Lindsay M. Morse Scott A. Rubino Fax: 406-453-2313 

Ron A. Nelson  Web: frontrangemt.com 

Amber L. Stenson   

   

114 3rd Steet South, Great Falls, MT 59401 

2020 Charlotte Street, Suite #8, Bozeman, MT 59718 

 
 

 
 

January 27, 2025 

Via E-Mail 

Montana Board of Public Education 
c/o McCall Flynn 
46 North Last Chance Gulch 
Helena, MT 59601 

RE:  Liberty Elementary School District No. 10, through its proposed Liberty Academy 
Charter School 
Our Matter Number 250015 

Dear Dr. Tharp & Board Members: 

Thank you for your careful consideration of the Liberty Academy Charter School 
Academy.  We genuinely appreciate your careful consideration of all applications.  We 
appreciate the Board-wide recognition of the unique characteristics of Hutterite 
communities and their students and the ongoing challenges to meet Hutterite students’ 
educational needs within our Public Education System.  Each Board member has 
expressed a genuine understanding of nee and the desire to help.  Nonetheless, as the 
Board enters a new era of Charter Schools, we understand and appreciate the Board’s 
desire to proceed cautiously to ensure it does not step outside the authority given to it 
by the Legislature and the Constitution.  While we believe the Board has authority to 
grant Liberty’s application, we believe it is prudent to confirm that by requesting an 
Attorney General’s opinion and possibly clarification from the legislature. 

As the Board considers its request for an Attorney General’s opinion at its Special 
Meeting tomorrow, we would like to offer our assessment of the issue based upon the 
background and our observations during last week’s meeting.  The “valid applicant” 
issue raised by the Montana School Boards Association is dismissed by the clear 
language of HB 549 which authorizes a school district, in this case Liberty Elementary 
School District No. 10, to file a Charter School application.  It appeared that the Board’s 
legal counsel confirmed the validity of the applicant in response to the Chair’s 
questions.  The only other issue raised regarding the Board’s authority to grant Liberty’s 
Application is the application of Montana Code Annotated § 20-7-118 (“Section 118”) 
regarding remote instruction. 

Oddly, Section 118 is generally viewed as authorizing, not limiting, legislation.  See 
Montana Code Annotated § 20-1-101(22).  Section 118 authorizes a district to provide 
remote instruction to pupils located “in the nearest district [to the] pupil’s district of 



 
January 27, 2025 
Page 2 
 

 

residence when the pupil's district of residence does not provide remote or in-person 
instruction in an equivalent course.  A course is not equivalent if the course does not 
provide the same level of advantage on successful completion, including but not 
limited to dual credit, advanced placement, and career certification.  Montana Code 
Annotated § 20-7-118(c) Emphasis Added.  With respect to the pupils to be served by 
Liberty the intervening districts (those between Liberty and each of the Colonies 
involved) are Sunburst K-12, Galata Elementary, Fort Benton Elementary, North Star 
Elementary and Chester-Joplin-Inverness Elementary.  Included with this letter is a 
summary of the history of the Colonies in dealing with the residential districts.  Each of 
the Colonies involved in Liberty’s application have been denied service by their 
respective districts of residence. 

A key understanding in the educational challenge for the Colonies is the need for onsite 
education.  Traditionally, that has been accomplished through inter-local agreements 
between Hutterite Colonies and their district of residence.  The Montana Office of Public 
Instruction recognizes the unique character of Hutterite communities and their students. 
See Essential Understandings of Montana Hutterites, a Resource for Educators and 
Students (a copy of which is attached to this letter and available online at 
https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED520607.pdf).  On page 6 of that publication, OPI 
states: 

When they are six they begin formal German school and at seven they start 
"English" or public school. In addition to the public-school day, they have at least 
two hours of German, religion and culture, one hour in the morning before regular 
school and another hour after the regular school in a separate place from the 
public school, The German teacher, who is a member of the colony, uses Ihe 
Bible as one of his texts. He is also the liaison to the public school. 

… 

The Hutterite students continue with these long days of formal education At 
meals, they are assigned two special teachers, a man and a woman, who sit with 
them in a separate room or table and teach the children table manners, 
obedience, respect and thankfulness. These adults also see to the children's 
needs for food, etc. The children sit by age. 

The unique cultural, religious and language needs of Hutterite students can only be 
served through onsite education.  They cannot simply “get on the bus.”  Doing so would 
require sacrifice and loss of cultural, religious and language needs1.  Likewise, the 
previously available onsite instruction obtained through inter-local agreements facilitated 
and enhanced parental oversite which would also be available in a Charter School 
setting.  The residential and geographically intervening districts do not provide and have 

 
1 Instruction in religious studies or topics occurs only within the German Immersion School which is 
entirely separate from the curriculum, pedagogy and instructional models taking place as part of the 
“public school” model. 



 
January 27, 2025 
Page 3 
 

 

refused to provide an educational setting that recognizes and preserves core values 
and practices of Hutterite students. 

In the context of Section 118, the question is whether it should be interpreted to limit 
remote instruction in this case.  Section 118 should be broadly construed to achieve the 
fundamental purpose of public education which is to promote “the full educational 
potential of each person.”  Montana Code Annotated § 20-7-601(1).  In that same 
provision, the Legislature recognizing unique and individual needs declared, “any public 
or private regulation that discriminates against a district or pupil participating in forms of 
personalized learning referenced in this section is inconsistent with constitutional goals 
and guarantees under Article X of the Montana constitution.”  In the applicable 
constitutional and policy framework, Section 118 clearly authorizes remote instruction 
for these students through Liberty.  The nearest district to each of the Colonies involved 
that provides “an equivalent course2” is Liberty. 

To present the question to the Attorney General, the unique characteristics of the 
Hutterite Colonies need to be explained and incorporated into the question.  With that in 
mind, we suggest that the question to the Attorney General should be phrased as 
follows: 

Does Montana Code Annotated § 20-7-118 authorize the provision of remote 
instruction by Liberty Elementary School District No. 10, through its proposed 
Liberty Academy Charter School to Hutterite Colony students in elementary 
school districts other than Liberty Elementary School District No. 10. 

If permitted, we are happy to provide additional background and context to the Board 
and the Attorney General to explain the unique circumstances involved in education of 
Hutterite Colony students. 

Again, we thank the Board for its careful and thoughtful consideration of Liberty’s 
application.  If the Board or any of its members would like further comments or 
discussion, we are happy to provide it. 

Sincerely, 

FRONT RANGE LAW, PLLC 

By__________________________ 
Ron A. Nelson 

Enc. 

 
2 The term “course” should not be narrowly interpreted to refer to a single class or topic.  Necessarily, it 
would need to incorporate multiple classes or topics to be effective.  To limit the term to a class or topic 
would ignore the overall goals and rights of these students to a full and meaningful education.  That term 
should also include a course of study or instructional pedagogy. 



 
January 27, 2025 
Page 4 
 

 

CC: Liberty Elementary School District No. 10 
 Dylan Klapmeier 
 



 

 

YEAR Eagle Creek 
 Colony 

Riverview 
Colony 

Cool Springs 
Colony 

Hillside  
Colony 

Rimrock 
Colony 

Sunnybrook 
Colony 

FY1986-87 
thru 
FY1990-91 

Eagle Creek 
operated their 
school 
privately until 
petitioning 
OPI and 
opening a 
public school 
/ Liberty 
School 
District for 
1986-87 
school year. 

     

FY1991-92 
thru 
FY1999-00 

Continued 
operation of 
public school 
district. 

Liberty 
operated 
school at 
Riverview 
after CJI 
declined.  (8 
years) 

    

FY2000-01 
thru 
FY2012-13 

Continued 
operation of 
public school 
district. 

Due to 
Riverview’s 
increased 
enrollment, 
CJI opted to 
operate 
Riverview 

 Uncertain 
start date until 
they notified 
Hillside they 
would no 
longer do so, 
Sunburst 
operated 
school onsite 
at Hillside 
Colony. 

Uncertain 
start date until 
they notified 
Rimrock they 
would no 
longer do so, 
Sunburst 
operated 
school onsite 
at Rimrock 
Colony. 

 

FY2013-14 
thru 
FY2022-23 

Continued 
operation of 
public school 
district. 

After 
enrollment 
decreased, 
CJI opted not 
to operate 
Riverview and 
once again 
entered 
interlocal 
agreement 
with Liberty 
for operation 
of Riverview. 

North Star 
school district 
declined to 
operate 
colony school 
at Cool 
Springs. 
Beginning in 
2015-16, CJI 
operated Cool 
Springs.  (8 
years) 

Beginning in 
2016-17, 
Liberty 
operated 
Hillside 
school 
through 
interlocal 
agreement 
with Liberty. (7 
years) 

Beginning in 
2016-17, 
Liberty 
operated 
Rimrock 
school 
through 
interlocal 
agreement 
with Liberty. (7 
years) 

In 2021-22, Ft. 
Benton 
declined any 
involvement 
with 
Sunnybrook 
school due to 
increased 
workload and 
one-year 
delay in state 
funding. 
Operated as 
private 
school. 

  



 

 

FY2023-24 Public school; 
standalone 
district. 

CJI declined 
to operate 
school at 
Riverview and 
declined to 
enter into 
multi-district 
agreement to 
allow Liberty 
to operate. 
Colony 
operated 
school 
privately. 

CJI declined 
to operate 
school at Cool 
Springs.  No 
services were 
provided from 
North Star 
(district of 
residence). 
Colony 
operated 
school 
privately. 

Liberty 
operated 
Hillside 
School 
through a 
multi-district 
agreement 
with Sunburst. 
In accordance 
with HB 214, 
Sunburst 
reported ANB.  

Liberty 
operated 
Rimrock 
School 
through a 
multi-district 
agreement 
with Sunburst. 
In accordance 
with HB 214, 
Sunburst 
reported ANB. 

Operated as 
private 
school. 

FY2024-25 Public school; 
standalone 
district. 

No public 
education 
available. 
Colony is 
operating a 
private 
school. 

No public 
education 
available. 
Colony is 
operating a 
private 
school. 

No public 
education 
available. 
Colony is 
operating a 
private 
school. 

No public 
education 
available. 
Colony is 
operating a 
private 
school. 

No public 
education 
available. 
Colony is 
operating a 
private 
school. 

 

































CONSENT AGENDA 
 
 

FINANCIALS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



51010 Board of Public Education
ORG Budget Summary by OBPP Prog, Subclass, Fund
Data Selected for Month/FY:    01 (Jul)/2025 through 09 (Mar)/2025

This report compares ORG Budgets (ORG_BD) to Actuals expended amounts

Business Unit (All)
Program Year (All)
FY_BudPer (All)
Month (All)
Source of Auth (All)
Fund Type (All)
Account (All)
Acct Lvl 1 (All)
Acct Lvl 2 (All)
Account Type E
Project (All) Return to Menu
Ledger (All)

OBPP Program Subclass Fund Org ORG Budget Actuals Amt A Accrual Amt ORG Bud Balance
01 K-12 EDUCATION 591,202.00 291,192.51 0.00 300,009.49

235H1 ADMINISTRATION 546,722.00 275,245.83 0.00 271,476.17
01100 General Fund 535,164.00 275,245.83 0.00 259,918.17

1 BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION 535,164.00 275,245.83 0.00 259,918.17
ALL All Organization Rollup 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

02122 Advisory Council 11,510.00 0.00 0.00 11,510.00
1 BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION 11,510.00 0.00 0.00 11,510.00
ALL All Organization Rollup 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

02219 Research Fund 48.00 0.00 0.00 48.00
1 BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION 48.00 0.00 0.00 48.00
ALL All Organization Rollup 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

235H4 SITSD RST 44,480.00 14,150.11 0.00 30,329.89
01100 General Fund 44,480.00 14,150.11 0.00 30,329.89

1 BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION 44,480.00 14,150.11 0.00 30,329.89
ALL All Organization Rollup 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

235V1 RENEWAL COMM PRIVATE FUNDS 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
08084 Community Choice Schools 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

20 Community Choice Schools 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

235V3 CCS COMMISSION UNSP 0.00 1,796.57 0.00 (1,796.57)
08084 Community Choice Schools 0.00 1,796.57 0.00 (1,796.57)

20 Community Choice Schools 0.00 1,796.57 0.00 (1,796.57)

235Z1 WORKERS COMP. REDUCTION 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
01100 General Fund 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

ORG Bud by OBPP Prog,Subcl,Fund 1 of 2



OBPP Program Subclass Fund Org ORG Budget Actuals Amt A Accrual Amt ORG Bud Balance
01 K-12 EDUCA 235Z1 WORK   01100 General Fund 1 BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

ALL All Organization Rollup 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

02219 Research Fund 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
1 BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
ALL All Organization Rollup 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Grand Total 591,202.00 291,192.51 0.00 300,009.49

ORG Bud by OBPP Prog,Subcl,Fund 2 of 2



    REPORTS – (Items 1-6) 
 
 

Dr. Tim Tharp 
 
 

ITEM 1 
 
 

CHAIRPERSON’S REPORT 
 
 

• Welcome from Superintendent Dan 
Rispens, East Helena Public Schools 
• Welcome New Board Member 

• Committee Assignments 
 
 

 
Dr. Tim Tharp 

 
  



State of Montana  PO Box 200601 
  Helena, Montana 59620-0601 
  (406) 444-6576 
  www.bpe.mt.gov 

 Board of Public Education 

Board of Public Education – Appointed February 2025 Page 1 

 
Board of Public Education 

Committee Assignments 
February 2025 

 
STANDING COMMITTEES 

 
Executive Committee  Licensure Committee   Charter School Committee 
Tim Tharp, Chair   Ron Slinger, Chair   Ron Slinger, Chair 
Ron Slinger, Vice Chair  Julia Maxwell, Member  Lisa Schmidt, Member 
McCall Flynn, Executive Director  Tim Tharp, Member   Tim Tharp, Member 

 

MSDB Committee   Legislative Committee   Ad Hoc Legal Complaint Committee 

Lisa Schmidt, Chair   Renee Rasmussen, Chair  Madalyn Quinlan, Chair 
Julia Maxwell, Member  Madalyn Quinlan, Member  Renee Rasmussen, Member 

 Tim Tharp, Member   Tim Tharp, Member   Tim Tharp, Member 
 
Accreditation Committee   Assessment Committee    
Madalyn Quinlan, Chair  Renee Rasmussen, Chair    

Hannah Nieskens, Member  Hannah Nieskens, Member   

 Tim Tharp, Member   Tim Tharp, Member    

 

 

ADVISORY GROUP LIAISONS 

 

Montana Advisory Council on Indian Education – Julia Maxwell 
Montana Early Childhood Advisory Council – McCall Flynn 
Montana School Safety Advisory Committee – McCall Flynn 

 
 

OTHER COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS 
 

Education and Workforce Data Governing Board – Tim Tharp 
Montana Digital Academy Governing Board – McCall Flynn 

 
 
  



ITEM 2 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REPORT 

McCall Flynn 



ITEM 3 

STATE SUPERINTENDENT REPORT 

• Assessment Update
• NAEP Overview
• Federal Report
• Accreditation Report
• Content Standards Revision Update
• Annual School Food Services Report

State Superintendent Susie Hedalen 



Montana Board of Public Education 
Executive Summary 

Date: March 11-12, 2025 

Presentation Assessment Update 

Presenter Cedar Rose 

Position Title Assessment Director  
Office of Public Instruction 

Overview Update on state-wide student assessments 

Requested Decision(s) Information Item 

Related Issue(s) 

Recommendation(s) n/a 



1 

March 2024 BPE 
Assessment Update 

MAST Window 2 Summary 
• Each student assigned 2 ELA testlets, an ELA performance task, and a pre-

scheduled number of math testlets aligned to local scope and sequence
(between 2-5).

• Participation estimations (calculated based on students completing all assigned
testlets): ELA-97.4%; Math-96.7%

• Window 2 Listening Session held January 26.

ACCESS for ELLs Assessment 
• Window open December 2-February 21.
• Participation estimations prior to data reconciliation (calculated based on

completing all four domains of reading, writing, speaking, and listening): 79%

Spring Summative Assessments 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

If you have any questions, please contact: 
Cedar Rose, Assessment Director 

cedar.rose@mt.gov 

SY2024-25 
Test Windows Required Subjects Student

Group Grades Tested Window Period 

Montana Aligned to 
Standards Through-Year 

(MAST) 

Window 1 
October 14- 

November 22 

Math and ELA General Grades 3–8 

3 windows: 
 6 weeks each 

Final Anchor 
window: 
3 weeks 

Window 2 
January 13- 
February 21 
Window 3 
March 24- 

May 2 
Window 4 

(Anchor only) 
May 5-May 23 

ACCESS for ELLs December 2- 
February 21 

English Language 
Proficiency  

English 
Learners Grades K–12 12 weeks 

Montana Science 
Assessment (MSA) 

March 3- 
May 23 Science General Grades 5, 8 12 weeks 

Multi-State Alternate 
Assessment (MSAA) 

March 10- 
April 25 Math and ELA SwSCDs Grades 3–8, 11 7 weeks 

Montana Alternate Science 
Assessment (AMSA) 

March 10- 
April 25 Science SwSCDs Grades 5, 8, 11 7 weeks 

ACT with Writing 

Window 1 
March 25-

April 4 Math, ELA, and 
Science General Grade 11 3 windows: 

3 weeks each Window 2 
April 8-18 
Window 3 

April 22-May 2 



NAEP 2024
Mathematics and 
Reading Results at 
Grades 4 and 8

Shantel Niederstadt, NAEP State Coordinator

Montana Office of Public Instruction,

Assessment Unit

sniederstadt@mt.gov

444-3450

March 11 & 12, 2025

mailto:sniederstadt@mt.gov


What is NAEP?

▪ It’s the National Assessment of Educational Progress 
(NAEP).

▪ The only assessment that measures what U.S. 
students know and can do in various subjects across 
the nation, states, and in some cases, urban districts.

▪ NAEP results are released at “The Nation’s Report 
Card”

2



Overview of NAEP 2024 Administration

▪ Data collected from January – March 2024

▪ Administered as a digitally based assessment on tablets 

▪ National, state, large urban district samples

❖ 235,000 grade 4 students participated from approximately 6,100 schools

❖ 230,000 grade 8 students participated from approximately 5,400 schools

▪ Reported as 

❖ Average scores on NAEP mathematics and NAEP reading scales ranging from 0 to 500

❖ Five selected percentiles (10th, 25th, 50th, 75th, and 90th)

❖ NAEP achievement levels (NAEP Basic, NAEP Proficient, and NAEP Advanced)

▪ School, teacher, and student survey questions

❖ Included questions about absenteeism and how educators addressed educational recovery
3



4

Montana’s Participation

Mathematics

Reading

Grade 4

Grade 8

Student Sample Size Student Participation

Grade 4

Grade 8

1700

1800 91%

87%

Student Sample Size Student Participation

1700

1700 89%

87%

There were 230 schools in 141 districts across Montana.



5

2020-212019-20 2023-24

Timeline of students who were fourth- and eighth-graders in 2024

Grade 4

2021-22

K

Grade 8Grade 4

2022-23



6

Montana’s Highlights 

Grade 4 & 8 students 
performed above the national 
public average in all subject 
areas – mathematics and 
reading.



Mathematics – Grade 4

7

236
241

244 244 244 244
241 241 241 239 238

234
237 239 239 240 241 240 239 240

235 237

180

190

200

210

220

230

240

250

260

270

280

2003 2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 2015 2017 2019 2022 2024

Sc
al

e
 S

co
re

NAEP Mathematics Grade 4 ─ Overall
Average Scale Score: 2003-2024

MT Overall NP Overall

NOTE: The NAEP Mathematics scale ranges from 0 to 500.  Observed differences are not necessarily statistically significant. 
SOURCE: U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics, National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP).

N
A

EP
B

asic
N

A
EP

P
ro

fiicien
t



Mathematics – Grade 8

8

286 286 287
292 293

289 287 286 284

277 279

276 278
280 282 283 284 281 282 281

273 272

200

210

220

230

240

250

260

270

280

290

300

310

2003 2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 2015 2017 2019 2022 2024

Sc
al

e
 S

co
re

NAEP Mathematics Grade 8 ─ Overall
Average Scale Score: 2003–2024

MT Overall NP overall

NOTE: The NAEP Mathematics scale ranges from 0 to 500.  Observed differences are not necessarily statistically significant. 
SOURCE: U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics, National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP).

N
A

EP
 B

asic



Reading – Grade 4

9

223 225 227 225 225 223 225
222 222

219 217

216 217
220 220 220 221 221 221 219

216 214

160

170

180

190

200

210

220

230

240

250

260

2003 2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 2015 2017 2019 2022 2024

Sc
al

e
 S

co
re

NAEP Reading Grade 4 ─ Overall
Average Scale Score: 2003-2024

MT Overall NP Overall

NOTE: The NAEP Mathematics scale ranges from 0 to 500.  Observed differences are not necessarily statistically significant. 
SOURCE: U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics, National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP).

N
A

EP
 B

asic



Reading – Grade 8

10

270 269 271 270
273 272 270

267 265
261 261

261 260 261 262 264
266 264 265

262
259 257

200

210

220

230

240

250

260

270

280

290

300

310

2003 2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 2015 2017 2019 2022 2024

Sc
al

e
 S

co
re

NAEP Reading Grade 8 ─ Overall
Average Scale Score: 2003-2024

MT Overall

NOTE: The NAEP Mathematics scale ranges from 0 to 500.  Observed differences are not necessarily statistically significant. 
SOURCE: U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics, National Assessment of Educational 

N
A

EP
 B

asic



11

Montana’s Highlights

Higher performers’ scores 
increase;
Scores decrease for lower-
performers



Mathematics – Grade 4

12

202

207
210

212
209

207
205

203
201

199

193
196

199 201 201 202 202 201
197 198

190 190

220

225
228 228 228

226
223 223 223

220
218

215
219

221 221 222 222 221
219 220

213
215

237

242
246 246 246 246

243 243 244
240 241

235
239

241 241 242 243 241 241 242

236
240

253

258
261 262 262 263

261 261 262
259

262

254
257

259 259 260 262 260 261 262
258

262

267
271

274 275 275
277 276 276 277

275
279

270
272 274 275 276

278 277 279 279
277

280

150

160

170

180

190

200

210

220

230

240

250

260

270

280

290

300

2003 2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 2015 2017 2019 2022 2024 2003 2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 2015 2017 2019 2022 2024

NAEP Mathematics Grade 4 
Percentiles: 2003-2024

10th 25th 50th 75th 90th

Montana National Public

B
asic

P
ro

ficie
n

t
B

e
lo

w
 B

asic



Mathematics – Grade 8

13

244 245 245
248 247 246

244

239

234
230

226
228 230

234 235 236 236
234 232

230

223

218

267 267 267

272 273

268
266

263
259

254 254 253 254
257 258 259 260

257 255 254

246
243

288 288 289

294
296

291
289 288

285

279
281

278 279
281 283 284 285

282 282 281

273 272

308 308
310

315 316
312 311 310 310

302

307

301 303
305 307 308 309

307
309 308

300
302

325 325
328

333
335

331
329 329

331

322

328

321 323
325

328 329 330 328
332 332

324
327

200

210

220

230

240

250

260

270

280

290

300

310

320

330

340

350

2003 2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 2015 2017 2019 2022 2024 2003 2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 2015 2017 2019 2022 2024

NAEP Mathematics Grade 8 
Percentiles: 2003-2022

10th 25th 50th 75th 90th

Montana National Public

B
asic

P
ro

ficie
n

t
B

e
lo

w
 B

asic



Reading – Grade 4

14

178
181

186 184 184
179 180

172
169

166 165 167
169

173 173 173 172 173
169

167

160
157

202 204
208 206 206

203 205
201 200

195 193 193 194
198 198 198 199 200 198 196

190
187

226 227
230

227 227 226 228 228 227
224

220 219 220
222 222 223 224 225 225 224

220
218

247 246
249

246 247 246 248 248 248 246 245
243 243 244 244 245 246 247 248 247 245 244

264 264 264 262 263 263 265 265 265 263 263 262 262 263 263 263 264 265 266 265 265 265

120

130

140

150

160

170

180

190

200

210

220

230

240

250

260

270

280

290

2003 2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 2015 2017 2019 2022 2024 2003 2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 2015 2017 2019 2022 2024

NAEP Reading Grade 4
Percentiles: 2003-2024

10th 25th 50th 75th 90th

Montana National Public

B
asic

P
ro

ficie
n

t
B

e
lo

w
 B

asic



Reading – Grade 8

15

230 230
233 233

235
231 231

225

218
216

211
215 214 216 218 219

222
218 218

211
208

202

251 250
254 253

255 254
251

248
244

240
237

240 238 240 242 243
245

243 243
239

235
231

271 271
273 272

275 274
271 270

268

263 264 264 263 264 265 266
268 266 268

265
262 260

291 290 291 290
293 293

291
289 289

285
287 286 285 285 286 287

289 288
290 288

286 285

308
306 305 306

309 309
307 306 307

304
306

304 303 303 304 305
308 306

309 308
306 306

170

180

190

200

210

220

230

240

250

260

270

280

290

300

310

320

330

2003 2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 2015 2017 2019 2022 2024 2003 2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 2015 2017 2019 2022 2024

NAEP Reading Grade 8 
Percentiles: 2003-2024

10th 25th 50th 75th 90th

Montana National Public

B
asic

P
ro

ficie
n

t
B

e
lo

w
 B

asic



16

Montana’s Highlights 

Montana scores well 
compared to West region 
states



NAEP Regions

17



Mathematics – Grade 4

18

244

241 241 241
239 238238

235 235
237

232
234

241 240 239 240

235
237

200

205

210

215

220

225

230

235

240

245

250

255

260

265

270

275

280

285

2013 2015 2017 2019 2022 2024

West Region Comparisons 2024
Mathematics Grade 4

Montana West National Public

N
A

EP
 B

asic
N

A
EP

 P
ro

ficien
t



Mathematics – Grade 8

19

289
287

286
284

277
279

280
279

280
278

272
271

284

281
282

281

273
272

260

265

270

275

280

285

290

295

300

305

310

315

320

325

330

335

2013 2015 2017 2019 2022 2024

West Region Comparisons 2024
Mathematics Grade 8

Montana West National Public

N
A

EP
 B

asic
N

A
EP

 P
ro

ficien
t



Reading – Grade 4

20

223
225

222 222

219
217

216 216
218 218

215
213

221 221 221
219

216
214

200

205

210

215

220

225

230

235

240

245

250

255

260

265

270

2013 2015 2017 2019 2022 2024

West Region Comparisons 2024
Reading Grade 4

Montana West National Public

N
A

EP
 B

asic
N

A
EP

 P
ro

ficien
t



Reading – Grade 8

21

272
270

267
265

261 261

264
262

264

261
259

256

266
264 265

262

259
257

240

245

250

255

260

265

270

275

280

285

290

295

300

305

310

315

320

325

2013 2015 2017 2019 2022 2024

West Region Comparisons 2024
Reading Grade 8

Montana West National Public

N
A

EP
 B

asic
N

A
EP

 P
ro

ficien
t



31

Subgroups/Special Studies

• Race/ethnicity
• Students with Disabilities 

(SD)
• English Learners (EL)
• Gender
• Absenteeism
• National Indian 

Education Study (NIES)

https://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/nies/default.aspx


National Indian Education Study (NIES)

▪ National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) through the National Assessment 
of Educational Progress (NAEP) on behalf of the U.S. Department of Education’s 
Office of Indian Education (OIE).

▪ Fourth- and Eighth grades

▪ Native traditions, languages, and cultures are integrated in their everyday lives.

▪ Students, teachers, and school administrators

▪ Every four years

▪ NIES 2019 - https://nces.ed.gov/use-work/resource-library/report/statistical-
analysis-report/national-indian-education-study-2019?pubid=2021018.  

▪ NIES 2024 results are expected later this year.  

23

https://nces.ed.gov/use-work/resource-library/report/statistical-analysis-report/national-indian-education-study-2019?pubid=2021018


24

Resources
• National Center for Education Statistics 

(NCES) -
https://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/

• National Assessment Governing Board (NAGB) 
- https://www.nagb.gov/

• The Nation’s Report Card -
https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/

• Montana’s OPI NAEP -
https://opi.mt.gov/Leadership/Assessment-
Accountability/MontCAS/NAEP

• National Indian Education Study (NIES) -
https://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/nies/

https://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/
https://www.nagb.gov/
https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/
https://opi.mt.gov/Leadership/Assessment-Accountability/MontCAS/NAEP
https://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/nies/


 

 

 

 

Montana Board of Public Education 
Executive Summary 

 
Date: March 11-12, 2025 

  

Presentation Federal Update 
  
Presenter Julie Murgel 
 
Position Title Chief Program Officer 
 Office of Public Instruction 
Overview Update on Federal Programs 
  
Requested Decision(s) Information Item 
  
Related Issue(s)  
  
Recommendation(s) n/a 
  



 

 
    

1 
 

March 2025 BPE  
Federal Update 

 
Funding Updates 

• The USDA notified state-level agencies that the Food Nutrition Services grants will 
continue as normal, and there will be no interruption in services.  

• REL (Regional Education Laboratories) and Equity Assistance Centers that had contracts 
with ED have been terminated. ED plans to enter into new contracts to satisfy the 
statutory requirements, improve student learning and better serve school districts. The 
OPI had no direct contracts with a REL or an Equity Assistance Center 

• IES (Institute of Education Sciences) also had contracts cancelled. The Superintendent is 
monitoring the situation for any impacts for Montana’s schools.  

• Eighteen federal grants funding Comprehensive Centers (CC) were removed. The grants 
established regional centers to provide capacity-building services to states. Education 
Northwest led the Northwest Comprehensive Center serving Montana, Alaska, Idaho, 
Oregon, and Washington. Recently, the Northwest CC team supported the OPI in 
facilitating task forces for content standards revision, implementation of the Residency 
Program, strategic planning, and innovation in assessment.  

 
New leadership positions at ED are being filled. Here is a look at some of the nominees:   
 

• Nicholas Kent will serve as Under Secretary of Education. He’s coming from Virginia, 
where he worked on higher education policy and making colleges more transparent and 
accountable to students and families. 

• Jennifer Mascott has been nominated as General Counsel. She’s a legal expert with 
experience in the Department of Justice and as a law professor. Her focus will be on 
legal and regulatory issues affecting education. 

• Kimberly Richey is set to become Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights. She’s worked in 
education leadership across several states and at the Department of Education before. 
During both the George W. Bush administration and the Trump administration. She’ll be 
overseeing policies related to civil rights in schools. 

• Kirsten Baesler, who many of you may know as North Dakota’s State Superintendent, 
has been tapped for Assistant Secretary for Elementary and Secondary Education. She’s 
a strong advocate for personalized learning and making sure students graduate ready 
for work, college, or the military. 

• Kevin O’Farrell is stepping into the role of Assistant Secretary for Career and Technical 
Education. He’s coming from Florida, where he’s been focused on workforce education 
and apprenticeship programs. His background aligns with efforts to expand career and 
technical education opportunities for students. 



 
    

2 
 

• Mary Christina Riley will serve as Assistant Secretary for Legislation and Congressional 
Affairs. She’s spent years working on education policy in Congress and will now help 
shape federal education initiatives. 

 
These appointments will likely have an impact on education policy nationwide, and 
Superintendent Hedalen will be keeping an eye on how they shape federal initiatives that could 
affect Montana schools.  



 

 

 

 

Montana Board of Public Education 
Executive Summary 

 
Date: March 11-12, 2025 

  

Presentation Accreditation Update 

  

Presenter Crystal Andrews  

 
Position Title Accreditation and Licensure Senior Manager 

 Office of Public Instruction 

Overview As requested by the BPE, an update will be provided on 
the accreditation process for the 2024-25 school year.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Requested Decision(s) Information only 

  

Related Issue(s) 10.55 
  

Recommendation(s) None 
  



  
 
 
 
 
 

 
Accreditation Update 

Board of Public Education- March 
 
Accreditation Timeline 

 
New Rubric Areas 
L- Integrated Strategic Action Plan- Graduate Profile 
M- Proficiency-Based Learning- Curriculum 
N- Proficiency-Based Learning- Assessment 
O- Educator Effectiveness- Professional Development Plan 
P- Educator Effectiveness- Mentorship and Induction  
Q- Educator Effectiveness- Evaluation 
R- Educational Opportunity- School Climate 
 
District/School Data 
 
Evaluator Review Training 

• March 13-14, 42 OPI employees will gather in Helena for training  
• The training includes groups completing example evidence pieces, calibrating scores, 

and forming meaningful comments  
• Evaluator scoring will continue through mid-April, allowing the accreditation team 

time to review submissions and resolve any discrepancies or technical issues 

To Come 
● Reviews will be complete by May Board of Public Education Meeting 
● Reconvene with the think tank in March to determine cycles and the criteria reference 

guide for SY 25-26 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Presented by Crystal Andrews, Accreditation and Licensure Senior Manager 



 

 

 

Montana Board of Public Education 
Executive Summary 

 
Date: March 2025 

  

Presentation Content Standards Revision Updates 
  
Presenter Marie Judisch 

  
Position Title Senior Manager of Teaching and Learning 

Montana Office of Public Instruction 
  
Overview New Platform for Content Standards 

Math Standards Implementation Work 
ELA Standards Revision Overview 

  
Requested Decision(s)  

  Informational Item – Superintendent’s Report 
Related Issue(s)  
 Content Standards, Accreditation 
Recommendation(s)  
 None 



 

 
    

1 
 

March 2025 BPE  
Content Standards Update 

 
New Hosting Platform for the Montana Content Standards 

- https://mt-satchel.commongoodlt.com/ will be launching soon! 
- The Standards, Instruction, and Professional Learning (SIPL) Team is currently working on 

updating the newly approved standards and creating guidance documents to support the 
educators on this new platform. 

- The platform allows educators to select the standards they are teaching for the week, see vertical 
alignment of the standards, associations to Indian Education for All guidance, and more! 
 

Mathematics Content Standards Implementation Work 
As part of the implementation of the Mathematics Standards, the agency is diligently drafting guidance 
documents to support educators. In developing our vision for this guidance, we recognized that successful 
implementation requires meeting the needs of all stakeholders—not just educators, but also families, 
administrators, community members, and, most importantly, students. This effort goes beyond updating 
standards—it’s about ensuring everyone involved in a child’s education has the tools, resources, and 
understanding needed to support student success. 
Katrina Engeldrum, the OPI’s Math Instructional Coordinator, has been leading this work by collaborating 
with educators across the state to understand their implementation needs. Alongside the SIPL and IEFA 
teams, she has begun drafting comprehensive guidance documents to facilitate the implementation 
process. Professional learning has already begun and will continue to be developed with educator 
feedback and requests. An overview of the initial guidance document development can be seen below, as 
well as an example of guidance on a specific kindergarten math standard.  

 
 
 

https://mt-satchel.commongoodlt.com/


 
    

2 
 

Example of Grade Level Content Standard Drafted Guidance – Kindergarten Standard 

 
 
English Language Arts (ELA) and Literacy Standards: 
The ELA standards are in the Negotiated Rulemaking phase of revisions. The work of the Negotiated 
Rulemaking Committee (NRC) began with an orientation on December 18, 2024, to prepare the 
committee with information to begin the process. As of February 20th, the NRC worked through all K-12 
content standards as presenting by the initial task force. At the request of Superintendent Hedalen, the 
NRC will review additional standards to include cursive penmanship within the content standards where 
developmentally appropriate.   
 
Schedule:  
Negotiated Rulemaking for ELA Content Standards - Orientation 

 December 18, 4:00-6:00pm - Virtual - Agenda 
Rulemaking Sessions #1, #2, #3 - Doubletree Inn - Helena, MT or Virtual 

 January 6, 2025 - 12:00pm - 5:00pm - Agenda - Recording - Minutes 
 January 7, 2025 - 8:30am - 4:30pm - Agenda - Recording - Minutes 
 January 8, 2025 - 8:30 am - 1:00pm - Agenda - Recording - Minutes 

Rulemaking Sessions #4 & 5 - Virtual Only 
 January 30, 2025 - 8:30am - 12:30pm - Agenda - Recording - Minutes 
 January 31, 2025 - 8:30am - 12:30pm - Agenda - Recording - Minutes 

Rulemaking Sessions #6 - Virtual Only 
 February 28, 2025 - 8:30am - 10:30am - Agenda - Recording - Minutes 

 
• NRC Working Consensus Document 

 
Public comment can be made at the end of each rulemaking session or by  
emailing claire.mikeson@mt.gov by 8:30 the morning of rulemaking sessions.  

https://opi.mt.gov/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=J2huhsLZS8M%3d&portalid=182
https://mt-gov.zoom.us/j/81078906447
https://opi.mt.gov/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=xTcURxRzmik%3d&portalid=182
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1AOLaTwxDYvNyWEImPDlcId4eJlGoIZ-p/view?usp=sharing
https://opi.mt.gov/Portals/182/ELA%20NRC%20Session%201%20Minutes.pdf?ver=2025-01-24-133220-453https://opi.mt.gov/Portals/182/ELA%20NRC%20Session%201%20Minutes.pdf?ver=2025-01-24-133220-453
https://opi.mt.gov/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=xTcURxRzmik%3d&portalid=182
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1YgydNcC46LUiENt0McchwfZKpaOawlMC/view?usp=sharing
https://opi.mt.gov/Portals/182/ELA%20NRC%20Session%202%20Minutes.pdf?ver=2025-01-24-133241-050
https://opi.mt.gov/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=xTcURxRzmik%3d&portalid=182
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1IucANfDCjZDYNljuQYcHfKOLzfv9hqUL/view?usp=sharing
https://opi.mt.gov/Portals/182/ELA%20NRC%20Session%203%20Minutes.pdf?ver=2025-01-24-133304-317
https://mt-gov.zoom.us/j/81078906447
https://opi.mt.gov/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=Smh5uIaCfXI%3d&portalid=182
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=dGw_Zu5jwVY
https://opi.mt.gov/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=Smh5uIaCfXI%3d&portalid=182
https://youtu.be/_L9ajV0nLlI
https://mt-gov.zoom.us/j/81078906447
https://opi.mt.gov/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=eqIleQwEKfM%3d&portalid=182
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1JtWK3HACguJ55n73NVAOd7KHXQSfkVes5NkNu-CPUjs/edit?usp=sharing
mailto:claire.mikeson@mt.gov


 
    

3 
 

Montana ELA & Literacy Standards Revision Overview 

Key Objectives of the Revision: 

• Enhancing Early Literacy: The revised standards align with evidence-based practices to 
support students in reaching reading proficiency by 3rd grade. They emphasize the five 
essential components of reading development—phonemic awareness, phonics, 
fluency, vocabulary, and comprehension—to ensure a strong literacy foundation. 

• Simplification & Clarity: The updated standards reduce redundancy, use clear and 
concise language, and are structured for ease of use by educators, families, and the 
community. 

• Integration of Research: The updates incorporate the latest research in literacy 
instruction, including the Science of Reading, to support effective teaching at all grade 
levels. 

• Literacy Practices: Modeled after the Math Practices, new literacy practices emphasize 
transferable reading, writing, and communication skills essential for post-secondary 
success. 

o (1) Literacy practice standard 1 is to practice broad literacy engagement. Literate 
students routinely read a broad range of literary and informational texts for a 
variety of purposes. 

o (2) Literacy practice standard 2 is to practice collaboration. Literate students 
collaborate with others using active communication skills. 

o (3) Literacy practice standard 3 is to practice creativity. Literate students engage 
creatively to express their thoughts, deepen their understanding, and make 
connections. 

o (4) Literacy practice standard 4 is to practice critical thinking. Literate students 
analyze, reason, problem solve and make decisions. 

o 5) Literacy practice standard 5 is to practice cultural considerations. Literate 
students acknowledge and respect diverse cultural perspectives, including those 
of Montana Indigenous Peoples. 

o (6) Literacy practice standard 6 is to practice effective communication. Literate 
students routinely express their ideas through speaking and writing coherently in a 
broad range of literary and informational genres. 

o 7) Literacy practice standard 7 is to practice strategic technology use. Literate 
students effectively and responsibly use technology to access and evaluate 
information to express ideas. 

o (8) Literacy practice standard 8 is to practice student agency. Literate students 
take an active role in their learning, using guidance and feedback to connect their 
skills and knowledge to practical applications, college readiness, and career 
development. 

• Indian Education for All (IEFA): The standards authentically integrate Indigenous 
perspectives, with input from Tribal Education leaders and OPI’s Indian Education For All 
staff. 

• Restructuring for Consistency: Standards are now organized by grade level rather than 
domain, and adjustments include:  



 
    

4 
 

o Merging Reading Literature and Informational Text standards. 
o Embedding language standards into relevant reading, writing, and 

speaking/listening sections. 
o Adding a new Research & Inquiry domain. 

• Guidance Documents: Examples and elaborations have been moved to guidance 
documents, giving educators flexibility while ensuring essential concepts remain in ARM. 

• Enhanced Accessibility: The standards have been refined to remove unnecessary 
language, improve readability, and include a glossary for key terms. 

 

These revisions aim to support educators, empower students, and improve parent and 
community understanding of ELA instruction across Montana. 

 
 

For questions, please contact: Marie Judisch, marie.judisch@mt.gov 



 

 

 

 

Montana Board of Public Education 
Executive Summary 

 
Date: March 11-12, 2025 

  

Presentation Annual School Food Services Report 
  
Presenter Christine Emerson 

  
Position Title School Nutrition Programs Director 
 Office of Public Instruction 
Overview Review of the School Foods Annual Report 
  
Requested Decision(s) Information Item 
  
Related Issue(s)  
  
Recommendation(s) n/a 
  



   

 

Fueling M ana Students 

    MONTANA  

SCHOOL NUTRITION PROGRAMS 

School Year 2023‐2024 



2 

 

12.1 MILLION 
Lunches in 2024 

REVENUE TO MONTANA 

SCHOOLS 

 48.20% OF MONTANA STUDENTS QUALIFY FOR 

FREE OR REDUCED PRICE SCHOOL 

MEALS 

16
3 SCHOOLS OFFER FREE MEALS 

TO ALL STUDENTS THROUGH 

THE COMMUNITY ELIGIBILITY  

PROVISION  (CEP)  

 94%  
   Է schools that Եfer lunch  
  also OFFER BREAKFAST 



 3 

 
In school year 2023‐2024, the Montana Office of Public InstrucƟon (OPI) School NutriƟon Programs (SNP) administered 
U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) Child NutriƟon Programs:  

·   NaƟonal School Lunch Program (NSLP) 
·   School Breakfast Program (SBP) 
·   AŌerschool Snack Program (ASP) 
·   Special Milk Program  (SMP) 
·   Summer Food Service Program (SFSP) 
·   USDA Food DistribuƟon Program (USDA Foods 
·   DOD Fresh Fruit and Vegetable Program (DOD Fresh) 
·   Fresh Fruit and Vegetable Program (FFVP) 
·   Montana Team NutriƟon Program, including Farm to School 
·   SUN Bucks (Summer EBT) *New program started summer 2024 

 
School NutriƟon Programs reimburses sponsors and distributes USDA Foods for meals served to children, teaches 
workshops for school personnel, ensures that schools implement federal regulaƟons, and provides nutriƟon educaƟon 
for students. Sponsors include: public and private schools; government agencies; and nonprofit residenƟal child care 
insƟtuƟons, organizaƟons, and camps. 

VISION 

Empower school nutriƟon program professionals with knowledge as community leaders to provide equitable access to healthy 
meals, nutriƟon educaƟon, and food systems that support the success of Montana’s children. 

MISSION 

The OPI School NutriƟon team collaborates with partners to provide program sponsors with training, support, and resources to 
strengthen program integrity and access to healthy meals.  

GUIDING PRINCIPLES 

Children’s health and academic success is furthered through community driven partnerships and soluƟons bringing recogniƟon 

to the vital role of Montana's passionate child nutriƟon professionals. 

As stewards of public trust and funds, equitable resources and benefit provisions are effecƟvely and efficiently offered with 

indiscriminate respect for all. 

DedicaƟon to providing excepƟonal customer service by remaining responsive and adaptable to the dynamic experiences and 

strengths of sponsor and community partners. 

Decision making and operaƟons management are seeded in evidence‐based pracƟces and real Ɵme data. 

Valuing conƟnuous learning inspires ongoing professional development and leads opportunity for the celebraƟon of progres‐
sive accomplishments. 

Training and technical assistance acƟviƟes yield strengthen self‐efficacy and program outcomes. 

Investments in local food sources promote sustainable food system procurement, and pracƟces. 

Sponsor and school wellness culture is inclusive, supporƟve, and strengthens academic success and wellbeing. 

CONTACT INFORMATION 

 

Montana Office of Public Instruction 
School Nutrition Programs 
PO Box 202501 
Helena, MT  59620‐2501 
406‐444‐2501 

Montana Team Nutrition Program 
Montana State University 
PO Box 173370 
Bozeman, MT  59717‐3360 
406‐994‐5641  



4 

 

Montana Team NutriƟon  
TEAM NUTRITION  CO‐DIRECTOR MOLLY STENBERG, RDN, LN 

TEAM NUTRITION CO‐DIRECTOR / FARM TO SCHOOL COORDINATOR  JAY STAGG 

PROGRAM LEAD HAYLEY SCOTT, MPH 

ADMINISTRATIVE COORDINATOR KYLIE CASSIDY, BA 

  

STAFF 

CONTACT  Phone: 406.444.2501 Email: cemerson@mt.gov  

CONTACT  Phone: 406.994.5641   Email: stenberg@montana.edu 

School NutriƟon Programs  
DIRECTOR     CHRISTINE EMERSON, MS, RD 

ASSISTANT DIRECTOR ERIN TURNER, DTR, SNS 

SUMMER FOOD SERVICE PROGRAM SPECIALIST SARAH KUHN, RD 

PROGRAM SPECIALIST/FFVP MANAGER — MISSOULA KELLI JOHNSON, RD 

PROGRAM SPECIALIST — MISSOULA RACHEL ARIAZ, BS 

PROGRAM SPECIALIST — HELENA SYDNEY DICKINSON, RD 

PROGRAM SPECIALIST — MISSOULA EMILY MADSEN, RD 

PROGRAM SPECIALIST — BOZEMAN ABIGAIL VANORNY, RD 

FOOD DISTRIBUTION MANAGER ERIN BENSON 

FARM TO SCHOOL SPECIALIST AMBER LYMAN, BS 

DATA ANALYST ALIE WOLF 

DATA PROCESSOR ASHLEY BODLE 

ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT TARREN ERICKSON 

PROJECT MANAGER   BITSEY DRAUR 

SOFTWARE DEVELOPER   KELLEY LARSEN 



 5 

 

—Training— 
REGIONAL OPI AND TEAM NUTRITION STAFF 

OPI School NutriƟon Programs and Team NutriƟon have staff located around the state to 
beƩer serve Montana’s rural areas. 

PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS 
80 hours of conƟnuing educaƟon provided by OPI School NutriƟon Programs 

 MT School NutriƟon AssociaƟon Conference (MTSNA)  
 SNP Fall Workshops (in‐person and online)  
 Montana AssociaƟon of School Business Officials (MASBO) 
 Webinars  

 
59 hours of conƟnuing educaƟon provided by MT Team NutriƟon Program 

 Montana School Meals CerƟficate  
 Webinars 

REGIONAL OPI AND TEAM NUTRITION STAFF 
OPI School NutriƟon Programs and Team NutriƟon have staff located around the state to 

beƩer serve Montana’s rural areas. 

MT TEAM NUTRITION 

Montana School Meals CerƟficate training provided 40 hours of comprehensive 
professional development training in‐person and virtually.  Topics included meal paƩern 

components, weekly dietary specificaƟons, and strategies to achieve compliance with USDA 
rules through training on food preparaƟon techniques, recipe standardizaƟon and crediƟng, 

school food forecasƟng, and procurement. SubstanƟal mini‐grant funds (ranging from 
$5000 to $7500) to support staff bonuses, staff or subsƟtute pay, travel costs, food for 

student taste tests, equipment, supplies, and markeƟng materials  
 



6 

 

 —Grants— 
$4,822,443 Total Grant Funds  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FY 2024 NSLP EQUIPMENT ASSISTANCE GRANTS 
$81,843  

 21 equipment grants totaling $81,843 were awarded to local sponsors by the OPI 
 

The Consolidated AppropriaƟons Act, 2023, distributed $30 milling to state agencies to compeƟƟvely award 
Equipment Assistance Grants to eligible school food authoriƟes (SFAs) parƟcipaƟng in the NaƟonal School Lunch 
Program (NSLP). Montana was awarded 81,843. The Equipment Assistance Grants were effecƟve in supporƟng 
SFAs by enabling them to meet equipment needs, which have conƟnued to experience supply chain disrupƟons 
in operaƟng school food service.  

 

LOCAL FOOD FOR SCHOOLS COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT 
November 2022—July 2024 

$727,981 Funds Distributed to 41 Districts 
 
SecƟon 5(c) of the Commodity Credit CorporaƟon Charter Act (15 USC 714c(c)) 
Funds provided for the purpose of purchasing domesƟc, locally grown foods from local producers, small 
businesses, and socially disadvantaged farmers/producers for distribuƟon to schools. 



 7 

 

 —Grants— 
Farm to School State Formula Grant $682,693 

September 2022 — September 2026  
SecƟon 1001 of the American Rescue Plan Act (Public Law 117‐2) 

American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funds to State agencies administering the NaƟonal School Lunch Program (NSLP) to 
improve food and agricultural supply chain resiliency (supply chain resiliency). The funds support State agency efforts 
to coordinate and provide technical assistance to build and increase the capacity of parƟcipaƟng insƟtuƟons to 
procure and use local foods in program meals as well as provide agricultural educaƟon opportuniƟes for parƟcipaƟng 
children. 

FY 2023 Technology InnovaƟon Grant (nTIG) $373,134 
September 2023 — September 2025 

Consolidated AppropriaƟons Act, 2022 (Public Law 117‐103) 
Funds provided to State agencies for the purposes of developing, improving, and maintaining automated informaƟon 
technology systems used to operate and manage all Child NutriƟon (CN) Programs. 

 

FY 2024 Technology InnovaƟon Grant (nTIG) $746,268 
September 2024 — September 2028 

Consolidated AppropriaƟons Act, 2023 (PL 117‐328) and the Consolidated AppropriaƟons Act, 2024 (PL 118‐122) 
Funds provided to State agencies for the purposes of developing, improving, and maintaining automated informaƟon 
technology systems used to operate and manage child nutriƟon programs (i.e., NaƟonal School Lunch Program, 
School Breakfast Program, and Summer Food Service Program)  

FY 2024 Direct CerƟficaƟon Improvement Grant $957,836 
September 2024 — September 2027 

SecƟon 749(h)(1)(A) and (C)(i) of the Agriculture, Rural Development, Food and Drug AdministraƟon, and Related 
Agencies AppropriaƟons Act, 2010 (Public Law 111–80) 
Funds provided to State Agencies for the purposes of implemenƟng, maintaining, and improving high performing 
direct cerƟficaƟon systems. 

 FY2024 Farm to School Grant $454,658 
June 2024 — June 2026 

SecƟon 18(g) of the NSLA (42 U.S.C 1769(g))  

Funds provided to State agencies for the purposes to improve access to local foods in eligible schools, for acƟviƟes 
such as Training; SupporƟng operaƟons; Planning; Purchasing equipment; Developing school gardens; Developing 
partnerships; and ImplemenƟng farm to school programs.  

FY 2024 Team NutriƟon Training Grant $798,030 
September 2024 — September 2027 

Public Law 111–296, which amended SecƟon 19 of the Child NutriƟon Act of 1966 
As authorized under SecƟon 6(a)(3) of the Richard B. Russell NaƟonal School Lunch Act, 42 USC 1755(a)(3), FNS 
provides Team NutriƟon Training Grants to support training and technical assistance for School NutriƟon 
Professionals, nutriƟon educaƟon for students and their caregivers, and acƟviƟes to build a healthy school nutriƟon 
environment. 

 



8 

 

Federal Meal Reimbursement Rates 

 

 

 

The 2023‐2024 School Year reimbursement rates reflect the expiraƟon of the temporary reimbursement rates pro‐
vided under the Keep Kids Fed Act of 2022, which included an addiƟonal 40 cents per school lunch and 15 cents per 

school breakfast meal reimbursement. The reimbursement rates shown in the chart below include the adjustment 

to the base rate for School Year 2023‐2024.   

The 2024 Summer Food Service Program reimbursement rates shown in the chart below include an overall adjust‐
ment to the base rate which increased on average 5.3% from the previous year. These adjustments address chang‐
es in the Consumer Price Index, as required under the Richard B. Russell NaƟonal School Lunch Act. 

Summer 2024 Reimbursement Rates 

Meal Type Rural or Self‐Prep Urban or Vended 

Breakfast 2.9775 2.9225 

Lunch or Dinner 5.2125 5.1300 

Snack 1.2350 1.2050 



 9 

 

 MEALS/SNACKS 
REIMBURSEMENT / 

ENTITLEMENT 

School Breakfast Program   6,172,301 $12,570,022 

NaƟonal School Lunch Program 12,097,908 $34,358,831 

AŌerschool Snack Program 282,282 $299,414 

Special Milk Program 22,077 $6,084 

Summer Food Service Program  1,030,250 $4,305,659 

Fresh Fruit and Vegetable Program — $3,869,161 

USDA Foods EnƟtlement & DOD Fresh — $5,478,064 

Total Grant Funds  — $4,822,443 

Totals 19,604,818 $65,709,678 

SY 2023‐24 PROGRAMS 



10 

 

35,461 
STUDENTS EAT BREAKFAST AT SCHOOL EACH DAY 

6.1 Million 
TOTAL BREAKFASTS 

SERVED  

SCHOOL BREAKFAST PROGRAM 

School Breakfast Meals Served in Montana 

The School Breakfast Program (SBP) provides low‐cost or free 
breakfasts to children to  help start the school day right with a  
healthy breakfast.  

The School Breakfast Program provides reimbursement to 
states to operate nonprofit breakfast programs in schools and 
residenƟal childcare insƟtuƟons. The Food and NutriƟon Ser‐
vice administers the SBP at the federal level. State educaƟon 
agencies administer the SBP at the state level, and local school 
food authoriƟes operate the program in  schools. 

73% of Breakfast 

Meals are Served to 

Free & Reduced  

Eligible Students 



 11 

 

NATIONAL SCHOOL LUNCH PROGRAM 
The NaƟonal School Lunch Program (NSLP) is a federally assisted 
meal program operaƟng in public and nonprofit private schools 
and residenƟal child care insƟtuƟons. It provides nutriƟonally bal‐
anced, low‐cost or free lunches to children each school day. The 
program was established under the NaƟonal School Lunch Act, 
signed by President Harry Truman in 1946. 

The Food and NutriƟon Service (FNS) of the United States Depart‐
ment of Agriculture (USDA) administers the Program at the Feder‐
al level. At the State level, the NSLP is administered by State agen‐
cies, which operate the Program through agreements with school 
food authoriƟes.   

69,944 
STUDENTS EAT LUNCH AT SCHOOL EACH DAY 

School Lunch Meals Served in Montana 



12 

 

$63.14 
ALLOTMENT PER STUDENT 

FRESH FRUIT & VEGETABLE PROGRAM 
The Fresh Fruit and Vegetable Program (FFVP) provides funds to elementary 

schools for fresh fruit and vegetable snacks during the school day. 

44,950 
STUDENTS HAD ACCESS TO FFVP 

 

$3.87 MILLION 
TOTAL FUNDS  

   232  

Schools ParƟcipated in FFVP 



 13 

 

 

282,282 
AFTERSCHOOL SNACKS  SERVED  

AFTERSCHOOL SNACK PROGRAM 

1,920 
STUDENTS EAT A SNACK AFTER SCHOOL EACH DAY 

The AŌerschool Snack Program provides snacks to  
students in educaƟon and enrichment acƟviƟes aŌer school.   



14 

 

SPECIAL MILK PROGRAM 
The Special Milk Program provides reimbursement for milk served at schools that do not offer 

the NaƟonal School Lunch Program or Summer Food Service Program.   

145 
STUDENTS PARTICIPATE IN SPECIAL MILK PROGRAM EACH DAY 

22,077 
PINTS OF MILK  SERVED  

The Special Milk  
Program  

operates at 9 small 
schools that do NOT offer breakfast 

or lunch to students. 



 15 

 

 

ASSISTANCE TO SCHOOLS 

USDA FOODS and DOD FRESH 
The USDA provides schools with USDA Foods and Department of Defense (DOD) Fresh Fruits 

and Vegetables for use in preparing school meals.  

Did You Know…. 

On an average school 
day, USDA Foods make 
up between 15 and 20 

percent of the total 
products served 

100%    

of foods offered through  
USDA Foods/DOD Fresh are 

AMERICAN GROWN 

Schools Received 

$665,627 in fresh 

produce through  

USDA DoD Fresh. 



16 

 



 17 

 

100 Sponsors at 280 Sites 

1,030,250 
  Meals Served  

SUMMER FOOD SERVICE PROGRAM 
The Summer Food Service Program provides free meals to all kids, age 18 and under, 

during the summer months. 

39,623 
Meals Served Daily 

2024 RURAL NON‐CONGREGATE MEAL SERVICE  
125 Non‐Congregate Sites 

545,843 Non‐Congregate Meals Served (53% of Total Meals) 

8%  Increase 
from Prior Year 



18 

 

SUN Bucks (previously Summer EBT) is a new USDA program that began 

in Montana in 2024. 

 

The Montana Office of Public InstrucƟon and Montana Department of 

Public Health and Human Services administer the program together. 

 

FY2024 Issuance: 

 

Total Issuance Per Child: $120 

 

Dates of Issuance: October 30th, October 31st, November 17th, No‐
vember 24th, November 29th, December 13th, 2024  

 Issuance was delayed in the first year because of the need to 
procure a new EBT vendor. 

  

Total Issuance to eligible children: $9,155,400  ($64.11 on a test card) 

 

Total Number of Children Issued: 76,285 

 

Total Number of Households Issued: 46,872 



 19 

 



20 

 



 21 

 



22 

 



 23 

 

In accordance with federal civil rights law and U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) civil rights 
regulations and policies, this institution is prohibited from discriminating on the basis of race, color, 
national origin, sex (including gender identity and sexual orientation), disability, age, or reprisal or 
retaliation for prior civil rights activity. 

Program information may be made available in languages other than English. Persons with disabili-
ties who require alternative means of communication to obtain program information (e.g., Braille, 
large print, audiotape, American Sign Language), should contact the responsible state or local agen-
cy that administers the program or USDA’s TARGET Center at (202) 720-2600 (voice and TTY) or 
contact USDA through the Federal Relay Service at (800) 877-8339. 

To file a program discrimination complaint, a Complainant should complete a Form AD-3027, USDA 
Program Discrimination Complaint Form which can be obtained online at: https://www.usda.gov/
sites/default/files/documents/ad-3027.pdf, from any USDA office, by calling (866) 632-9992, or by 
writing a letter addressed to USDA. The letter must contain the complainant’s name, address, tele-
phone number, and a written description of the alleged discriminatory action in sufficient detail to in-
form the Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights (ASCR) about the nature and date of an alleged civil 
rights violation. The completed AD-3027 form or letter must be submitted to USDA by: 

1. mail: U.S. Department of Agriculture Office of the Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights 1400 Inde-
pendence Avenue, SW Washington, D.C. 20250-9410; or 

2. fax: (833) 256-1665 or (202) 690-7442; or 

3. email: Program.Intake@usda.gov 

 

This institution is an equal opportunity provider.  



24 

 

VISIT:   

opi.mt.gov/schoolnutriƟon  

Want to learn more about  

School NutriƟon Programs  
in Montana? 



ITEM 4 
 
 
 

COMMISSIONER OF HIGHER EDUCATION 
REPORT 

 
 

Dr. Angela McLean 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ITEM 5 
 
 

GOVERNOR’S OFFICE REPORT 
 
 

Dylan Klapmeier 
 
 
 
 
 

  



ITEM 6 
 
 

STUDENT REPRESENTATIVE REPORT 
 
 

Gavin Mow 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 MACIE LIAISON - (Item 7) 
 
 

Julia Maxwell 
 
 

ITEM 7  
 
 

MACIE REPORT 
 
 

Jordann Lankford Forster 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

MONTANA ADVISORY COUNCIL ON INDIAN EDUCATION 
ADVISORY TO THE BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION AND 
SUPERINTENDENT OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION 
 

Montana Board of Public Education 
MACIE Summary 

March 2025 
 
Presentation     MACIE Report  
 
Presenter     Jordann Lankford Forster 
 
Position Title     MACIE Chair 
 
Overview The purpose of MACIE is to provide 

recommendations and guidance to the Board of 
Public Education and the Office of Public 
Instruction on initiatives and actions aimed at 
increasing American Indian student achievement. 
As your advisory board, and partner in American 
Indian education improvement, we offer the 
following report: 

 
Related Issue(s) February MACIE Meeting 
   
Recommendations None  
 
 
 



   CHARTER COMMITTEE – (Items 8-10) 
 
 

Dr. Ron Slinger 
 
 

ITEM 8 
 
 

UPDATE ON COMMUNITY CHOICE 
SCHOOL COMMISSION 

 
 

Trish Schreiber 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ITEM 9 
 
 

ACTION ON THE BOZEMAN SCHOOL 
DISTRICT BOARD OF TRUSTEES’ 

REQUEST FOR DISSOLUTION OF THE 
BOZEMAN ONLINE PUBLIC CHARTER 

SCHOOL 
 
 

Superintendent Casey Bertram, Bozeman 
School District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 













ITEM 10 
 
 

ACTION ON THE JEFFERSON COUNTY 
SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD OF TRUSTEES’ 

REQUEST FOR DISSOLUTION OF THE 
JEFFERSON ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER 

SCHOOL 
 
 
 

 
Superintendent Erik Wilkerson, Jefferson 

County School District 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 









 ACCREDITATION COMMITTEE – (Item 11)

Madalyn Quinlan 

ITEM 11 

JOINT ACCREDITATION PROPOSAL 
WORK SESSION 

Dr. Julie Murgel, OPI
Crystal Andrews, OPI

Daniel Sybrant, COGNIA



 
    BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION TOURS  

 
 
1:00 PM  EARLY LITERACY TARGETED 

INTERVENTION CLASSROOM TOUR 
 Eastgate Elementary School 
 4010 Gradestake St, East Helena, MT  
 
1:45 PM  EAST HELENA 227 ACADEMY MIDDLE 

SCHOOL TOUR 
 227 Academy, East Valley Middle School 
 400 Kalispell Ave N, East Helena, MT 
 
 2:15 PM EAST HELENA 227 ACADEMY HIGH 

SCHOOL TOUR AND ROUNDTABLE 
DISCUSSION 

 227 Academy, East Helena High School 
 2760 Valley Dr, East Helena, MT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



******TIME CERTAIN AT 3:15 PM****** 

 LICENSURE COMMITTEE – (Items 12-13)

Dr. Ron Slinger 

ITEM 12 

ACTION ON INITIAL REVIEW OF BPE 
CASE #2025-01, REGER 

Aislinn Brown 



ITEM 13 
 
 

ACTION ON CONTESTED CASE HEARING 
BPE CASE #2024-09, EVANS 

 
 

Aislinn Brown 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



**********CLOSED SESSION********** 

 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE – (Items 14-15)

Dr. Tim Tharp 

ITEM 14 

DISCUSSION OF YELLOW 
KIDNEY SETTLEMENT 

Aislinn Brown 

***********OPEN SESSION************ 



ITEM 15 

ACTION ON YELLOW KIDNEY 
SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

Dr. Tim Tharp 



MARCH 12, 2025 
 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
 

A. Pledge of Allegiance  
B. Roll Call 
C. Statement of Public Participation 
D. Welcome Visitors 

 
  



 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE – (Item 16)

Dr. Tim Tharp 

ITEM 16 

PRESENTATION ON ARTIFICIAL 
INTELLIGENCE IN EDUCATION 

Dr. Jason Neiffer 



 MSDB LIAISON – (Item 17)

Lisa Schmidt 

ITEM 17 

MSDB REPORT 

Paul Furthmyre 

ACTION ITEMS: 
 Action on Out of State Travel Requests

 Action on Personnel Items
 Action on 2nd Reading MSDB 2025-2026 

School Calendar



Montana School for the Deaf and the Blind 
Board of Public Education Report 

March 2025 
 
Agenda Action Items: 
 

1. Personnel Action Report 
15 Hires 
1 Retirements 
3 Resignations 
1 Probationary Layoff 
 

2. Out of State Travel Requests 
 AASA Authentic Family Engagement 
 

3. Final Reading for 25-26 School Calendar 
Calendar B 

 
 
Attached Documents: 

● MSDB Committee Bi-Monthly Meeting Agenda 
● MSDB Committee Bi-Monthly Meeting Minutes 
● 2/25/25 Financial Statement 
● Cottage February Report 
● Current Numbers 
● Referral Status 
● Outreach DHH Map 
● Outreach VI Map 

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1bJcE7kxZUEbgn8feRwUfZF7RG39USirMS4dNlfqtCLM/edit?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1ZZYzo1zOn61n47QV2_F78TvJjYUeN43k/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1dqv_CXvmYFBM9_r-PAtjopVbf1IPgYA-/view?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1ISHJt3qRD4i6YG9nI3xgpcMmuJaARqGEiT88ma3cJjI/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1keLINJOyDmZdHxoPdYP7AQRb602Rd6Vh/edit?usp=sharing&ouid=117298687530580090600&rtpof=true&sd=true
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1VFpEcRhTvvY3OI3-YQ5FpXOWcea604xU/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1Jfubx0jhjigTu8xhXU0lRtpli36RilZb/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1OcOUYb-7MaiL-jkH7arg9Js2dEAdL66p/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1zOc1KfaM9FzvcAkWmlsPL_X9ozlkrEfg/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1V3H3NC9cscIY8_2yDWMdapnHDLwaY9ym/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1illUVaIQKaXLjtotQVRanthiFW1ZxSQM/view?usp=sharing






















































 LICENSURE COMMITTEE – (Items 18-20)

Dr. Ron Slinger 

ITEM 18 

ACTION ON REGENERATED TEST 
REVIEW AND QUALIFYING SCORE FOR 

SOCIAL STUDIES, TECHNICAL EDCATION, 
AND FAMILY AND CONSUMUER SCIENCE  

Crystal Andrews 



Montana Board of Public Education 
Executive Summary 

Date: March 11-12, 2025 

Presentation ETS Praxis Fall Test Review(s) 
Panel Review and Recommendations 

Presenter Crystal Andrews   

Position Title Accreditation and Licensure Senior Manager 
Office of Public Instruction 

Overview The current Social Studies Test #5081, Family and 
Consumer Science Test #5122, and Technology Education 
Test #5051 will be retiring in August 2025. The 
regenerated test(s) will need a qualifying score set for the 
state of Montana. This is a request for action from the 
board after hearing the recommendations from the Praxis 
Working Committee and Montana Council of Deans of 
Education.  

Requested Decision(s) Action Item-  
To recommend approval of the regenerated tests and 
qualifying scores for three Praxis exams. 

Related Issue(s) 

Recommendation(s) To recommend approval of the regenerated test #5581 
Social Studies and the qualifying score of 153. 
To recommend approval of the regenerated test #5123 
Consumer Science and the qualifying score of 153. 
To recommend approval of the regenerated test #5053 
Technology Education and the qualifying score of 153. 



1 
 

 

 

\ 

 

ETS Praxis Fall Test Review(s) 
Panel Review and Recommendations 

Action Item 
 

Social Studies Test Review 
• Social Studies: Content Knowledge #5081 replaced with #5581 Social Studies 
• Panel met virtually October 8, 2024, 2-3:20pm 
• Panel of 4 teachers and 4 EPP faculty, (plus 3 PWC members/observers) 
• Regenerated test with current test sunsetting in August 2025 
 

What has Changed? 

 
Data Review 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Panel General Feedback 

• Discussion of the vast amount of content and time periods with a Broadfield test; need for more document-
based questions, concerns about the geography section and geographic skills but overall, okay with the test 

 

Panel Recommendation  



2 
 

• First vote: 8 said 153 and 1 said 160 
o Discussion – wanted the rigor but realities of teacher retention and recruitment if we go higher than 

surrounding states, transferability 
• Second vote: 7 said 153 and 1 said 160 
• Final recommendation is 153 (7-1 vote) 

PWC and MCDE Recommendation(s) 
• Both voted unanimously for the cut score of 153. 
 

Family Consumer Science Test Review 
• Family and Consumer Sciences #5122 replaced with #5123 (same name) 
• Panel met virtually October 8, 2024, 2-4:05pm 
• Panel of 3 teachers, 1 EPP faculty, 1 OPI content specialist 
• Regenerated test with current test sunsetting in August 2025 

 

What has Changed? 

 

Data Review  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Panel General Feedback  
• Discussion of difficulties with such a broad field/discipline, questions regarding career pathways, financial 

questions, customer vs client, but overall, okay with test 
 

Panel Recommendation 
• First vote: 151=2, 144=1, 158=2 
• Significant Discussion – wanted the rigor but realities of teacher retention and recruitment if we go higher than 

surrounding states, struggling with deciding what to do; not comfortable going as high as 158, concerns about no 
data 



3 
 

• Second vote: 153 (5-0) with a request to review the results in two years (25-26, 26-27 so summer/early fall 2027) 
PWC and MCDE Recommendation(s) 

• Both voted unanimously for the cut score of 153 with a review of test completer data in Fall 2027. 
 
Technology Education Test Review  

• Technology Education #5051 replaced with #5053 Technology and Engineering Education 
• Panel met virtually October 8, 2024, 2-2:50pm 
• Panel of 1 EPP faculty and 1 OPI content specialist 
• Regenerated test with current test sunsetting in August 2025 

 

What has Changed? 

 
 

Data Review 
 

 
Panel General Feedback 

• Overall positive feedback with concerns over only a handful of questions 
 

Panel Recommendation 
• First vote: split between 157 and 151 
• Discussion of leaning toward lower because of the diversity of the field in Montana, recruitment in this high-

need field, and looking at surrounding states  
• Second vote: 153 (2-0) 

PWC and MCDE Recommendation(s) 
• Both voted unanimously for the cut score of 153. 



 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: OFFICE OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION 
CRYSTAL ANDREWS, ACCREDITATION AND LICENSURE SENIOR MANAGER  

FROM: MONTANA COUNCIL OF DEANS OF EDUCATION (MCDE) 

DR. TRICIA SEIFERT, CO-CHAIR 
DR. JOE HELBLING, CO-CHAIR 

SUBJECT: TEST REVIEW – PRAXIS FOR SOCIAL STUDIES BROADFIELD, FAMILY & CONSUMER SCIENCE, AND TECHNOLOGY 
EDUCATION 

DATE: FEBRUARY 10, 2025 

On October 8, 2024, three panels met to review Praxis tests for the following endorsement areas:  

● Social Studies Broadfield   
● Faculty & Consumer Sciences 
● Technology Education Broadfield 

This memo details the discussion of the Praxis Working Committee following the panels’ efforts and the 
recommendation coming from the Montana Council of Deans of Education.  

Social Studies. The Social Studies Praxis test of content knowledge (#5081) has been replaced with test 
#5581. The distribution of items across content areas has changed with a greater percentage of items 
focusing on American History and Civics than in the previous version; the number of questions has 
increased by 20 items and the time to complete has also increased by 30 minutes. The PWC discussed and 
voted unanimously to recommend a cut score at 153. The MCDE voted unanimously to accept the 
recommendation of the PWC at its meeting on Nov 19, 2024.  

Recommendation: The MCDE unanimously recommends the cut score of 153 for the Praxis test #5581 
Social Studies. 
 



Family & Consumer Science. The Family & Consumer Sciences Praxis test of content knowledge (#5122) 
has been replaced with test #5123. The distribution of items across content areas has changed modestly; 
the number of questions has increased by 10 items and the time to complete has also increased by 10 
minutes. The panel of reviewers felt the test was appropriate. The PWC discussion centered primarily on 
identifying the cut score in light of teacher recruitment and retention in this area. The PWC voted 
unanimously to recommend a cut score at 153 and requested to review the results of test completers in 
Fall 2027. The MCDE voted unanimously to accept the recommendation of the PWC at its meeting on Nov 
19, 2024.  

Recommendation: The MCDE unanimously recommends the cut score of 153 for the Family & Consumer 
Sciences Praxis test #5123 and a review of test completer data in Fall 2027. 
 

Technology Education. The Technology Education Praxis test of content knowledge (#5051) has been 
replaced and renamed with the Technology & Engineering Education test #5053. The distribution of items 
across content areas has changed to reflect the fundamentals of engineering; the number of questions nor 
the time to complete has changed. The panel of reviewers felt the test was appropriate with generally 
positive feedback. The PWC discussion centered primarily on identifying the cut score in light of the 
diversity of the field in Montana, recruitment in this high-need field, and looking at surrounding states. 
The PWC voted unanimously to recommend a cut score at 153. The MCDE voted unanimously to accept 
the recommendation of the PWC at its meeting on Nov 19, 2024.  

Recommendation: The MCDE unanimously recommends the cut score of 153 for the Technology & 
Engineering Education test #5053. 
 

 

2 



ITEM 19 

ACTION ON MONTANA STATE 
UNIVERSITY SPECIAL EDUCATION 

CERTIFICATION PROGRAM

Crystal Andrews 



 

 

 

 

Montana Board of Public Education 
Executive Summary 

 
Date: March 11-12, 2025 

  

Presentation Recommend Initial Approval of Montana State 
University’s Request to Implement: Special Education 
Certificate.  

  

Presenter Crystal Andrews  

 
Position Title Accreditation and Licensure Senior Manager 

 Office of Public Instruction 

Overview The State Superintendent recommends initial approval of  
Montana State University’s request to implement a 
Special Education Certificate. 
 
Program guidelines and timeline are included in the BPE 
Agenda Packet. 

  

Requested Decision(s) Action Item 

  

Related Issue(s) 10.58.802 Approval of New Curricular Programs 
  

Recommendation(s) Approve Montana State University’s request to implement 
a Special Education Certificate.  

  



1 
 

 
 
 

APPROVAL OF NEW CURRICULAR PROGRAMS  
APPLICATION GUIDELINES 

 

Montana State University- Special Education Certificate 
Administrative Rules of Montana 10.58.802 

 
Step 1: Initial Approval Date Submitted 
Educator Preparation Provider (EPP) curriculum process 
and procedures. 

Summer 2024 

Institutional body implements policy to add new 
programs.  

Summer 2024 

Institutional governing body, i.e., board of directors, 
institutional leadership, or Board of Regents, as 
applicable, approves new program application. 

September 2024 

Verification of regional accreditation. 
 

September 2024 

 
Step 2: Application Process Date Submitted 
EPP completes the Institutional Self-Study Report (ISSR) to 
address Administrative Rules of Montana (ARM)10.58.802 
Approval of New Curricular Programs. 

September 2024 

EPP completes sections of the ISSR unit standards 
addressing how the new curricular program is aligned with 
ARM 10.58.311 – 315   

September 2024 

EPP completes sections of the ISSR: ARM 10.58.501 
Teaching Standards for endorsement subject areas; and 
specific sections of ARM related to the new program. 

September 2024 

EPP provides support material and resources as needed to 
respond to the Specific ISSR Sections – use electronic links 
as applicable, e.g., online Web links containing additional 
resources and support material, catalogs, programs of 
studies, assessment system information, surveys of need. 

September 2024 

 
Step 3: Application Submission Date Submitted 
EPP submits completed ISSR electronically to the OPI. 
 

October 2, 2024 

 
Step 4: Office Audit/Review Date Submitted 
OPI conducts the audit/review of the application 
materials.  

November 2024 



2 
 

 
OPI provides an electronic report to EPP with comments 
and specific requests for additional documentation. 
 

December 2024 

EPP submits a follow-up report/response to OPI, as 
necessary. 
 

December 2024 

 
Step 5: Site Visit Date Submitted 
If the EPP is scheduled for a regular site review, the new 
program is included in the regular review.   
 

N/A 

If the EPP is not scheduled for a regular review within the 
next two years, the OPI will conduct a site review to verify 
the ISSR of the new curricular program meets the PEPP 
Standards.  

Fall 2026 

OPI facilitates the site review to verify the ISSR meets the 
PEPP Standards of the new program. 
 

Fall 2026 

Site Visits follow the approved state protocol based on the 
PEPP Standards. 
 

Fall 2026 

 
Step 6: Final Approval Process Date Submitted 
Site visitor team submits the state exist report to the state 
superintendent. 
 

January 2027 

State Superintendent of Public Instruction makes 
recommendation to approve/disapprove the proposed 
new curricular program to the BPE based upon the site 
team report. 
 

March 2027 

BPE takes final action on the Superintendent’s 
recommendation.  
 

May 2027 

 



ITEM 20 
 
 

REVIEW DRAFT COUNCIL FOR THE 
ACCREDITATION OF EDUCATOR 

PREPARATION MEMORANDUM OF 
UNDERSTANDING 

 
 

Crystal Andrews 
 

  



 

 

Montana Board of Public Education 
Executive Summary 

 
Date: March 11-12, 2025 

  

Presentation Council for Accreditation of Educator Preparation (CAEP) 
Agreement 

  

Presenter Crystal Andrews  
 
Position Title Accreditation and Licensure Senior Manager 
 Office of Public Instruction 
Overview The Partnership Agreement is between three parties: the 

Montana Board of Public Education, the Montana State 
Superintendent of Public Education, and the Council for the 
Accreditation of Educator Preparation (CAEP).  
 
CAEP is a nongovernment, voluntary association that is a 
nationally recognized accreditor by the Council for Higher 
Education Accreditation (CHEA). Through an Accreditation 
Council, CAEP accredits Educator Preparation Programs EPP).  
 
The purpose of this partnership agreement is to:  
• Outline preferences about program review options,  
• Review team compositions for accreditation site review 
conducted by CAEP of the Montana EPPs, and  
• Establish the responsibilities that each party has in supporting 
CAEP Accreditation activities for EPPS voluntarily requesting 
joint reviews.  
 
This partnership agreement is for MT EPPs that elect to have a 
joint accreditation for the State and CAEP. The agreement is for 
1 year, from July 1, 2025, to June 30, 2026.   

  
Requested Decision(s) Information only 
  
Related Issue(s) None 
  
Recommendation(s) None 
  



 

1 

Montana Board of Public Education,  
the Montana State Superintendent of Public Education 

and 
The Council for the Accreditation of Educator Preparation (CAEP) 

Partnership Agreement 
 
 
Whereas, CAEP is a nongovernmental, voluntary membership organization committed to the effective 
preparation of teachers and other P-12 professional educators; and 
 
Whereas, CAEP, through an autonomous Accreditation Council, accredits educator preparation 
providers (EPP’s) and advances excellent educator preparation through evidence-based accreditation 
that assures quality and supports continuous improvement to strengthen P-12 student learning; and 
 
Whereas, CAEP is a nationally recognized accreditor, having earned recognition by the Council for 
Higher Education Accreditation (CHEA), and is seeking recognition by the United States Secretary of 
Education, and, therefore, develops policy and procedures aligned with all applicable requirements of 
CHEA and, to the extent practicable, the U.S. Department of Education; and 
 
Whereas, the Montana Board of Public Education (BPE), herein referred to as the State, supports 
continuous improvement in educator preparation. 
 
CAEP, and the State hereby enter into this agreement detailing the State’s preferences with regard to 
program review options and review team composition for accreditation Site Reviews conducted by 
CAEP of EPP’s operating within the State and establishing the primary responsibilities each party has in 
supporting CAEP’s accreditation activities involving all such EPP’s. 
 
1. CAEP Standards and Scope of Accreditation 
 

The Parties understand and agree that: 
 

The CAEP Board of Directors (CAEP Board or Board) has adopted standards (CAEP Standards or 
Standards) that serve as the basis for all accreditation reviews undertaken by CAEP. 
  

1.1. As a result of the ongoing critical self-review that CAEP undertakes to maintain and improve the 
quality of CAEP accreditation, the CAEP Board will undertake a comprehensive review and 
revision of the CAEP Standards on a schedule set by the Board and may, as needed, make interim 
amendments to the Standards. In making any such changes, CAEP will seek stakeholder and public 
input, including input from the State and its EPP’s.  
 

1.2. It is the responsibility of the State and any EPP’s seeking or continuing CAEP accreditation to stay 
informed of any changes made to the CAEP Standards and the timeline(s) set by the Board for the 
implementation of or transition to new or revised Standards. 
 

1.3. The CAEP scope of accreditation, defined in policy, distinguishes between two levels of educator 
preparation:   



 

2 

 
1.3.1.1. Initial-Licensure Preparation is provided through programs at the baccalaureate or 

post-baccalaureate levels leading to initial-licensure, certification, or endorsement that are 
designed to develop P-12 teachers. All Initial-Licensure Preparation programs within the 
Scope of Accreditation will be reviewed under CAEP Standards for Initial-Licensure. 

 
1.3.1.2. Advanced-Level Preparation is provided through programs at the post-baccalaureate or 

graduate level leading to licensure, certification, or endorsement. Advanced-Level 
Programs are designed to develop P-12 teachers who have already completed an initial-
licensure program, currently licensed administrators, other certificated (or similar state 
language) school professionals for employment in P-12 schools/districts. All Advanced-
Level programs within the Scope of Accreditation will be reviewed under CAEP 
Standards for Advanced-Level Preparation. 

 
2. CAEP’s Responsibility for Education Preparation Provider (EPP) Accreditation 

 
The Parties understand and agree that: 
 

2.1. CAEP, through the Accreditation Council, has sole responsibility for granting CAEP accreditation 
to an EPP, and for supporting and overseeing NCATE- and TEAC- accredited EPP’s through 
continuous accreditation and the CAEP eligibility processes described in CAEP policy.  
 

2.2. The process required for accreditation by CAEP is outlined in policies and procedures. Policies and 
procedures may be revised from time to time. It is the responsibility of the State and any EPP 
seeking CAEP accreditation to stay informed of any such changes as they may impact the CAEP 
accreditation process from the time of their adoption or publication. 

 
3. State’s Responsibility for Program Approval 
 

The Parties understand and agree that: 
 
3.1. The State has responsibility for program approval. In granting program approval, the State will 

utilize information generated from CAEP’s review(s) of an EPP, including but not limited to an 
Accreditation Council decision on CAEP accreditation and the assignment of any Areas for 
Improvement (AFIs) and Stipulations, as described in CAEP policy. Although the State may elect to 
have state-specific standards and/or requirements incorporated into the CAEP review, consistent 
with the program review options outlined below, only information gathered on an EPP’s 
compliance with CAEP Standards and requirements will be used by the Accreditation Council to 
make a decision.  

 
3.2. The State will periodically review its program review requirements against the CAEP Standards and 

policies and will, in a timely manner, make CAEP aware of any conflicts or potential 
inconsistencies so that all parties to this agreement are aware of any such issues and can work 
constructively together to minimize any challenges that may arise from them. 
 

 



 

3 

 
4. CAEP Accreditation Cycle 
 

The Parties understand and agree that: 
 
4.1. The CAEP accreditation cycle involves an EPP in continuous improvement and requires an EPP to 

demonstrate that it meets CAEP’s high standards of quality required to improve P-12 student 
learning.  
 

4.2. To merit full accreditation by CAEP, an EPP must meet all CAEP Standards on the basis of 
sufficient and accurate evidence.  
 

 
4.3. A Site Review, carried out by an Evaluation Team, is an essential part of the accreditation process. 

Members of the assigned team investigate the quality of an EPP’s evidence, including the accuracy 
and consistency of the evidence provided in relation to CAEP Standards. In accordance with CAEP 
policy, CAEP may utilize a virtual site review or may have one or more Evaluation Team members 
participating using electronic means.  

 
4.4. The State elects that CAEP’s reviews of EPPs in the State will be carried out using Evaluation 

Teams composed as follows:   
4.4.1. Joint Review Team. For any review except one required in conjunction with an 

accreditation decision of Accreditation with Stipulations or Probationary Accreditation, the 
composition of the Evaluation Team will be as follows: 

4.4.1.1. For a Review involving only one level of accreditation (i.e., initial or advanced), 
the Joint Review Team includes four national reviewers appointed by CAEP and up to 
three reviewers appointed by the State.  

4.4.1.2. For a Review involving both levels of accreditation, initial and advanced-level, 
the Evaluation Team will include five CAEP-appointed reviewers and up to four state-
appointed reviewers.  

4.4.1.3. For a Stipulation or Probation review, the Evaluation Team is comprised of two 
CAEP-appointed reviewers. The state may choose to add one reviewer for a total of a 
three-person team. The lead reviewer is appointed by CAEP. 

4.4.1.4. The State shall provide CAEP with its recommended Evaluation Team members within 
any timelines established by CAEP. If the State is unable to appoint members, CAEP will 
appoint from its pool of volunteers trained to serve as Evaluation Team members a CAEP-only 
team. All such teams are led by an Evaluation Team chair (or Evaluation Team leader) appointed 
by CAEP.  

 
4.5. Prior to assignment to any CAEP Evaluation Team, an individual must have successfully completed 

CAEP training for review team members and must acknowledge understanding of, and agreement 
to, adhere to CAEP’s code of conduct, including with regard to confidentiality and conflicts of 
interest. 

 
4.6. Each Evaluation Team shall include a P-12 practitioner, when possible. The State will make 

recommendations for P-12 practitioners through the CAEP accreditation platform. 



 

4 

 
4.7. At the discretion of the State, the State’s teachers’ association(s) may appoint one (1) representative 

per association to observe the Site Review. Any expenses associated with the attendance of an 
observer must be covered by the association(s) or State. Prior to participation, any observer must 
acknowledge understanding of an agreement to adhere to CAEP’s policies and procedures regarding 
Site Reviews and the CAEP code of conduct, including with regard to confidentiality and conflicts 
of interest.  

 
4.8. All Site Review activities undertaken by a CAEP Evaluation Team will be conducted in accordance 

with CAEP policies and procedures. 
 

4.9. CAEP is not responsible for Site Review expenses for state-assigned personnel.  
 

4.10. An EPP that is subject to the jurisdiction of the State may choose from among any of the following 
program review options for CAEP accreditation:  

 
4.10.1. Specialty Program Review with National Recognition. The goal of the specialized 

professional association (SPA) Program Review with National Recognition is to align 
specialty licensure area data with national standards developed by SPAs in order to receive 
national recognition at the program level. The Evaluation Team will consider evidence that 
the EPP presents as gathered from the National Recognition decision-making process and 
made available in SPA program level reports to meet the sufficiency criteria related to 
CAEP Standard R1, Component R1.2 (Initial) and/or Standard RA.1, Component RA1.2 
(Advanced).  

 
4.10.2. State Review by State Authority. The State conducts program reviews for purposes 

of State approval and to inform CAEP accreditation. An EPP undergoing the State Review 
option will follow State guidelines. The State provides forms and instructions on how to 
meet all State standards for licensure/certificate program approval. Upon an EPP’s 
completion of the State authority forms, trained reviewers are selected and assigned within 
appropriate content areas. Reviewers make recommendations for further action and/or 
approval. The State makes the final decision on the approval of any program. The CAEP 
Evaluation Team will consider evidence that the EPP presents as gathered from the State 
Review process to meet the sufficiency criteria related to CAEP Standard R1, Component 
RA1.2 (Initial) and/or Standard RA1, Component RA1.2 (Advanced). 

 
 
4.10.3. CAEP Evidence Review of Standard 1/A.1. Evidence for the CAEP Evidence Review 

of Standard 1/A.1 process is developed through the analysis of an EPP’s outcome 
assessment data aligned to specialty licensure area standards delineated in CAEP Standard 
R1, Component RA1.2 (Initial) and/or Standard A1, Component RA1.2 (Advanced). 
Evidence from the EPP’s internal assessment may be used by the state to determine its 
alignment with state required standards in the respective area(s) of licensure to demonstrate 
candidates’ ability to apply content and pedagogical knowledge in the area of licensure. 

 



 

5 

4.11. The specific timeline established for the review of an EPP, as well as CAEP’s consideration of 
any request for an extension, will be decided by CAEP or the Accreditation Council, as appropriate, 
on a case-by-case basis and in accordance with CAEP policies. 

 
4.12. Once granted full accreditation by CAEP, an EPP’s term of accreditation shall be seven (7) 

years. Shorter terms are granted with a decision of Accreditation with Stipulations or Probationary 
Accreditation. Throughout its term, to maintain accreditation, an EPP must comply with CAEP 
policies, including policies regarding payment of annual dues and the submission of annual reports. 

 
4.13. An EPP for which the Accreditation Council issues a decision to deny or revoke accreditation 

may have a right to petition for an appeal subject to CAEP’s policy on appeals.   
 

4.14. The State will provide to CAEP its policy leading to a “Change in State Status.” The State will 
notify CAEP within thirty (30) days of action taken when a CAEP-accredited EPP has had a 
“Change in State Status” as a result of a decision on specialized professional association (SPA) 
program status by the State. 

 
4.15. Accreditation-specific terminology and definitions used by CAEP as part of its EPP review and 

accreditation processes may vary from similar terms and definitions used by the State. Any 
definitions of key terms and glossaries created by CAEP are available on the CAEP website 
[http://caepnet.org/glossary]. The State should inquire with CAEP about the definition of any term 
if there is uncertainty regarding its meaning in the CAEP accreditation context. 

 
 
5. Opportunities for State Input  
 

The Parties understand and agree that: 
 
5.1. CAEP will afford the State multiple opportunities to provide CAEP, the Evaluation Team, and 

members of the Accreditation Council with any information or data the State deems relevant to the 
accreditation of an EPP, as follows: 

 
5.2. At least sixteen (16) weeks prior to any scheduled Site Review, CAEP will give the State 

notice of the upcoming Site Review. At any time, up to six (6) weeks before the scheduled Site 
Review, the State may provide CAEP with comments and information on the EPP for consideration 
by the Evaluation Team. EPP’s will be given an opportunity to respond to any such comments prior 
to the Site Review. 

 
5.3. At any time, the State may file a complaint regarding an EPP with the Accreditation Council for 

investigation and consideration as part of the EPP’s ongoing cycle of CAEP accreditation. In 
accordance with CAEP policy, adverse action may result from any such investigation. 

 
5.4. In the event an EPP within the State petitions for the appeal of an adverse action of the 

Accreditation Council, CAEP will notify the State that such petition has been received. Any 
notification of a decision made by an ad-hoc appeal panel will be made in accordance with Section 
7, below, and the detailed notification provisions included in CAEP policy. 



 

6 

 
6. Decisions of the Accreditation Council and an Ad-Hoc Appeals Council 

 
The Parties understand and agree that: 

 
6.1. The Accreditation Council makes decisions regarding the accreditation of EPP’s at meetings held 

not less than two (2) times each year.  
 

6.2. Following any decision of the Accreditation Council to deny or revoke the accreditation of an EPP, 
the EPP is promptly informed of its option to file a petition for an appeal and appeal requirements. 
Appeals criteria and process information are included in CAEP’s policies on appeals. 

 
6.3. CAEP provides written notice of each decision of the Accreditation Council and an Ad-hoc Appeal 

Panel in accordance with CAEP policies. 
 

 
6.4. The written notice CAEP provides regarding its accrediting decisions, includes notice to the 

appropriate State licensing or authorizing agency which may be a party to this agreement. CAEP’s 
policies regarding notices specify the parties to which notice must be provided and the respective 
timelines for each.  

 
7. Data Sharing 
 

The Parties understand and agree that: 
 
7.1. The CAEP Standards and process for CAEP Accreditation require an EPP to collect and share data. 

To the extent that the State maintains data necessary for CAEP’s review of an EPP, subject to any 
data sharing agreement that may exist between an EPP and the State, CAEP expects that the State 
will make the relevant data available to EPP’s at no cost, in a timely manner, with all personally 
identifiable information removed or redacted, and with all appropriate permissions to use the data 
for CAEP accreditation activities. 

 
7.2. In order to facilitate the reviews necessary for CAEP accreditation, CAEP will provide the State and 

each dues paying EPP in the State with access to the CAEP accreditation platform, CAEP’s data 
and information management system. Should the State or any EPP fail to pay annual dues to CAEP 
in a timely manner, CAEP reserves the right to suspend access to the CAEP accreditation platform 
until any outstanding dues are paid.  

 
7.3. CAEP policies and the CAEP accreditation platform include information on the confidential nature 

of information maintained within the CAEP accreditation platform. All CAEP accreditation 
platform users must acknowledge CAEP’s confidentiality policy and agree to adhere to it. 

 
8. Partnership Dues, State Benefits, and Fees for Additional Services 

 
The Parties understand and agree that: 

 



 

7 

9. The State will be responsible for payment of annual State Partnership dues (See Appendix A). Dues 
may be reviewed and updated annually by CAEP. Should the amount of the State’s annual State 
Partnership dues be changed during the term of this agreement, CAEP will notify the State of the 
new dues amount and the effective date.  

  
9.1. CAEP will provide up to three (3) individuals employed by the State with access to the CAEP 

accreditation platform. 
 

9.2. During each year covered by this agreement, CAEP will waive the CAEP State Clinic and CAEP 
Conference registration fee for one (1) designated State representative; however, the State or State 
representative must assume other expenses associated with conference participation.   

 
9.3. CAEP offers states access to CAEP National Training for up to five (5) site reviewers a year, 

including training and travel (additional participants may be added based on need and on a cost-
recovery basis). CAEP may also offer supplemental training opportunities for state reviewers. 
Supplemental training events that are arranged, including events in the State, will be provided by 
CAEP on a cost-recovery basis and with specific arrangements negotiated according to CAEP’s 
policies regarding fees and expenses for training. 

 
9.4. The State will work with associations that represent P-12 educators (NEA, AFT, NBPTS), EPP’s, 

and education administrators to establish credit toward continuing education units or professional 
development requirements at the local district level in return for the State's P-12 educators’ 
professional contributions to the work of CAEP as site review team members 

 
10. State and CAEP Contacts 

 
The Parties understand and agree that: 
 

10.1. The State will designate a liaison to serve as the primary contact for CAEP throughout the term 
of this agreement. 

 
10.2. CAEP will designate a liaison to serve as the primary contact for the State through the term of 

this agreement. 
 
11. Agreement Term and Amendments 
 
The Parties understand and agree that: 
 
11.1. CAEP and the State enter into this partnership agreement for the one (1)-year period beginning 

July 1, 2025, and ending on June 30, 2026.  
 

11.2. The Parties will review this agreement at least annually and, as necessary, propose any amendment 
deemed appropriate and which may be adopted upon the agreement of the Parties. 

 
11.3. Should any provision of this agreement be determined to be in conflict with CAEP policy, CAEP 

policy will be the prevailing authority and this agreement will be required to be amended to resolve 



 

8 

the conflict.  
 

11.4. Notwithstanding the annual review described above, this agreement may be modified by consent 
of the Parties at any point. 

 
 

 
    
Christopher Koch, President  DATE 
Council for the Accreditation of Educator Preparation 
 
 
By signing this agreement, the undersigned agrees to be bound by the terms outlined above and affirms 
that he or she has the authority to enter into this agreement on behalf of the State. 
 
 
 
    
Signatory  DATE 
State Authority 
 
 
 
 
    
Signatory  DATE 
State Authority 

 
Appendix A: State Dues Structure  

 
 
Annual costs for supporting activities associated with State Partnerships have both fixed and 
proportional components which include costs associated with the CAEP Clinic, fall and spring CAEP 
Conferences, staff time, technology costs for maintaining workspaces within CAEP’s accreditation 
platform, and other indirect expenses. 
 
For the fixed and proportional amounts, states would be assessed $1,500 annually (reviewed on an 
annual basis) to cover expenses for the spring convening and conference registration plus a portion of 
indirect expenses which are based on the actual percentage of CAEP member EPPs within each state. 
 
Example 1: State A (Joint Reviews) 
State A has 25 CAEP member EPPs, or 3.99% of total CAEP EPPs.  

- The fixed amount is set at $1,500 per state. 
- The proportional amount is set at 3.99% of $325,000 (current total=services to all states) = 

$12,960.  
- The variable joint review fee (for 25 joint reviews) is 25 x $2,500 = $62,500/7years = $8,930.  

  



 

9 

Therefore, the total fees for State B will be:  
$1,500 (fixed) + $12,960 (proportional) + $8,930 (variable joint review fee) = $23,390. 
 



   ACCREDITATION COMMITTEE – (Items 21-24) 
 
 

Madalyn Quinlan 
 
 

ITEM 21 
 

 
ACTION ON THE CORRECTIVE NOTICE OF 

ADOPTION PERTAINING TO THE 
ADOPTION, AMENDMENT, AND REPEAL 

OF ARM, TITLE 10, CHAPTER 53, 
MATHEMATICS CONTENT STANDARDS, 

AND AUTHORIZE FILING OF THE NOTICE 
WITH THE SECRETARY OF STATE’S 
OFFICE FOR PUBLICATION IN THE 

MONTANA ADMINISTRATIVE REGISTER 
 
 

Madalyn Quinlan 
 
 
 
 
 



1Issue No. 6 - March 28, 2025

BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION

NOTICE OF ADOPTION
MAR NOTICE NO. 2024-170.1

Summary
In the matter of the adoption of New Rules I through VII, the amendment of ARM 10.53.501,
10.53.502, 10.53.503, 10.53.504, 10.53.505, 10.53.506, 10.53.507, 10.53.508, 10.53.509,
10.53.510, and 10.53.511, and the repeal of ARM 10.53.512, 10.53.513, 10.53.514, 10.53.515,
10.53.516, and 10.53.517 pertaining to Mathematics Content Standards.
Previous Notice(s) and Hearing Information
On October 4, 2024, the Board of Public Education (board) published MAR No. 10-53-141
pertaining to the public hearing on the proposed amendment of the above-stated rules at page
2341 of the 2024 Montana Administrative Register, Issue Number 19.

Final Rulemaking Action – Effective July 1, 2026
ADOPT AS PROPOSED
The agency has adopted the following rules as proposed:
NEW RULE I (10.53.518) CORE NUMERIC REASONING STANDARDS
NEW RULE III (10.53.520) CORE DATA REASONING AND PROBABILITY STANDARDS
NEW RULE IV (10.53.521) CORE GEOMETRIC REASONING STANDARDS
NEW RULE V (10.53.522) CORE PLUS NUMBER AND QUANTITY STANDARDS
NEW RULE VI (10.53.523) CORE PLUS ALGEBRAIC AND FUNCTIONAL REASONING STANDARDS
ADOPT WITH CHANGES



Issue No. 6 - March 28, 2025 2

The agency has adopted the following rules with changes from the original proposal, stricken
matter interlined, new matter underlined:
10.53.519 CORE ALGEBRAIC AND FUNCTIONAL REASONING STANDARDS

(1) The functions content standards for high school are to:
(a) interpret parts of an expression, such as terms, factors, and coefficients;
(b) understand the definition of a function and distinguish between functions and

relations;
(c) represent functions using tables, graphs with appropriate scales and labels,

equations, and verbal situations, while using technology strategically, by:
(i) understanding that different representations highlight different aspects

of functions, and choosing the representation that is appropriate for the
context; and

(ii) comparing properties of two functions, including when each is
represented in a different way;

(d) use function notation, evaluate functions, and interpret statements that use
function notation in context. This standard should incorporate cultural
context relating to Montana Indigenous Peoples and local communities;

(e) identify the domain and range of a function, including considering the
constraints imposed by context. This standard should incorporate cultural
context relating to Montana Indigenous Peoples and local communities;

(f) understand that a graph of an equation in two variables is the set of all of its
solutions plotted in a coordinate plane;

(g) understand that expressions can be rewritten in equivalent forms to make
different characteristics or features visible; and

(h) rearrange literal equations to highlight quantities of interest.
(2) The linear functions content standards for high school are to:

(a) understand that linear functions have a constant rate of change;
(b) understand slope as a rate of change and y-intercept as initial value;
(c) represent linear functions using tables, graphs, equations, and verbal

situations, while using technology strategically. This standard should
incorporate cultural context relating to Montana Indigenous Peoples and local
communities by:
(i) identifying the rate of change and initial value in each representation;



Issue No. 6 - March 28, 2025 3

(ii) converting between representations; and
(iii) writing equations for a line perpendicular or parallel to a given line that

passes through a given point;
(d) understand that linear equations can be represented in multiple forms and

the specific features of each form by:
(i) choosing the form strategically when writing an equation based on

given information and intended use;
(ii) converting between slope-intercept, point-slope, and standard form

symbolically;
(iii) understanding the relationship between slope-intercept form, the rate

of change, and the initial value;
(iv) understanding the relationship between point-slope form, the rate of

change, and a given point; and
(v) understanding the relationship between standard form and the x- and

y-intercepts;
(e) understand that a solution to a system of equations is a coordinate pair that

makes both equations true; and
(f) solve systems of linear equations by graphing, substitution, and elimination,

including systems with zero, one, or infinite solutions, while using technology
and representations strategically.

(3) The quadratic functions and expressions content standards for high school are to:
(a) understand that quadratic functions do not have a constant rate of change

but have a constant second difference over equal intervals and identify the
constant second difference in tables;

(b) represent quadratic functions using tables, graphs, equations, and verbal
situations, while using technology strategically. This standard should
incorporate cultural context relating to Montana Indigenous Peoples and local
communities;

(c) understand that quadratic expressions can be represented in multiple forms
and the specific features of each form by:
(i) choosing the form strategically when writing an expression based on

given information and intended use;
(ii) converting between factored, standard, and vertex form symbolically

and using representations;



Issue No. 6 - March 28, 2025 4

(iii) understanding the relationship between factored form and the zeros of
the function; and

(iv) understanding the relationship between vertex form and the vertex of
the function.

(d) solve quadratic equations by factoring, graphing, completing the square,
using inverse operations, and the quadratic formula; use technology and
representations strategically.

(4) The exponential functions and expressions content standards for high school are to:
(a) understand that exponential functions have a constant common ratio over

equal intervals, and identify the common ratio in tables and equations;
(b) understand a as the initial value and b as the growth/decay factor for an

exponential function written in standard form, y=a*b^x;
(c) understand the relationship between growth/decay factor and growth/decay

rate;
(d) represent exponential functions using tables, graphs, equations, and verbal

situations; using technology strategically. This standard should incorporate
cultural context relating to Montana Indigenous Peoples and local
communities; and

(e) solve exponential equations graphically, while using technology strategically.
(5) The modeling with functions content standards for high school are to:

(a) model situations in context, with linear, quadratic, and exponential
functions. This standard should incorporate cultural context relating to
Montana Indigenous Peoples and local communities by:
(i) determining if a set of data is best modeled by a linear function,

quadratic function, exponential function, or none, and explaining why;
and

(ii) understanding that there are contexts where solutions may not lie on
the curve;

(b) interpret the coefficients in a linear, quadratic, and exponential model in
context. This standard should incorporate cultural context relating to
Montana Indigenous Peoples and local communities;

(c) choose and interpret measurement units in formulas, graphs, and data
displays to understand problems and to guide problem-solving in modeling
situations. This standard should incorporate cultural context relating to
Montana Indigenous Peoples and local communities; and



Issue No. 6 - March 28, 2025 5

(d) choose a level of accuracy appropriate to limitations on measurement when
reporting quantities in modeling situations. This standard should incorporate
cultural context relating to Montana Indigenous Peoples and local
communities.

Authorizing statute(s): Mont. Const. Art. X, sec. 9, 20-2-114, 20-7-101 MCA
Implementing statute(s): Mont. Const. Art. X, sec. 9, 20-2-121, 20-3-106, 20-7-101, MCA

10.53.524 CORE PLUS DATA AND REASONING STANDARDS

(1) The normal distribution content standards for high school are to:
(a) determine if a data set is normally distributed;
(b)(a) use technology to find the mean and standard deviation of a normally

distributed data set and apply the empirical rule to estimate population
percentages; and

(c)(b) estimate areas under a normal curve to solve problems in context, using
calculators, spreadsheets, and tables as appropriate.

(2) The experimental design content standards for high school are to:
(a) describe the purposes of and differences among sample surveys,

experiments, and observational studies and explain how randomization
relates to each;

(b) describe differences between randomly selecting samples and randomly
assigning subjects to experimental treatment groups in terms of inferences
drawn regarding a population versus regarding cause and effect by:
(i) explaining the consequences, due to uncontrolled variables, of non-

randomized assignment of subjects to groups in experiments; and
(ii) evaluating where bias, including sampling, response, or nonresponse

bias, may occur in surveys, and whether results are representative of
the population of interest;

(c) evaluate the effect of sample size on the expected variability in the sampling
distribution of a sample statistic by:



Issue No. 6 - March 28, 2025 6

(i) simulating a sampling distribution of sample means from a population
with a known distribution, observing the effect of the sample size on
the variability; and

(ii) demonstrating that the standard deviation of each simulated sampling
distribution is the known standard deviation of the population divided
by the square root of the sample size.

(3) The statistical inference using simulation content standards for high school are to:
(a) distinguish between a statistic and a parameter and use statistical processes

to make inferences about population parameters based on statistics from
random samples from that population;

(b) estimate a population parameter from a representative sample by:
(i) understanding why the sample statistic is the best estimate for the

associated population parameter;
(ii) understanding that sampling variability introduces uncertainty in the

estimate, and account for the uncertainty with a confidence interval by:
(A) using resampling with replacement from an observed sample to

produce a sampling distribution;
(B) verifying that a sampling distribution is centered at the population

mean and approximately normal if the sample size is large
enough;

(C) verifying that 95% of sample means are within two standard
deviations of the sampling distribution from the population mean;
and

(D) creating and interpreting a 95% confidence interval based on an
observed mean from a sampling distribution;

(c) use data from a randomized experiment to test the hypothesis that two
groups are equal by:
(i) interpreting the difference or ratio between the group means as the

observed effect between the groups; and
(ii) understanding that an observed effect may be due to randomization

and using a randomization test (repeatedly reshuffling the observed
data into new groups) to determine the probability that an observed
effect is due to randomization alone.



Issue No. 6 - March 28, 2025 7

Authorizing statute(s): Mont. Const. Art. X, sec. 9, 20-2-114, 20-7-101, MCA
Implementing statute(s): Mont. Const. Art. X, sec. 9, 20-2-121, 20-3-106, 20-7-101, MCA

AMEND AS PROPOSED
The agency has amended the following rules as proposed:
10.53.501 STANDARDS FOR MATHEMATICAL PRACTICE FOR GRADES K-12
10.53.502 MONTANA KINDERGARTEN MATHEMATICS CONTENT STANDARDS
10.53.503 MONTANA GRADE 1 MATHEMATICS CONTENT STANDARDS
10.53.504 MONTANA GRADE 2 MATHEMATICS CONTENT STANDARDS
10.53.505 MONTANA GRADE 3 MATHEMATICS CONTENT STANDARDS
10.53.506 MONTANA GRADE 4 MATHEMATICS CONTENT STANDARDS
10.53.507 MONTANA GRADE 5 MATHEMATICS CONTENT STANDARDS
10.53.508 MONTANA GRADE 6 MATHEMATICS CONTENT STANDARDS
10.53.509 MONTANA GRADE 7 MATHEMATICS CONTENT STANDARDS
10.53.510 MONTANA GRADE 8 MATHEMATICS CONTENT STANDARDS
10.53.511 SYMBOLS
REPEAL AS PROPOSED
The agency has repealed the following rules as proposed:
10.53.512 MONTANA HIGH SCHOOL MATHEMATICS NUMBER AND QUANTITY STANDARDS
10.53.513 MONTANA HIGH SCHOOL MATHEMATICS ALGEBRA CONTENT STANDARDS
10.53.514 MONTANA HIGH SCHOOL MATHEMATICS FUNCTIONS STANDARDS
10.53.515 MONTANA HIGH SCHOOL MATHEMATICS MODELING CONTENT STANDARDS
10.53.516 MONTANA HIGH SCHOOL MATHEMATICS GEOMETRY CONTENT STANDARDS



Issue No. 6 - March 28, 2025 8

10.53.517 MONTANA HIGH SCHOOL MATHEMATICS STATISTICS AND PROBABILITY
STANDARDS

Statement of Reasons
The Office of Public Instruction became aware of administrative errors where two rules were
inadvertently omitted when transferred to the Board of Public Education: New Rule II – Core
Algebraic and Functional Reasoning Standards item (3)(d) “solve quadratic equations by
factoring, graphing, completing the square, using inverse operations, and the quadratic
formula; use technology and representations strategically”.
Rationale for Inclusion: This skill is not new to Montana’s Content Standards and was adapted
from multiple former standards contained within ARM 10.53.513 and ARM 10.53.514. This
serves as a foundational skill for understanding quadratic functions, which are frequently used
to model contextual scenarios in diverse fields such as business, finance, athletic analytics,
engineering, environmental science, physics, and beyond. Ensuring mastery of this standard
equips students with critical problem-solving skills necessary for post-secondary success,
enabling them to interpret and analyze realistic situations mathematically, preparing them for
careers in STEM fields, financial management, and other disciplines that require analytical,
algebraic, and graphical reasoning.
New Rule VII – Core Plus Date and Reasoning Standards item (1)(a): determine if a data set is
normally distributed; and updating item order for subsequent items.
Rational for Inclusion: This skill is not new to Montana’s Content Standards and was adapted,
along with the two items following it, from 10.53.517(1)(d). This skill is essential as a
prerequisite for items (1)(b) and (1)(c), which involve applying the principles of normal
distribution. Students must first determine whether a data set is normally distributed before
they can effectively analyze or interpret data using those principles. Expanding students’ ability
to identify normal distribution is foundational to data literacy and enables students to critically
evaluate and interpret data in academic, professional, and societal contexts. Proficiency in this
skill prepares students for careers in fields such as healthcare, business analytics, economics,
technology, and environmental science. Moreover, data literacy is increasingly essential for
informed citizenship, improving individuals' ability to assess and evaluate information reliably,
understand trends, and make evidence-based decisions.

Contact
McCall Flynn
(406) 444-6576
bpe@mt.gov



Issue No. 6 - March 28, 2025 9

Rule Reviewer
McCall Flynn, Executive Director
Approval
Dr. Tim Tharp, Chair
Montana Board of Public Education



ITEM 22 
 
 

ACTION ON PROVISIONAL 
ACCREDITATION STATUS OPTION FOR 

PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOLS 
 
 

Christy Mock-Stutz 
Crystal Andrews 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

Montana Board of Public Education 
Executive Summary 

 
Date: March 11-12, 2025 

  

Presentation Action on Provisional Accreditation for Charter 
Schools 

  
Presenter Christy Mock-Stutz                        Crystal Andrews  
 
Position Title Assistant Chief Program Officer 

Accreditation and Licensure Senior Manager 
 Office of Public Instruction 
Overview Review and approve the provisional accreditation 

timeline for six charter schools. 
  
Requested Decision(s) Action Item 
  
Related Issue(s)  
  
Recommendation(s) The State Superintendent recommends approval 

of provisional accreditation for six charter 
schools. 

  



1 

Provisional Accreditation Extension Timeline for Charter Schools 

Billings Early College School, Billings Public Schools  

Accreditation Step Completed 
By 

School Year Anticipated Date 

Formally apply for provisional accreditation extension. 

Charter extension applicant submits letter of intent to the 
Montana Office of Public Instruction (OPI) Accreditation, 
Licensure and Educator Preparation Senior Manager. Within 
the letter they will state how long they are seeking the 
extension. Submit letter to OPIAccred@mt.gov. 

  Billings Early College School (High School) - 3 years 
(2027-2028) 

District 2024-2025 February 14, 2025 

Charter extension applicant submits the following 
documentation: 

Submit the below rubrics for progress review; they will be 
scored to receive first year provisional status for the 2024-
2025 school year. The charters will still be considered in 
provisional accreditation. 

Rubrics: E, F, K, SP-A, SP-B, SP-C, CH-1, CH-2, CH-3, 
CH-4, CH-5, CH-7, CH-9, CH-10, CH-11, CH-13, CH-14 

District 2024-2025 February 28, 2025 

The OPI Accreditation Unit presents a progress report of the 
initial charter extension applicant for discussion with the 
BPE. Provisional accreditation will be brought before the 
BPE. The extensions timeline will depend on the application 
and school type. 

OPI 
Accreditation 

2024-2025 March 2025 

The OPI review team provides the school district and school 
personnel a report. The report may include areas for 
improvement, when applicable as related to the 
expectations outlined in the ARMs related to 
rubric E, F, K. 

District 2024-2025 March-April 2025 

mailto:OPIAccred@mt.gov


2 

If approved by the state Superintendent it will be 
recommended to the BPE to maintain provisional 
accreditation. 
● The charter must maintain regular or regular with

minor deviations on rubrics E, F, and K individually
in order to have a successful completion.

● Accreditation deviations resulting in advice or
deficiency status during this period will result in the
loss of provisional approval of accreditation
status.

OPI 
Accreditation 

2024-2025 
2025-2026 
2026-2027 
2027-2028 

May 2025 
May 2026 
May 2027 
May 2028 

Accreditation Step Completed 
By 

School Year Anticipated Date 

After successful completion of annual provisional 
accreditation status the Board of Public Education 
takes final action as to the accreditation status of the 
school based on the recommendation of the state 
superintendent of public education. 

BPE 2024-2025 
2025-2026 
2026-2027 
2027-2028 

May 2025 
May 2026 
May 2027 
May 2028 

Provisional charter school submits all the 
accreditation documentation for consideration of full 
accreditation status. 

Charter 2025-2026 
2026-2027 
2027-2028 

May 2026 
May 2027 
May 2028 

After successful completion of the provisional 
accreditation status, the Board of Public Education 
takes final action as to the full accreditation status of 
the charter school based on the recommendation of 
the State Superintendent. 

BPE 2025-2026 
2026-2027 
2027-2028 

May 2026 
May 2027 
May 2028 



1 

Provisional Accreditation Extension Timeline  

Billings Multilingual Academy High School, Billings Public Schools 

Accreditation Step Completed 
By 

School Year Anticipated Date 

Formally apply for provisional accreditation extension. 

Charter extension applicant submits letter of intent to the 
Montana Office of Public Instruction (OPI) Accreditation, 
Licensure and Educator Preparation Senior Manager. Within 
the letter they will state how long they are seeking the 
extension. Submit letter to OPIAccred@mt.gov. 

  Billings Multilingual Academy (High School) - 3 years (2027-  
2028) 

District 2024-2025 February 14, 2025 

Charter extension applicant submits the following 
documentation: 

Submit the below rubrics for progress review; they will be 
scored to receive first year provisional status for the 2024-
2025 school year. The charters will still be considered in 
provisional accreditation. 

Rubrics: E, F, K, SP-A, SP-B, SP-C, CH-1, CH-2, CH-3, 
CH-4, CH-5, CH-7, CH-9, CH-10, CH-11, CH-13, CH-14 

District 2024-2025 February 28, 2025 

The OPI Accreditation Unit presents a progress report of the 
initial charter extension applicant for discussion with the 
BPE. Provisional accreditation will be brought before the 
BPE. The extensions timeline will depend on the application 
and school type. 

OPI 
Accreditation 

2024-2025 March 2025 

The OPI review team provides the school district and school 
personnel a report. The report may include areas for 
improvement, when applicable as related to the 
expectations outlined in the ARMs related to 
rubric E, F, K. 

District 2024-2025 March-April 2025 

mailto:OPIAccred@mt.gov


2 

If approved by the state Superintendent it will be 
recommended to the BPE to maintain provisional 
accreditation. 
● The charter must maintain regular or regular with

minor deviations on rubrics E, F, and K individually
in order to have a successful completion.

● Accreditation deviations resulting in advice or
deficiency status during this period will result in the
loss of provisional approval of accreditation
status.

OPI 
Accreditation 

2024-2025 
2025-2026 
2026-2027 
2027-2028 

May 2025 
May 2026 
May 2027 
May 2028 

Accreditation Step Completed 
By 

School Year Anticipated Date 

After successful completion of annual provisional 
accreditation status the Board of Public Education 
takes final action as to the accreditation status of the 
school based on the recommendation of the state 
superintendent of public education. 

BPE 2024-2025 
2025-2026 
2026-2027 
2027-2028 

May 2025 
May 2026 
May 2027 
May 2028 

Provisional charter school submits all the 
accreditation documentation for consideration of full 
accreditation status. 

Charter 2025-2026 
2026-2027 
2027-2028 

May 2026 
May 2027 
May 2028 

After successful completion of the provisional 
accreditation status, the Board of Public Education 
takes final action as to the full accreditation status of 
the charter school based on the recommendation of 
the State Superintendent. 

BPE 2025-2026 
2026-2027 
2027-2028 

May 2026 
May 2027 
May 2028 



1 

Provisional Accreditation Extension Timeline  

Billings Multilingual Academy Middle School, Billings Public Schools 

Accreditation Step Completed 
By 

School Year Anticipated Date 

Formally apply for provisional accreditation extension. 

Charter extension applicant submits letter of intent to the 
Montana Office of Public Instruction (OPI) Accreditation, 
Licensure and Educator Preparation Senior Manager. Within 
the letter they will state how long they are seeking the 
extension. Submit letter to OPIAccred@mt.gov. 

Billings Multilingual Academy (Middle School) - 2 years 
(2026-2027) 

District 2024-2025 February 14, 2025 

Charter extension applicant submits the following 
documentation: 

Submit the below rubrics for progress review; they will be 
scored to receive first year provisional status for the 2024-
2025 school year. The charters will still be considered in 
provisional accreditation. 

Rubrics: E, F, K, SP-A, SP-B, SP-C, CH-1, CH-2, CH-3, 
CH-4, CH-5, CH-7, CH-9, CH-10, CH-11, CH-13, CH-14 

District 2024-2025 February 28, 2025 

The OPI Accreditation Unit presents a progress report of the 
initial charter extension applicant for discussion with the 
BPE. Provisional accreditation will be brought before the 
BPE. The extensions timeline will depend on the application 
and school type. 

OPI 
Accreditation 

2024-2025 March 2025 

The OPI review team provides the school district and school 
personnel a report. The report may include areas for 
improvement, when applicable as related to the 
expectations outlined in the ARMs related to 
rubric E, F, K. 

District 2024-2025 March-April 2025 

mailto:OPIAccred@mt.gov


2 

If approved by the state Superintendent it will be 
recommended to the BPE to maintain provisional 
accreditation. 
● The charter must maintain regular or regular with

minor deviations on rubrics E, F, and K individually
in order to have a successful completion.

● Accreditation deviations resulting in advice or
deficiency status during this period will result in the
loss of provisional approval of accreditation
status.

OPI 
Accreditation 

2024-2025 
2025-2026 
2026-2027 

May 2025 
May 2026 
May 2027 

Accreditation Step Completed 
By 

School Year Anticipated Date 

After successful completion of annual provisional 
accreditation status the Board of Public Education 
takes final action as to the accreditation status of the 
school based on the recommendation of the state 
superintendent of public education. 

BPE 2024-2025 
2025-2026 
2026-2027 

May 2025 
May 2026 
May 2027 

Provisional charter school submits all the 
accreditation documentation for consideration of full 
accreditation status. 

Charter 2025-2026 
2026-2027 

May 2026 
May 2027 

After successful completion of the provisional 
accreditation status, the Board of Public Education 
takes final action as to the full accreditation status of 
the charter school based on the recommendation of 
the State Superintendent. 

BPE 2025-2026 
2026-2027 

May 2026 
May 2027 



1 

Provisional Accreditation Extension Timeline 

Billings Opportunity School, Billings Public Schools 

Accreditation Step Completed 
By 

School Year Anticipated Date 

Formally apply for provisional accreditation extension. 

Charter extension applicant submits letter of intent to the 
Montana Office of Public Instruction (OPI) Accreditation, 
Licensure and Educator Preparation Senior Manager. Within 
the letter they will state how long they are seeking the 
extension. Submit letter to OPIAccred@mt.gov. 

  Billings Opportunity School (High School) - 3 years (2027-
2028) 

District 2024-2025 February 14, 2025 

Charter extension applicant submits the following 
documentation: 

Submit the below rubrics for progress review; they will be 
scored to receive first year provisional status for the 2024-
2025 school year. The charters will still be considered in 
provisional accreditation. 

Rubrics: E, F, K, SP-A, SP-B, SP-C, CH-1, CH-2, CH-3, 
CH-4, CH-5, CH-7, CH-9, CH-10, CH-11, CH-13, CH-14 

District 2024-2025 February 28, 2025 

The OPI Accreditation Unit presents a progress report of the 
initial charter extension applicant for discussion with the 
BPE. Provisional accreditation will be brought before the 
BPE. The extensions timeline will depend on the application 
and school type. 

OPI 
Accreditation 

2024-2025 March 2025 

The OPI review team provides the school district and school 
personnel a report. The report may include areas for 
improvement, when applicable as related to the 
expectations outlined in the ARMs related to 
rubric E, F, K. 

District 2024-2025 March-April 2025 

mailto:OPIAccred@mt.gov


2 

If approved by the state Superintendent it will be 
recommended to the BPE to maintain provisional 
accreditation. 
● The charter must maintain regular or regular with

minor deviations on rubrics E, F, and K individually
in order to have a successful completion.

● Accreditation deviations resulting in advice or
deficiency status during this period will result in the
loss of provisional approval of accreditation
status.

OPI 
Accreditation 

2024-2025 
2025-2026 
2026-2027 
2027-2028 

May 2025 
May 2026 
May 2027 
May 2028 

Accreditation Step Completed 
By 

School Year Anticipated Date 

After successful completion of annual provisional 
accreditation status the Board of Public Education 
takes final action as to the accreditation status of the 
school based on the recommendation of the state 
superintendent of public education. 

BPE 2024-2025 
2025-2026 
2026-2027 
2027-2028 

May 2025 
May 2026 
May 2027 
May 2028 

Provisional charter school submits all the 
accreditation documentation for consideration of full 
accreditation status. 

Charter 2025-2026 
2026-2027 
2027-2028 

May 2026 
May 2027 
May 2028 

After successful completion of the provisional 
accreditation status, the Board of Public Education 
takes final action as to the full accreditation status of 
the charter school based on the recommendation of 
the State Superintendent. 

BPE 2025-2026 
2026-2027 
2027-2028 

May 2026 
May 2027 
May 2028 



1 

Provisional Accreditation Extension Timeline  

Rise Charter and Distance Learning Academy, Corvallis School District 

Accreditation Step Completed 
By 

School Year Anticipated Date 

Formally apply for provisional accreditation extension. 

Charter extension applicant submits letter of intent to the 
Montana Office of Public Instruction (OPI) Accreditation, 
Licensure and Educator Preparation Senior Manager. Within 
the letter they will state how long they are seeking the 
extension. Submit letter to OPIAccred@mt.gov. 

  Rise Charter and Distance High School - 3 years (2027-2028) 
Rise Charter and Distance Middle School/Elementary - 2 
years (2026-2027) 

District 2024-2025 February 14, 2025 

Charter extension applicant submits the following 
documentation: 

Submit the below rubrics for progress review; they will be 
scored to receive first year provisional status for the 2024-
2025 school year. The charters will still be considered in 
provisional accreditation. 

Rubrics: E, F, K, SP-A, SP-B, SP-C, CH-1, CH-2, CH-3, 
CH-4, CH-5, CH-7, CH-9, CH-10, CH-11, CH-13, CH-14 

District 2024-2025 February 28, 2025 

The OPI Accreditation Unit presents a progress report of the 
initial charter extension applicant for discussion with the 
BPE. Provisional accreditation will be brought before the 
BPE. The extensions timeline will depend on the application 
and school type. 

OPI 
Accreditation 

2024-2025 March 2025 

The OPI review team provides the school district and school 
personnel a report. The report may include areas for 
improvement, when applicable as related to the 
expectations outlined in the ARMs related to 
rubric E, F, K. 

District 2024-2025 March-April 2025 

mailto:OPIAccred@mt.gov


2 

If approved by the state Superintendent it will be 
recommended to the BPE to maintain provisional 
accreditation. 
● The charter must maintain regular or regular with

minor deviations on rubrics E, F, and K individually
in order to have a successful completion.

● Accreditation deviations resulting in advice or
deficiency status during this period will result in the
loss of provisional approval of accreditation
status.

OPI 
Accreditation 

2024-2025 
2025-2026 
2026-2027 
2027-2028* 

May 2025 
May 2026 
May 2027 
May 2028 

Accreditation Step Completed 
By 

School Year Anticipated Date 

After successful completion of annual provisional 
accreditation status the Board of Public Education 
takes final action as to the accreditation status of the 
school based on the recommendation of the state 
superintendent of public education. 

BPE 2024-2025 
2025-2026 
2026-2027 
2027-2028* 

May 2025 
May 2026 
May 2027 
May 2028 

Provisional charter school submits all the 
accreditation documentation for consideration of full 
accreditation status. 

Charter 2025-2026 
2026-2027 
2027-2028* 

May 2026 
May 2027 
May 2028 

After successful completion of the provisional 
accreditation status, the Board of Public Education 
takes final action as to the full accreditation status of 
the charter school based on the recommendation of 
the State Superintendent. 

BPE 2025-2026 
2026-2027 
2027-2028* 

May 2026 
May 2027 
May 2028 

*High School only



1 

Provisional Accreditation Extension Timeline 

Rise Charter and Pathway Learning Academy, Corvallis School District 

Accreditation Step Completed 
By 

School Year Anticipated Date 

Formally apply for provisional accreditation extension. 

Charter extension applicant submits letter of intent to the 
Montana Office of Public Instruction (OPI) Accreditation, 
Licensure and Educator Preparation Senior Manager. Within 
the letter they will state how long they are seeking the 
extension. Submit letter to OPIAccred@mt.gov. 

  Rise Charter and Pathway High School - 3 years (2027-2028) 
Rise Charter and Pathway Middle School/Elementary - 2 
years (2026-2027) 

District 2024-2025 February 14, 2025 

Charter extension applicant submits the following 
documentation: 

Submit the below rubrics for progress review; they will be 
scored to receive first year provisional status for the 2024-
2025 school year. The charters will still be considered in 
provisional accreditation. 

Rubrics: E, F, K, SP-A, SP-B, SP-C, CH-1, CH-2, CH-3, 
CH-4, CH-5, CH-7, CH-9, CH-10, CH-11, CH-13, CH-14 

District 2024-2025 February 28, 2025 

The OPI Accreditation Unit presents a progress report of the 
initial charter extension applicant for discussion with the 
BPE. Provisional accreditation will be brought before the 
BPE. The extensions timeline will depend on the application 
and school type. 

OPI 
Accreditation 

2024-2025 March 2025 

The OPI review team provides the school district and school 
personnel a report. The report may include areas for 
improvement, when applicable as related to the 
expectations outlined in the ARMs related to 
rubric E, F, K. 

District 2024-2025 March-April 2025 

mailto:OPIAccred@mt.gov


2 

If approved by the state Superintendent it will be 
recommended to the BPE to maintain provisional 
accreditation. 
● The charter must maintain regular or regular with

minor deviations on rubrics E, F, and K individually
in order to have a successful completion.

● Accreditation deviations resulting in advice or
deficiency status during this period will result in the
loss of provisional approval of accreditation
status.

OPI 
Accreditation 

2024-2025 
2025-2026 
2026-2027 
2027-2028* 

May 2025 
May 2026 
May 2027 
May 2028 

Accreditation Step Completed 
By 

School Year Anticipated Date 

After successful completion of annual provisional 
accreditation status the Board of Public Education 
takes final action as to the accreditation status of the 
school based on the recommendation of the state 
superintendent of public education. 

BPE 2024-2025 
2025-2026 
2026-2027 
2027-2028* 

May 2025 
May 2026 
May 2027 
May 2028 

Provisional charter school submits all the 
accreditation documentation for consideration of full 
accreditation status. 

Charter 2025-2026 
2026-2027 
2027-2028* 

May 2026 
May 2027 
May 2028 

After successful completion of the provisional 
accreditation status, the Board of Public Education 
takes final action as to the full accreditation status of 
the charter school based on the recommendation of 
the State Superintendent. 

BPE 2025-2026 
2026-2027 
2027-2028* 

May 2026 
May 2027 
May 2028 

*High School only



ITEM 23 
 
 

ACTION ON THE ESTABLISHMENT OF 
PROCEDURES AND SCHEDULES FOR 

JOINT ACCREDITATION 
 
 

Dr. Julie Murgel 
Crystal Andrews 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

 

 

 

Montana Board of Public Education 
Executive Summary 

 
Date: March 11-12, 2025 

  

Presentation Cognia Joint Accreditation Process 
  
Presenter Julie Murgel                      Crystal Andrews  
 
Position Title Chief Program Officer 

Accreditation and Licensure Senior Manager 
 Office of Public Instruction 
Overview Montana K-12 districts/schools may voluntarily 

choose to seek national accreditation through 
Cognia and State Joint- accreditation.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
Requested Decision(s) Information only 
  
Related Issue(s) 10.55 
  
Recommendation(s) None 
  



 

 

Joint Accreditation K-12 Proposal  
 

 State Only Accreditation Joint Accreditation 
Accreditation Approval 
Authority 

Montana BPE approves and accredits every Montana K-12 school 
based the results of accreditation review of standards of 
accreditation (ARM 10.55) and recommendation by the state 
superintendent.    

• The conditions under which each elementary school, 
each middle school, each junior high school, 7th and 8th 
grades funded at high school rates, and each high school 
operates must be reviewed by the superintendent of 
public instruction to determine compliance with the 
standards of accreditation.  20-7-102(1), MCA 

o As used in this section, "7th and 8th grades funded 
at high school rates" means an elementary school 
district or K-12 district elementary program whose 
7th and 8th grades are funded as provided in 20-9-
306(15)(c)(ii). 

o A nonpublic school may, through its governing 
body, request that the board of public education 
accredit the school. Nonpublic schools may be 
accredited in the same manner as provided in 
subsection (1). 

• The accreditation status of each school must then be 
established by the board of public education upon the 
recommendation of the superintendent of public 
instruction.  20-7-102(1), MCA 

Accreditation Selection 
Type State Only or Joint 
Accreditation 

 Montana K-12 districts/schools 
may voluntarily choose to seek 
national accreditation through 
Cognia and State Joint-
accreditation 

Accreditation Cycles 20-7-102 (2) 
A school may be accredited for a period consisting of 1, 2, 3, 4, or 
5 school years, except that multiyear accreditation may be 
granted only to schools that are in compliance with 20-4-101. 
 
Starting in 2026—3-year cycles based on ISAP 10.55.601 

Categories of 
Accreditation 

ARM 10.55.605 
• Regular Accreditation 
• Regular with minor Deviation  Accreditation 

https://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/title_0200/chapter_0090/part_0030/section_0060/0200-0090-0030-0060.html
https://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/title_0200/chapter_0090/part_0030/section_0060/0200-0090-0030-0060.html
https://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/title_0200/chapter_0040/part_0010/section_0010/0200-0040-0010-0010.html
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/policies/1ed1e8bc-1e9c-4564-879c-19bd4e24fbb5


• Advice Accreditation 
• Deficiency Accreditation 

Accreditation Process ARM 10.55.606: 
• The categories of accreditation of a school shall be 

determined by using two sets of standards: (a) assurance 
standards; and (b) student performance standards. (2)  
 

• Assurance standards are comprised of the following 
subchapters in ARM Title 10, chapter 55: (a) Subchapter 6, 
General Provisions, ARM 10.55.601 through 10.55.608; (b) 
Subchapter 7, School Leadership, ARM 10.55.701 through 
10.55.724; (c) Subchapter 8, Educational Opportunity, 
ARM 10.55.801 through 10.55.806; (d) Subchapter 9, 
Academic Requirements, ARM 10.55.901 through 
10.55.911; and (e) ARM 10.55.1001 through 10.55.2301. 

 
• Student performance standards are comprised of 

measures required under ARM 10.56.101(3) and other 
measures described in the state accountability system, 
defined in ARM 10.55.602, recommended by the state 
superintendent and approved by the Board of Public 
Education. 

 
Standards of 
Accreditation:  
Assurance Standards 

Subchapter 10.55.6 General 
Provisions 
*10.55.601(3) and (4) ISAP 
*10.55.603 Curriculum and 
Assessment 
 
Subchapter 10.55.7 School 
Leadership 
 
Subchapter 10.55.8 
Educational Opportunity 
 
Subchapter 10.55.9 Academic 
Requirements 
 
Subchapter 10.55.10 Program 
Area Standards 
 
Subchapter 10.55.11 English 
Language Arts and Literacy: 
Program 
 
Subchapter 10.55.12 Arts: 
Program 
 
Subchapter 10.55.13 Health 
and Physical Education: 
Program 
 

Cognia: BPE approves 
accreditation standards and 
accepts Cognia’s approval of 
the following standards:  

• ARM 10.55.603 
• ARM 10.55.714 (1 and 

3) 
• ARM 10.55.717-724 
• ARM 10.55.801-806 
• ARM 10.55.1001 

through 10.55.2301. 
 
OPI: BPE approves 
accreditation standards and 
accepts OPI’s approval of the 
following standards: 

• ARM 10.55.601- - ISAP 
is a requirement 
beyond accreditation 
purposes (federal 
requirement)  

• ARM 10.55.701- is an 
assurance 

• ARM 10.55.702-713- - 
requires IC data or is an 
assurance 

• ARM 10.55.714 (2)- 
could evaluate 1, 3 not 
2- requires data 

https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/policies/085f82c6-ed7f-4487-a0e2-c1721386248d
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/f792b4fb-396e-4f8d-ae52-2415b14462cb
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/f792b4fb-396e-4f8d-ae52-2415b14462cb
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/policies/9e741a78-16d6-479a-9d63-d0af123fdb92
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/policies/9e741a78-16d6-479a-9d63-d0af123fdb92
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/policies/9e741a78-16d6-479a-9d63-d0af123fdb92
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/15f1ab51-ffb7-4bc0-82e2-b6d311750de9
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/15f1ab51-ffb7-4bc0-82e2-b6d311750de9
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/7186c40b-c428-483c-abcd-6f7d8c2a6caa
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/7186c40b-c428-483c-abcd-6f7d8c2a6caa
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/7186c40b-c428-483c-abcd-6f7d8c2a6caa
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/7186c40b-c428-483c-abcd-6f7d8c2a6caa
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/b2d0c438-d743-4005-ac99-f0fec2978d2d
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/b2d0c438-d743-4005-ac99-f0fec2978d2d
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/b2d0c438-d743-4005-ac99-f0fec2978d2d
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/b2d0c438-d743-4005-ac99-f0fec2978d2d
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/c364db35-9a62-42d4-ab70-23d34a18220c
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/c364db35-9a62-42d4-ab70-23d34a18220c
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/c364db35-9a62-42d4-ab70-23d34a18220c
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/c364db35-9a62-42d4-ab70-23d34a18220c
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/50c32481-fa80-49c3-a513-990321058d34
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/50c32481-fa80-49c3-a513-990321058d34
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/50c32481-fa80-49c3-a513-990321058d34
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/50c32481-fa80-49c3-a513-990321058d34
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/54999cde-8a1f-416f-a3d1-b453be68309b
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/54999cde-8a1f-416f-a3d1-b453be68309b
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/54999cde-8a1f-416f-a3d1-b453be68309b
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/54999cde-8a1f-416f-a3d1-b453be68309b
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/9c9042e0-b76e-4330-a932-212ddf091770
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/9c9042e0-b76e-4330-a932-212ddf091770
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/9c9042e0-b76e-4330-a932-212ddf091770
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/9c9042e0-b76e-4330-a932-212ddf091770
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/99e52a4a-130b-4cff-b504-91b543a37903


Subchapter 10.55.14 
Mathematics: Program 
 
Subchapter 10.55.15 Science: 
Program 
 
Subchapter 10.55.16 Social 
Studies: Program 
 
Subchapter 10.55.17 Career 
and Technical Education: 
Program 
 

 
Subchapter 10.55.18 Library 
Media and Information 
Literacy: Program 
 
Subchapter 10.55.19 School 
Counseling: Program 
 
Subchapter 10.55.20 School 
Facilities and Records 
 
Subchapter 10.55.21 World 
Languages: Program 
 
Subchapter 10.55.22 
Computer Science: Program 
 
Subchapter 10.55.23 
Technology Integration: 
Program 
 

• ARM 10.55.715-716- - 
requires IC data or is an 
assurance (federal 
requirement) 

• ARM 10.55.901-902-
evaluation of  IEFA and 
requires IC data 

• ARM 10.55.904-911 - 
stays with OPI- 
evaluation of IEFA and 
requires IC data 

Standards of 
Accreditation:  
Performance Standards 

Student performance standards are comprised of measures 
required under ARM 10.56.101(3) and other measures described 
in the state accountability system, defined in ARM 10.55.602, 
recommended by the state superintendent and approved by the 
Board of Public Education. 
 

Assurance Rubrics 
FY2025 Criteria Ref. 
Guide.pdf 
 

A. Integrated Strategic Action 
Plan - Process (CNA)  
B. Integrated Strategic Action 
Plan - Content (Goals)  
C. Integrated Strategic Action 
Plan - Content (Graduate 
Profile)  
D. District Assurances  
E. Assignment and Licensure of 
Staff 
F. Teacher Load and Class  

Cognia:  Provide scores 1-4 
for rubrics: 
A. Integrated Strategic Action 
Plan - Process (CNA) 
H. Family and Community 
Engagement 
M. Proficiency-Based Learning 
Model - Curriculum   
N. Proficiency-Based Learning 
Model - Assessment   
O. Educator Effectiveness - 
Professional Development Plan 

https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/99e52a4a-130b-4cff-b504-91b543a37903
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/99e52a4a-130b-4cff-b504-91b543a37903
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/fdc33c09-1c6e-4109-af83-ec91f419dcfd
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/fdc33c09-1c6e-4109-af83-ec91f419dcfd
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/fdc33c09-1c6e-4109-af83-ec91f419dcfd
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/fdc33c09-1c6e-4109-af83-ec91f419dcfd
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/99d335b0-040c-402a-8e5d-d9e9011f2523
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/99d335b0-040c-402a-8e5d-d9e9011f2523
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/99d335b0-040c-402a-8e5d-d9e9011f2523
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/99d335b0-040c-402a-8e5d-d9e9011f2523
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/2c32d29a-34b3-43d6-a356-8cb18dedbe27
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/2c32d29a-34b3-43d6-a356-8cb18dedbe27
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/2c32d29a-34b3-43d6-a356-8cb18dedbe27
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/2c32d29a-34b3-43d6-a356-8cb18dedbe27
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/caeb16fb-dfa7-4b30-ab9e-5a0da866628c
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/caeb16fb-dfa7-4b30-ab9e-5a0da866628c
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/caeb16fb-dfa7-4b30-ab9e-5a0da866628c
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/caeb16fb-dfa7-4b30-ab9e-5a0da866628c
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/b0ce1ce1-c527-4023-9fb3-74dea1f28f97
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/b0ce1ce1-c527-4023-9fb3-74dea1f28f97
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/b0ce1ce1-c527-4023-9fb3-74dea1f28f97
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/b0ce1ce1-c527-4023-9fb3-74dea1f28f97
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/45b70e0c-bf6e-4831-91e9-579f56fc4bcf
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/45b70e0c-bf6e-4831-91e9-579f56fc4bcf
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/45b70e0c-bf6e-4831-91e9-579f56fc4bcf
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/45b70e0c-bf6e-4831-91e9-579f56fc4bcf
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/35eb1e41-b86a-4b5c-ab14-790931e65f1f
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/35eb1e41-b86a-4b5c-ab14-790931e65f1f
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/35eb1e41-b86a-4b5c-ab14-790931e65f1f
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/35eb1e41-b86a-4b5c-ab14-790931e65f1f
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/d9a25b61-90a4-4b6e-8763-9f5209cc0f5b
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/d9a25b61-90a4-4b6e-8763-9f5209cc0f5b
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/d9a25b61-90a4-4b6e-8763-9f5209cc0f5b
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/d9a25b61-90a4-4b6e-8763-9f5209cc0f5b
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/f3d27ccf-29aa-4f63-8093-c3f1cf21166e
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/f3d27ccf-29aa-4f63-8093-c3f1cf21166e
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/f3d27ccf-29aa-4f63-8093-c3f1cf21166e
https://rules.mt.gov/browse/collections/aec52c46-128e-4279-9068-8af5d5432d74/sections/f3d27ccf-29aa-4f63-8093-c3f1cf21166e
https://opi.mt.gov/Portals/182/Page%20Files/School%20Accreditation/FY2025%20Criteria%20Ref.%20Guide.pdf?ver=2024-09-23-181501-873
https://opi.mt.gov/Portals/182/Page%20Files/School%20Accreditation/FY2025%20Criteria%20Ref.%20Guide.pdf?ver=2024-09-23-181501-873


G. Professional Development 
H. Family and Community 
Engagement 
I. Basic Education Program 
Offerings (High School and 
Middle School only)  
J. Indian Education for All  
K. Indian Education for All 
L. Integrated Strategic Action 
Plan - Graduate Profile  
M. Proficiency-Based Learning 
Model - Curriculum   
N. Proficiency-Based Learning 
Model - Assessment   
O. Educator Effectiveness - 
Professional Development Plan 
P. Educator Effectiveness - 
Mentorship & Induction  
Q. Educator Effectiveness - 
Evaluation  
R. Educational Opportunity - 
School Climate 

P. Educator Effectiveness - 
Mentorship & Induction  
Q. Educator Effectiveness - 
Evaluation  
R. Educational Opportunity - 
School Climate 
 
OPI provides scores for 
rubrics: 
B. Integrated Strategic Action 
Plan - Content (Goals)  
C. Integrated Strategic Action 
Plan - Content (Graduate 
Profile)  
D. District Assurances  
E. Assignment and Licensure of 
Staff 
F. Teacher Load and Class  
G. Professional Development 
I. Basic Education Program 
Offerings (High School and 
Middle School only)  
J. Indian Education for All  
K. Indian Education for All 
L. Integrated Strategic Action 
Plan - Graduate Profile 

 



ITEM 24  
 
 

ACTION ON THE COGNIA JOINT 
ACCREDITATION MEMORANDUM OF 

UNDERSTANDING 
 
 

Madalyn Quinlan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

1 

Montana Board of Public Education,  

the Montana Office of Public Instruction, 

and Cognia 

Memorandum of Understanding  

 

 

Whereas Cognia, Inc. (“Cognia”) is a 501(c)(3) non-profit corporation, and as a voluntary 

membership organization it is committed to creating effective schools through the use of 

performance-based accreditation; and 

 

Whereas Cognia accredits schools through its proprietary, evidence-based accreditation process 

and standards that assures quality and supports continuous improvement to strengthen K-12 

student learning and outcomes; and 

 

Whereas Cognia is a nationally recognized accreditor and parent company to three of the six K-

12 Regional Accreditors in the United States: Southern Association of Colleges and Schools 

Council on Accreditation and School Improvement (SACS-CASI), North Central Association 

Commission on Accreditation and School Improvement (NCA CASI), and Northwest 

Accreditation Commission (NWAC); and 

 

Whereas, the Montana Board of Public Education, and the Montana Office of Public Instruction 

(OPI), herein referred to as the State, support continuous improvement through accreditation; 

 

Therefore, Cognia and the State hereby enter into this Memorandum of Understanding detailing 

the State’s preferences with regard to review options conducted by Cognia of accredited schools 

residing within the state of Montana and establishing the primary responsibilities each party has 

in supporting the accreditation activities. 

 

1. Cognia Standards and Scope of Accreditation 

 

The Parties understand and agree that: 

 

1.1. The Cognia Global Accreditation Commission has adopted standards that serve as the basis 

for all accreditation reviews undertaken by Cognia (the “Standards”). The Standards may be 

revised from time to time, and Cognia will provide the State with any changes to Standards 

as they are revised. 

 

1.2. Cognia and the State, during the Term of this Memorandum of Understanding, will work 

together in good faith to establish an operational plan to further the accreditation activities. 

  

1.3. It is the responsibility of the State and any schools seeking or continuing Cognia 

accreditation to stay informed of any changes made to the Cognia Standards and the 

timeline(s) for the implementation of or transition to new or revised Standards. 

 

1.4. The Cognia scope of accreditation, defined in the Cognia Policies and Procedures for 

Accreditation and Certification (the “Policies and Procedures”), distinguishes between three 

levels of accreditation for member schools: Accredited, Accredited Under Review, and 

Accredited Under Conditions. 



 

2 

1.5. The State will recognize accredited Cognia schools as accredited by the state of Montana. All 

Accreditation Reports will be provided to the State’s Accreditation Unit at the OPI for 

review.  

 

2. Cognia’s Responsibility for Accreditation 

 

The Parties understand and agree that: 

 

2.1. Cognia has sole responsibility for granting Cognia accreditation to a school, and for 

supporting and overseeing continuous accreditation, as described in Cognia Standards, 

Policies and Procedures, and any required assurances.  

 

2.2. The process required for accreditation by Cognia is outlined in Cognia Policies and 

Procedures. Policies and Procedures may be revised from time to time. It is the 

responsibility of the State and any school seeking Cognia accreditation to stay informed of 

any such changes as they may impact the Cognia accreditation process from the time of their 

adoption or publication. 

 

3. State’s Responsibility for Accreditation 

 

The Parties understand and agree that: 

 

3.1. The State has responsibility for accreditation approval and the category of accreditation 

determined for any school. In granting accreditation approval, the State will utilize 

information generated from Cognia’s review(s) of a school. The State may elect to have 

state-specific standards and/or requirements incorporated into the Cognia review, consistent 

with the accreditation review options outlined below. Schools participating in Cognia 

Accreditation will also be required to provide the State with documents related to Student 

Performance Standards and Assurance Standards, including, but not limited to, Annual Data 

Collection, Indian Education for All Data, and any data required for federal reporting.   
 

3.2. The State will periodically review its accreditation review requirements against the Cognia 

Standards and Policies and will, in a timely manner, make Cognia aware of any conflicts or 

potential inconsistencies so that all parties to this agreement are aware of any such issues 

and can work constructively together to minimize any challenges that may arise from them. 

 

4. Cognia Accreditation Cycle 

 

The Parties understand and agree that: 

 

4.1. The Cognia accreditation cycle involves a school in continuous improvement and requires 

the school to demonstrate that it meets Cognia’s high standards of quality required to 

improve student learning. 

 

4.2. The Cognia accreditation cycle will be a three-year term of accreditation, to align with the 

State accreditation cycle. However, schools may be required to complete a progress report 

related to their improvement priorities. The State will receive progress reports. To merit full 

accreditation by Cognia, a school must meet all Standards, Policies and Procedures, and 



 

3 

assurances based on sufficient and accurate evidence  

 

4.3. For onsite Accreditation Engagement Reviews, the State will be invited to serve as team 

members. Cognia will require and provide training at no expense for these team members. 

Team members must acknowledge understanding of, and agreement to adhere to, Cognia’s 

code of conduct, including with regard to confidentiality and conflicts of interest, provided 

they do not conflict with any state laws of Montana.  

 

4.4. All Engagement Review activities undertaken by Cognia will be conducted in accordance 

with Cognia Policies and Procedures. 

 

4.5. Cognia is not responsible for any expenses incurred by state-assigned personnel as part of 

the review process or otherwise related to this Memorandum of Understanding.  

 

4.6. Once granted full accreditation by Cognia, a school’s term of accreditation shall be three (3) 

years. Throughout its term, to maintain accreditation, a school must comply with Cognia 

Policies, including policies regarding payment of annual dues and the submission of annual 

reports. 

 

4.7 If a school is determined to be in “Accredited Under Review” status, Cognia personnel will 

conduct annual monitoring until Cognia deems that the organization has substantively met all 

Cognia Standards, Policies and Procedures, and satisfied assurances or is found to have made 

insufficient progress, resulting in a change in status to “Accredited Under Conditions.”  

 

4.8 Accreditation-specific terminology and definitions used by Cognia as part of its school and 

accreditation processes may vary from similar terms and definitions used by the State. Any 

definitions of key terms and glossaries created by Cognia will be made available on the 

Cognia website www.cognia.org. In the event of a conflict between accreditation-specific 

terminology and definitions used by Cognia and terms and definitions used by the State, 

Cognia terminology and definitions shall control with respect to Cognia accreditation and 

State terms and definitions shall control with respect to State accreditation. 

 

5. Opportunities for State Input  

 

The Parties understand and agree that: 

 

5.1. Cognia will afford the State opportunities to provide the evaluators, members of Cognia’s 

Montana Advisory Council, and/or Cognia’s Global Accreditation Commission with any 

information or data the State deems relevant to the accreditation of the school. 

 

5.2. Cognia will give the State notice of an upcoming Site Review. At any time, up to six (6) 

weeks before the scheduled Site Review, the State may provide Cognia with comments and 

information on the school for consideration. 

 

5.3. At any time, the State may file a complaint regarding a Cognia member school with the 

Cognia’s Office of Accreditation Services for investigation and consideration as part of the 

school’s ongoing accreditation cycle. Complaints filed by the State will be investigated in 

accordance with Cognia’s Policies and Procedures. 

http://www.cognia.org/


 

4 

6. Data Sharing 

 

The Parties understand and agree that: 

 

6.1. The Cognia Standards and process for Cognia Accreditation require a school to collect and 

share data. 

 

6.2. Cognia will provide the State and each dues paying school in the State with access to the 

Cognia accreditation platform and Cognia’s data and information management system. In 

the event any school fails to pay their annual dues to Cognia in a timely manner, Cognia 

reserves the right to suspend access to all Cognia platforms and systems until any 

outstanding dues are paid.  

 

6.3. Cognia Policies and the Cognia accreditation platform include Confidential Information. 

The State covenants and agrees that it shall protect all Cognia Confidential Information both 

during and after the Term, and shall not disclose to any person or otherwise use, except in 

connection with the accreditation activities in accordance with this Memorandum of 

Understanding, any of the other Cognia’s Confidential Information. “Cognia Confidential 

Information” is defined as any and all technical, business and other information of Cognia or 

any affiliate of Cognia which derives value, economic or otherwise, actual or potential, from 

not being generally known to the public or other persons who can obtain value from its use 

or disclosure. Cognia Confidential Information includes “Confidential Personal 

Information”, which is defined as any information that directly or indirectly identifies or 

relates to an identified or identifiable natural person. Cognia Confidential Information does 

not include any information (i) that is or comes into the public domain through no fault of 

the State, (ii) rightfully in the possession of State in written form as of the Effective Date 

hereof or hereafter independently developed by the State without reference to any of the 

Cognia’s Confidential Information, or (iii) that is required to be disclosed by order of a court 

or tribunal of competent jurisdiction or by any law. All Cognia accreditation platform users 

must acknowledge Cognia’s confidentiality policy and agree to adhere to it. As used in this 

Memorandum of Understanding, “Person” means any individual, corporation, limited 

liability company or partnership, bank, partnership, joint venture, association, joint-stock 

company, trust, unincorporated organization or other entity. 

 

6.4. Upon the terms and conditions of the Memorandum of Understanding, Cognia grants the 

State a limited, non-exclusive, non-transferable, royalty-free licensure to use certain 

copyrighted materials owned by Cognia that may be provided by Cognia from time to time 

during the Term of this Memorandum of Understanding for use solely in connection with 

the accreditation activities. All rights and licenses of any kind in the Cognia materials not 

expressly granted in this Memorandum of Understanding are reserved exclusively to 

Cognia. The State acknowledges Cognia’s ownership of the materials and agrees not to 

contest this ownership. The State will not allow others to use the materials without Cognia’s 

prior written consent. 

 

7. Partnership Benefits and Fees for Additional Services 

 

The Parties understand and agree that: 

 



 

5 

7.1 Cognia will provide for up to three (3) individuals employed by the State with access to the 

Cognia accreditation platform and digital tool kit. 

 

7.2 The State will provide P-12 educators and education administrators with professional 

development units for contributions to work on Cognia accreditation as site review team 

members. 

 

7.3 Cognia shall have the right to sell or set fees for Cognia services, whether contemplated in 

this Memorandum of Understanding or outside of the scope of the accreditation activities and 

this Memorandum of Understanding, at a price subject to its sole discretion. Cognia shall in 

no way be bound by any price or fee which may be recommended or suggested by the State. 

 

8. State and Cognia Contacts 

 

The Parties understand and agree that: 

 

8.1. The State will designate a liaison to serve as the primary contact for Cognia throughout the 

Term of this agreement. 

 

8.2. Cognia will designate a liaison to serve as the primary contact for the State through the 

Term of this agreement. 

 

9. Agreement Term and Amendments 

 

The Parties understand and agree that: 

 

9.1. Cognia and the State enter into this partnership agreement for XX (XX)-year beginning July 

1, 2025 and ending on June 30, 20XX (the “Term”). 

 

9.2. The Parties will review this agreement at least annually and, as necessary, propose any 

amendment deemed appropriate, which may be adopted upon the agreement of the Parties. 

 

9.3. Should any provision of this agreement be determined to be in conflict with Cognia policy, 

state and federal law, or the State’s administrative rules, this agreement will be required to 

be amended to resolve the conflict.  

 

9.4. Notwithstanding the annual review described above, this agreement may be modified by 

consent of the Parties at any point. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

6 

    

Mark A. Elgart, Chief Executive Officer   DATE 

Cognia, Inc. 

 

 

By signing this agreement, the undersigned agrees to be bound by the terms outlined above and 

affirms that he or she has the authority to enter into this agreement on behalf of the State. 

 

 

    

Dr. Tim Tharp, Chair  DATE  

Montana Board of Public Education 

        

 

    

Susie Hedalen, Superintendent         DATE 

Office of Public Instruction 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS May 15-16, 2025 
 
 

Student Representative Last Meeting & Recognition 
MACIE Update 

Action on K-12 Schools Payment Schedule 
Assessment Update 

Accreditation Update 
Action on CAEP MOU 

Federal Update 
Content Standards Revision Update 

Action on Accreditation Status of All Schools 
Executive Director Performance Evaluation 

 
 

 


	Item 3 -- Superintendent's Report.pdf
	Content Standards March 2025 - Superintendent Report -  BPE Update.pdf
	Montana ELA & Literacy Standards Revision Overview
	Key Objectives of the Revision:



	Item 18 -- Praxis Fall Test Review.pdf
	Memo to OPI Rec for Social Studies FCS Tech Ed  Praxis Test Scores Nov 2024.docx.pdf
	A screenshot of a cell phone

Description generated with very high confidence 
	MEMORANDUM 

	Praxis.Fall Test Reviews.Mar.2025.pdf

	Item 20 --CAEP MOU.pdf
	CAEP Montana Draft 2025-1 Year.Mar.2025.pdf
	The Parties understand and agree that:
	State Authority
	Appendix A: State Dues Structure


	Item 22 -- Action on Provisional Accreditation for Charters.pdf
	Provisional Accred. Charters 2025.pdf
	Billings Multilingual Academy HS.pdf
	Billings Multilingual Academy MS.pdf
	Billings Opportunity School.pdf
	Rise Charter and Distance Learning Academy.pdf
	Rise Charter and Pathway Learning Academy.pdf
	Billings Early College School.pdf


	Financials.pdf
	ORG Bud by OBPP Prog,Subcl,Fund




